
  
 

 
 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 
Special Called Meeting Notice – September 24, 2024 

 
WHAT:       The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority will hold a 
 Special Called Meeting. 
 
WHEN:          Tuesday, September 24, 2024, at 5:00 P.M. 
 
WHERE:     The Special Called Meeting will be an all-virtual public meeting.* 

• To access the meeting via Microsoft Teams, please use the following link: 
https://tinyurl.com/6ctmdp6y or 

• To dial in by phone, please call (804) 316-9457, then enter Phone 
Conference ID: 252 971 693# 

 
CONTACT:  Glenna Chung at (804) 646-1507 or Glenna.Chung@rva.gov. 
 

For more information about The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority (EDA), 
Visit:  http://www.richmondeda.com 

 
*If the audio or video transmission of the meeting fails, please call or text (804) 763-9354. 

https://tinyurl.com/6ctmdp6y
mailto:Glenna.Chung@rva.gov
http://www.richmondeda.com/


Agenda 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING SEPTEMBER 24, 2024 AGENDA 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
A. Public Meeting Disclosure 

 
II. Comment (Maximum of Three Minutes Per Person) 

 
III. Meeting Minutes 

A. August 14, 2024 Special Called Board Meeting Minutes 
 

IV. New Business 
A. Affordable Housing Performance Grants 

I. Ord. No. 2024-207 
II. Ord. No. 2024-230 

III. Ord. No. 2024-231 
IV. Ord. No. 2024-232 
V. Ord. No. 2024-233 

VI. Ord. No. 2024-234 
VII. Ord. No. 2024-235 

VIII. Ord. No. 2024-236 
B. Approval of July and August Financial Reports  
C. FY24 Audit 
D. CARE Program Cooperation Agreement 
E. Enterprise Zone Program Cooperation Agreement 
F. Temporary Designation of Authority (Executive Director) 

 
V. Report of the Officers 

A. Report of the Chairman 
B. Report of the Secretary 

 
VI. Other Business 

 
VII. Adjournment 

 
Upcoming Meetings 
EDA Board Meeting – October 24, 2024 
 



August Special Called Meeting Minutes 

 



Economic Development Authority (EDA) of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Special Called Board Meeting - VIRTUAL 

Thursday, August 14, 2024 Minutes 
 

Members present: 
John Molster, Chair 
Nupa Agarwal, Vice-Chairperson 
Jer’Mykeal McCoy 
Jéron Crooks 
Neil Millhiser 
 
Others present: 
Sharon Ebert – City of Richmond, Deputy Chief Administrative Officer  
Matthew Welch –  Department of Economic Development 
Merrick Malone –  Department of Housing and Community Development 
Bonnie Ashley- City of Richmond, City Attorney’s Office  
Katie McConnell – Department of Economic Development 
Sven Philipsen – City of Richmond, City Council, Second District Liaison  
Lisa Jones – A. G. Reese & Associates 
Ryan McKinnon – Capital Results 
Jay Smith – Capital Results 
Anthony Oppermann – Richmond Flying Squirrels 
Eric Kolenich – Richmond Times-Dispatch 
Johnathan Spiers -Richmond BizSense 
 
Call to Order: 
Mr. Molster called the meeting to order at approximately 5:10PM.  

Public Comment: 

No public comments were received via email, phone, or otherwise by staff per Ms. McConnell. Mr. Welch 
read the public disclaimer.  

Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting: 

Mr. Molster requested a motion to adopt the minutes of the June 27, 2024, Board Meeting as stated.  Mr. 
McCoy moved to accept the minutes. Ms. Agarwal seconded the motion. The Motion passed unanimously, 
with Mr. Millhiser abstaining.  
 
New Business: 
 
Diamond District- Stadium Development Agreement and Stadium Lease –  Ms. Sharon Ebert 
 
Ms. Ebert provided a detailed overview of the two agreements before the Board related to the new stadium 
for the Richmond Flying Squirrels. First, Ms. Ebert walked through the Stadium Development Agreement 
between the EDA and the Navigators Baseball Stadium Developer, LLC, including details on stadium 
costs, requirements related to wages for construction workers, MBE goals, and LEED Silver requirements. 
 
Ms. Ebert also presented the Stadium Lease Agreement between the EDA and the Navigators Baseball 



LP, the Richmond Flying Squirrels parent company. Her presentation included the lease commencement 
date, lease term, annual rent payments, stadium naming rights, goals on annual events, funding for 
emergency repairs and capital improvements, and ticket and event allotment for civic and economic 
development uses. 

 
Mr. McCoy made a motion to authorize the Board Chair, or his designee, to execute (i) a Stadium 
Development Agreement by and between Navigators Baseball Stadium Developer LLC, and the 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, (ii) a Stadium Lease by and between 
Navigators Baseball, LP, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, and (iii) 
such other documents as may be necessary for the purpose of facilitating the construction and operation 
of a baseball stadium located within the area known as the Diamond District, all of which must first be 
acceptable as to terms by the Chair of the Authority and approved as to form by Counsel to the Authority. 
Mr. Feinman seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Affordable Housing Performance Grants – Mr. Merrick Malone  
 
Mr. Malone presented three Affordable Housing Performance Grant Agreements between the City, the 
EDA, and the developers of three new affordable housing developments – 506 Maury Street, 2008 Hull 
Street, and 512 Hull Street. 
 
Mr. McCoy made a motion to authorize the Board Chair, or his designee, to execute each of the three 
affordable housing grant agreements, as presented: 

• A Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 95 APTS LLC, and the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction 
of an affordable housing development located at 506 Maury Street. 

• A Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, Swansboro Place, LLC, and the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction 
of an affordable housing development located at 2008 Hull Street. 

• AGrant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 512 Hull Street, LLC, and the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction 
of an affordable housing development located at 512 Hull Street. 

 
Mr. Feinman seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
Adjournment 
 
The meeting adjourned at 6:08 p.m. 
        

Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 

Secretary to the meeting 
Approved: 
 
 
      John Molster, Chair 



Affordable Housing Performance Grants 



 
 
AYES:   NOES:   ABSTAIN:  
      

ADOPTED:   REJECTED:  STRICKEN:  

 

   INTRODUCED: July 22, 2024   
 
 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-207  
 
 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, the Elmington Capital Group, LLC, 
and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating 
the construction of an affordable residential development located at 2201 McDonough Street, 
2301 McDonough Street, 2300 Semmes Avenue, 2310 Semmes Avenue, 2310A Semmes Avenue, 
211 West 22nd Street, 215 West 22nd Street, 217 West 22nd Street, 219 West 22nd  Street, 221 West 
22nd Street, 301 West 22nd Street, 302 West 22nd Street, 307 West 22nd Street, 315 West 22nd 
Street, 322 West 22nd Street, 222 West 21st Street, and 2100 Perry Street. 

   
 

Patron – Mayor Stoney  
   

 
Approved as to form and legality 

by the City Attorney 
   

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 
 
 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

 § 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, 

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, the 

Elmington Capital Group, LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of 

Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential 

development located at 2201 McDonough Street, 2301 McDonough Street, 2300 Semmes 

Avenue, 2310 Semmes Avenue, 2310A Semmes Avenue, 211 West 22nd Street, 215 West 22nd 



 2 

Street, 217 West 22nd Street, 219 West 22nd  Street, 221 West 22nd Street, 301 West 22nd Street, 

302 West 22nd Street, 307 West 22nd Street, 315 West 22nd Street, 322 West 22nd Street, 222 

West 21st Street, and 2100 Perry Street. The Grant Agreement shall be approved as to form by 

the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this 

ordinance. 

 § 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 

 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0759

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0759 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

07/09/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant 2201 McDonough StreetSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Performance Grant for an affordable housing development project at 2201 McDonough Street.

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 07/22/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-0759 The Performance Agreement 

AAF-McDonough Street, Admin-2024-0759  

Ordinance-2201 McDonough  AATF

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Matt Welch 1 7/11/20247/10/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 2 7/10/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 3 7/12/20247/10/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 4 7/12/20247/10/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 5 7/12/20247/10/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 6 7/10/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 7 7/12/20247/11/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 8 7/11/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 9 7/15/20247/15/2024 Approve

1 Lincoln Saunders 10 7/24/20247/15/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 11 7/24/20247/15/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024

By City Attorney at 8:27 am, Jul 16, 2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0759)

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0759)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0759

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R REQUEST

DATE:            June 13, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg, DCAO, Finance and Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget & Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matt Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· Elmington Capital Group, LLC

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0759)

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is 

estimated based on the projected construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the 

property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, 

prior to the commencement of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new 

real estate and vastly under-values the assessment of the property at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be 

determined at the time of commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $14,868.00 and the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$661,228.21 As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant Period 

would be $646,360.21 This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the grant 

Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue upon 

commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

a property producing $661,228.21 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $711,481.56 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $50,253.34 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent 

trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0759)

increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time. 

This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of assessed value 

and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: July 22, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024 

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development Standing 

Committee (September 19, 2024)

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Department of Finance, Department of 

Budget and Strategic Planning, and the City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient

STAFF: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development 

  Matt Welch, Acting Director, Department of Economic Development 

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



1  

Attachment A 
GRANT AGREEMENT 

 
This GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered this  day of 

          , 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “City”), ELMINGTON CAPITAL 
GROUP, LLC a Tennessee Limited Liability Company, or its assigns or successors (the 
“Recipient”), and  the  ECONOMIC  DEVELOPMENT  AUTHORITY  OF  THE  CITY OF 
RICHMOND, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 

defined below. 
 

B. In connection with its development of the Project, Recipient intends to consolidate the 
Assemblage and create the Site, whereupon the Site will be designated as a parcel in the 
tax records of the City and assigned a tax parcel identification number.  
 

C. In connection with its development of the Project, Recipient intends to assign this 
Agreement to a special purpose entity, and the City and the Authority acknowledge and 
consent to such assignment so long as the requirements of Sections 2.2.1 and 9.1 herein are 
satisfied.  
 

D. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

 
E. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 

Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

 
F. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 

construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, and the funds 
comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the incremental real 
estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including both the fee interest 
(and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), all as set forth 
herein. 

 
G. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 

Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

 



2  

H. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 
obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 

 
Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 
 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

 
“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 

Statistical Area for each applicable year of the Grant Period. 
 
“Assemblage” means, collectively, that certain real property comprised of (i) those 

certain parcels of 1.6, 0.527, 0.527, 0.058, and 0.012 acres currently owned by 2201 
McDonough, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, located respectively at 2201 
McDonough Street, 2300 Semmes Avenue, 2301 McDonough Street, 2310 Semmes 
Avenue, and 2310A Semmes Avenue and currently referred to in the records of the City 
Assessor’s Office as Parcel Nos. S0000492001, S0000493002, S0000493007, 
S0000493001, and S0000493021; and (ii) those certain parcels of 0.906, 0.154, 0.561, 
0.342, 0.2439, 0.081. 0.082, 0.083, 0.083, 0.083, 0.083, and 0.102 acres currently owned 
by 322 W 22nd Street, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, located respectively at 
322 W 22nd Street, 315 W 22nd Street, 307 W 22nd Street, 301 W 22nd Street, 302 W 22nd 
Street, 2100 Perry, 222 W 21st Street, 211 W 22nd Street, 215 W 22nd Street, 217 W 22nd 
Street, 219 W 22nd Street, and 221 W 22nd Street and currently referred to in the records of 
the City Assessor’s Office as Parcel Nos. S0000491024, S0000489001, S0000489005, 
S0000489012, S0000491038, S0000418001, S0000418003, S0000418019, S0000418021, 
S0000418022, S0000418023, and S0000418024.   

 
“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $14,868.00 per year, being the amount equal 

to the real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Effective Date. 
 

“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 
Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 

equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such 
corresponding tax year. The Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in 
the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Grant 



3  

Payment” shall include payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each installment 
payment corresponding to the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy as prorated for the applicable 
installment period. 

 
“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 

(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on 
time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment 
and explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period;). 

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced by receipt 
of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and ending on last day of 
the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration 
Date”), subject to the provisions of Section 2.6 below. The parties acknowledge that the “Real 
Estate Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after 
the Grant Expiration Date and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means a one-time non-fundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period. 

 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year during the 

Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real Estate Tax Revenue, 
provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on time (except as provided in 
Section 3.3 below). In no event shall the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue (or the Grant Payment) include 
penalties, interest, or any other charges resulting from any delinquent payment. The Parties acknowledge that 
the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); 
therefore, as used herein “Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable 
payment (or installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

 
“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 

following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.2.2 of this Agreement. 
 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than 150 residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as set forth in Section 2.4 and as shown on Exhibit A and 
monitored by the State Housing Finance Agency. 

 
“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 

(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable)) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

 
“Recipient” means Elmington Capital Group, LLC and its successors and assigns, to the 

extent permitted by this Agreement. 
 



4  

“Site” means that the certain parcel of approximately 5.5279 acres, being a consolidation of 
the same parcels comprising the Assemblage.  

 
“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 

Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

 
Section 2.    Recipient’s Obligations  

2.0 Grant Management Fee. 

The Recipient shall pay a Grant Management Fee consisting of (i) a one-time, non- 
refundable $500.00 fee immediately upon execution of the agreement to the Authority, 
and (ii) thereafter, the Recipient shall pay annually to the Authority 1% of the Grant 
Payment for the duration of the Grant Period. The Authority will invoice the Recipient on 
or before October 1 of each year and the Recipient shall remit payment within 30 days of 
issuance of the invoice. 

 
2.1 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 

 
2.1.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 

submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development Review no 
later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date, which Plan of Development or similar 
submission shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall contain 
all elements of the Project as defined herein. 

 
2.1.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall commence 

construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (the 
“Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the issuance of all 
permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project. 

 
2.1.3 Completion of Project Construction. Recipient shall complete the Project 

within three (3) years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be evidenced 
by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

 
2.1.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 

provisions of this Section 2.1 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which the Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within 30 days of such written 
notice, then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon the 
City’s election, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further 
obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments 
hereunder. 

 
2.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.2.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 



5  

to Section 2.1.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or otherwise 
control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in the Project to third parties 
(“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, including the rights and 
obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers ownership of the Project 
(including any leasehold interests), and (2) if the Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall 
provide the City and Authority 30 days prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership 
or control of the Project, which notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the 
name of the party or parties to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such 
party that it is aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will 
be assigned to such party. Following the transfer of ownership in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee. 

2.2.2  Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following the Recipient’s 
completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.1.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient, or 
its successors or assigns, shall continue to Maintain the Project until the expiration of the Grant 
Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Recipient’s obligation to Maintain the Project includes the 
Recipient’s ongoing compliance with the provisions set forth in Section 2.4 (Affordable Housing) 
of this Agreement. 

 
2.3 MBE Participation. 

 

2.3.1 Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability, and competitive pricing among minority business enterprises 
and emerging small businesses exist, 30% of all expenditures for construction costs of the 
Project that will be paid to third-party subcontractors unaffiliated with the Recipient will be 
spent with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses that perform 
commercially useful functions with regard to the prosecution and completion of the Project. 
The terms "minority business enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning 
ascribed to them in Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its 
contracts with all assignees, contractors, and subcontractors who will be providing any 
portion of the Project. 

 
2.3.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the Recipient 

and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors with regard to the participation goals set 
forth above, during the period prior to completion of Project construction, the Recipient 
shall submit a report upon request detailing all expenditures with minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the 
business, (ii) an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each 
item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses and (v) the percentage of total expenditures for the quarter spent 
with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the 
Recipient shall submit these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these 
reports in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of the Recipient 
and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete for City contracts. 

 



6  

2.4 Affordable Housing. 
 

The Recipient shall restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency. Ongoing compliance monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the 
Recipient’s compliance with this section. 

 
2.5 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments after the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period shall be 
contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has at a minimum made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of Two Million Six Hundred Sixty 
Thousand dollars ($2,660,000) since the Grant Commencement Date. On each fifth 
anniversary of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit a 
report of capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date. 

 
Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 

 
3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3.  
 
3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic Development, the Authority, and the 
Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if the 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the 
applicable installment (except when Recipient (i) makes full payment within 60 days after 
the date such payment was due to the City and (ii) pays all penalties and interest for such 
late payment in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code) and 
shall not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment of any other taxes 
levied by the City for the Project (except when all penalties and interest for such late 
payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City 
Code). Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant 
Payment for the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a 
Grant Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to 
Recipient but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested 
is inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s 
failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any 



7  

necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen 
(15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the 
Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees to pay the Grant Payment to the 
Recipient (or such party to which the Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to 
Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from 
the City. 

 
3.4 Recipient’s Relief. Should the Recipient believe the City failed to comply with Section 
3.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment for a 
Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

 
 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 
 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by 
the City Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation is subject to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

 
4.3 The Authority agrees to provide  the  City’s  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  or  the 
designee thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement, and will keep the 
CAO fully and timely informed of all matters related to this Agreement. 

 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 

 
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant. Accordingly, 
the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as 
specifically stated herein. If litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be 
filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and 
CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 

 



8  

4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

 
Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
5.2 All actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or has been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 

 
5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the transactions 
contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 6. Default. 

 

 
6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 

Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 
 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the 
declaration of bankruptcy by the Recipient. 

 
6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

 
6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
6.2 Effect of Event of Default. In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, 

the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) 
days after the City’s notice to Recipient and Recipient’s designated lender, unless Recipient cures 
the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor 
the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be 
eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient’s obligations 
hereunder will remain in force and effect throughout the Grant Period and the City shall be entitled 
to any remedies available at law and equity, including, but not limited to, specific performance. 

 
Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at the Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of the Recipient’s progress regarding the completion of Project 



9  

construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.2 of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after the mailing of the same in the United States 
Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to with a copy to: 

 
Elmington Capital Group, LLC                                 Gabrielle E. Brill, Esq. 
Attention: C. Hunter Nelson                                       Williams Mullen 
1030 16th Ave. S, Ste. 500                                           200 S. 10th Street, Ste. 1600 
Nashville, TN. 37212                                                  Richmond, VA. 23218 
  

 
if to the City, to with a copy to: 
Chief Administrative Officer Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 
 

if to the Authority, to with a copy to: 
 

Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 

Section 9. General Terms and Conditions. 
 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the 
Entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, 
signed by each of the parties hereto. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit 
of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided, however, that in no event 
may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties hereto be 
assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the other, which 
consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its right to receive 
payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing the City and the 
Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and payment information in 
a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, 
(a) Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any future owner of 
the Site, the Project, or both, provided the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements 
set forth in Section 2.2.1 of this Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all 
instruments by which it purports to make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior 



10  

written approval thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the 
assignor shall be released from all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) 
Recipient shall have the right to grant to a lender a security interest in, and assignment of, 
Recipient’s rights hereunder as collateral for the loan to be provided by a lender providing funds 
for the development of the Project, and any action taken by such lender or successor in interest to 
realize on such security interest or assignment and performance thereafter shall be deemed 
permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have submitted to the City the 
form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such security interest and assignment and shall 
have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, but no such consent shall be required to the exercise by lender or any assignee of lender 
of its right to perform Recipient’s obligations hereunder after a default by Recipient under the 
applicable loan documents. The City agrees that the lender shall not have any liability for any act 
or omission of Recipient hereunder and shall only be liable hereunder for obligations arising during 
such time as it is the owner of Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, 
deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise. 

 
9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 

enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceeding arising from this Development 
Agreement.  

 
9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 
 

9.4 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid, or illegal, then the enforceability, validity, and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
9.5 Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 

the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval, 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

 
9.6 Public Disclosure. 

 



11  

9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 
maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

 
9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 

Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

 
9.7                                  No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce 

any covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement shall 
discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the Authority to enforce 
the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.8 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the City 
Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

 
9.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed, or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement. 
(ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain 
any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient under the provisions 
of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to 
confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

 
9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 

the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 



12  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:    
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Authorized by Ordinance No.    

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

AFTON AVENUE APARTMENTS, LLC, a 
Virginia limited liability company 

 
 

By:    
Date 

 
Name:  
Title:     

 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
General Counsel to the Authority 

By:    
Chairman Date 



13 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing 
Schedule 

 
The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 
60% of AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, for a minimum of thirty (30) years. 
 
 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-230 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, New Manchester Flats VI 
Multifamily, LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the 
purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable housing development located at 1021 
East 4th Street.  

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, New 

Manchester Flats VI Multifamily, LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of 

Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable housing development 

located at 1021 East 4th Street. The Grant Agreement shall be approved as to form by the City 

Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this ordinance. 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption.



 2 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0776

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0776 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

07/17/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant for 1021 East 4th StreetSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project at 1021 East 4th Street 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-0776 WD - Agmt - New Manchester Flats 

Ordinance - AATF 7172024, Admin-2024-0776 New 

Manchester Flats  Performance Grant AAT 7172024

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0776)

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 7/18/20247/17/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 7/19/20247/18/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 7/18/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 7/22/20247/22/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 7/24/20247/22/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 7/24/20247/23/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 7/23/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 7/25/20247/24/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 7/24/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 7/26/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0776)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0776

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE:  June 26, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· New Manchester Flats VI Multifamily, LLC

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0776)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the projected 

construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of the 

commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the commencement 

of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real estate and vastly 

under-values the true assessment value of the property at the time of commencement of the 

Grant Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $5,988.00 and the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$272,400.00. As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant 

Period would be $266,412.00. This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the 

grant Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue 

upon commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.7% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

a property producing $272,400.00 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $293,374.80 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $20,974.80 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0776)

trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to 

increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

               Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



4 

 

 

Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered this ____ day of 
_____, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “City”), NEW MANCHESTER 
FLATS VI MULTIFAMILY, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, or its assigns or 
successors (the “Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE 
CITY OF RICHMOND, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 
“Authority”). 

 

RECITALS 

A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 
defined below. 

B. In connection with its development of the Project, Recipient intends to divide the 
Assemblage and create the Site, whereupon the Site will be designated as a parcel in the 
tax records of the City and assigned a tax parcel identification number.  

C. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

D. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 
Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

E. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 
construction or rehabilitation and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, 
and the funds comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the 
incremental real estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including 
both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), 
all as set forth herein. 

F. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 
Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

G. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 
obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations.  



5 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises and 
undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as follows. 

 Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 
Statistical Area for the applicable year of the Grant Period. 

“Assemblage” means, collectively, that certain real property comprised of (i) those certain 
parcels of 1.508 acres currently owned by NMF Future LLC located respectively at 1021 E 4th 
Street Richmond, Virginia 23224 and currently referred to in the records of the City Assessor as 
Parcel Nos. S0000385004. 

“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $5,988, being the amount equal to the real estate 
taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Grant Commencement Date. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Base Real Estate Tax Revenue is calculated based on the tax rate of $1.20 
per every $100.00 of assessment value attributed to the portions of the Assemblage that comprise 
the Site, with thirty percent (30.0%) of the real estate taxes levied on Parcel No. S0000385004 
included in the figure above.     

“Grant” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement. 

“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such 
corresponding tax year. The Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in 
the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Grant 
Payment” shall include payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each installment 
payment corresponding to the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy.  

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 
(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy (including all applicable 
penalties and interest), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment and explanation of the 
calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax Revenue equals 
Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment period).  

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction or rehabilitation, as shall be 
evidenced by receipt of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and 
ending on last day of the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement 
Date (“Grant Expiration Date”).  The parties acknowledge that the “Real Estate Tax Levy” for the 
last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after the Grant Expiration Date, 
and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to such Real Estate Tax Levy.  



6 

 

 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means one time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period.  

“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 
during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 
Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full 
(including any applicable penalties and interest for late payment in accordance with any applicable 
provision of the Richmond City Code), subject to the applicable cure periods.  The Parties 
acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the future be billed and due in installments 
(currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be 
determined based on the applicable payment (or installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each 
applicable real estate tax year. 

“Recipient” means New Manchester Flats VI Multifamily, LLC and its successors and 
assigns, to the extent permitted by this Agreement. 

“Land Records” means the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia.  

“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 
following completion of Project construction or rehabilitation, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this 
Agreement.   

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar 
instrument created for the purpose of securing indebtedness of Recipient, and recorded among the 
Land Records, or any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar instrument created 
for the purposes of refinancing such indebtedness and recorded among the Land Records. 

“Mortgagee” means the secured party under a Mortgage. 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than 128 residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as shown on Exhibit A and monitored by the State Housing 
Finance Agency.   

“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 
(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

“Site” means, that certain parcel of 1.508 acres currently owned by NMF Future, LLC, 
located at 1021 E 4th Street Richmond, Virginia 23224 and currently referred to in the records of 
the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. S0000385004. 

“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 
Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 



7 

 

 

2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

The Recipient shall pay a Grant Management Fee consisting of (i) a one-time, non-
refundable $500.00 fee immediately upon execution of the agreement to the Authority, 
and, (ii) thereafter, the Recipient shall pay annually to the Authority 1% of the Grant 
Payment for the duration of the Grant Period. The Authority will invoice the Recipient on 
or before October 1 of each year and the Recipient shall remit payment within 30 days of 
issuance of the invoice.   

2.2 Completion of Project Construction or Rehabilitation; Timeline. 

2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 
permit submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development 
Review no later than nine (9) months of the Effective Date, which shall comply with the 
relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall contain all elements of the Project 
as defined herein.   

2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction or Rehabilitation. Recipient 
shall commence construction or rehabilitation of the Project within eighteen (18) months of 
the Effective Date, (the “Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by 
the issuance of all permits necessary for the commencement of construction or rehabilitation 
of the Project.   

2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction or Rehabilitation. Recipient shall 
complete the Project within three (3) years of the Construction Commencement Date, which 
shall be evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 
provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within sixty (60) days of such 
written notice then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon 
the City’s election and subject to the rights of a Mortgagee under Section 6.3 hereof, 
terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further obligation to the 
Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder.  

2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.  

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction or 
rehabilitation pursuant to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in 
the Project to third parties (“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, 
including the rights and obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers 
ownership or control of the Project (including any leasehold interests), and (2) if this 
Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall provide the City and Authority 30 days’ prior written 
notice of its intent to transfer ownership or control of the Project, which notice shall include 



8 

 

 

the contemplated date of transfer, the name of the party or parties to which it intends to 
transfer, and a written statement from such party that it is aware that this Agreement, 
including the rights and obligations herein, will be assigned to such party. Following the 
transfer of ownership or control in the Project to the Transferee as provided above, the term 
“Recipient” as used herein shall mean the Transferee.  For the avoidance of doubt, this 
Section 2.3.1 shall not apply to any transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or 
to any transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove 
the general partner or managing member of Recipient and any such transfer shall not require 
notice to nor the consent of the City or Authority. 

2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following 
Recipient’s completion of Project construction or rehabilitation as set forth in Section 2.2.3 
of this Agreement, the Recipient shall continue to Maintain the Project until the expiration 
of the Grant Period. 

 

2.4 MBE Participation. 

2.4.1  Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability and competitive pricing among minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses exists, 30% of all expenditures for those construction or 
rehabilitation costs of the  Project that will be paid to third party subcontractors unaffiliated 
with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and emerging small 
businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard to the prosecution and 
completion of the Project. The terms "minority business enterprise" and “emerging small 
business” have the meaning ascribed to them in Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient 
shall include this goal in its contracts with all assignees, contractors and subcontractors who 
will be providing any portion of the Project.  

2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the  Recipient 
and its assignees, contractors and subcontractors with regard to the participation goals set 
forth above, during the period prior to completion of Project construction or rehabilitation, 
the Recipient shall submit a report upon request detailing all expenditures with minority 
business enterprises and emerging small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name 
of the business, (ii) an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for 
each item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business enterprises and 
emerging  small businesses and (v) the percentage of total expenditures for the quarter spent 
with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the 
Recipient shall submit these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these 
reports in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of the Recipient 
and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete for City contracts. 

 

2.5 Affordable Housing.  

The Recipient agrees to restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency or as otherwise approved by the Authority. Ongoing compliance monitoring and 



9 

 

 

approvals by the State Housing Finance Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s 
request, shall serve as evidence of the Recipient’s compliance with this section.  
 

2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments subsequent to the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period 
shall be contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has made capital improvements 
to the Project in an aggregate amount of one-million two-hundred seventy and No/100 
Dollars ($1,270,000.00)] since the Grant Commencement Date.  On each fifth anniversary 
of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit a report of 
capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date.  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic and Community Development, the 
Authority, and the Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 
8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment (except when all penalties and interest for 
late payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond 
City Code), of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the applicable installment and shall not make a 
Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment (except when all penalties and interest 
for late payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the 
Richmond City Code) of any other taxes levied by the City for the Project. Within fifteen 
(15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City shall notify Recipient 
either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant Payment for the 
foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a Grant Payment 
in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to Recipient but in a 
different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested is inconsistent 
with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant Payment amount 
it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to respond within 
fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant Payment and 
the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s failure to 
timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any necessary 
budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen (15) business 
days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the Grant Payment 
to the Authority. The Authority agrees, subject to any necessary approvals by its Board of 
Directors, to pay the Grant Payment to Recipient (or such party to which Recipient has 



10 

 

 

assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) 
business days of receipt of the funds from the City. 

3.4       Recipient’s Relief. Should Recipient believe the City failed to comply with Section 
3.3 of this Agreement, Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment for a 
Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by the City 
Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this Agreement 
relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the City. 
 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially conditioned 
upon the City providing funding to the Authority on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation to provide funding to the Authority is subject to appropriation by the City 
Council and availability of funds. 
 
4.3 The Authority agrees to provide the CAO, or the designee thereof, with copies of all 
documents related to this Agreement and will keep the CAO fully and timely informed of 
all matters related to this Agreement. 
 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 
 
4.5        It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant as set forth in 
this Agreement. Accordingly, the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability 
whatsoever except as specifically stated in this Agreement. If litigation involving the Grant 
is initiated or expected to be filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately 
notify the City Attorney and CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to this Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 
 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 



11 

 

 

hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 
 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter into this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 
 
5.3         The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 
 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 
 
5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

Section 6. Default.  

6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 
Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the declaration 
of bankruptcy by the Recipient; 

6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay the annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 6.2 Effect of Event of Default. Subject to Section 6.3 below, in the case of an 
occurrence of an Event of Default, the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the 
City’s option, terminate thirty (30) days after the City’s notice to Recipient, each Mortgagee and 
Investor, unless Recipient cures the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such thirty 
(30) days, and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto 
and the Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder.   
 
 6.3 Notice and Right to Cure.  Written notice of any default by Recipient under this 
Agreement shall be provided simultaneously to any Mortgagee and Investor.  Each Mortgagee and 
the Investor shall be permitted to cure any default by Recipient under this Agreement. Such 
Mortgagees and Investor shall have the same period, after the giving of such notice upon it, for 
remedying any default or causing the same to be remedied, as is given Recipient after the giving of 
such notice to Recipient, plus an additional thirty (30) days, to remedy, commence remedying or 
cause to be remedied the defaults specified in any such notice.  If the default cannot be reasonably 
cured within thirty (30) days, then the Mortgagee or Investor, as applicable, shall have such 
additional time as it shall reasonably require so long as the Mortgagee or Investor, as applicable, is 
proceeding with reasonable diligence to cure the default.  The City and the Authority each agree to 
accept payment or performance by any Mortgagee or Investor as though the same had been done 
by Recipient. 

 Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 



12 

 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of Recipient’s progress regarding completion of Project 
construction or rehabilitation and, following Project construction or rehabilitation, of Recipient’s 
continued compliance with Section 2.3 of this Agreement. 

 Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing, and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after mailing of the same in the United States Mail 
by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to:     with a copy to: 
 
New Manchester Flats VI Multifamily, LLC  Hirschler Fleischer, P.C. 
7 E 2nd Street                                        2100 East Cary St 
Richmond, Virginia 23224-4253  Richmond, VA 23223 
Attention: John Gregory  Attention: Brian K. Jackson, Esq.  
 
if to the City, to:     with a copy to: 
 
Chief Administrative Officer    Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia    City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street Suite 201   1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219     Richmond, VA 23219 
 
if to the Authority, to:     with a copy to: 
 
Economic Development Authority   City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman   City of Richmond, Virginia 
501 East Franklin Street    900 East Broad Street Suite 300 
Richmond, VA 23219     Richmond, VA 23219  

  
Section 9.General Terms and Conditions. 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, 
signed by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and 
Investor. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee 
upon a foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that 
in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties 
hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the 
other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its 
right to receive payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing 
the City and the Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and payment 
information in a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein, (a) Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any 



13 

 

 

future owner provided the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements set forth in 
Section 2.3.1 of this Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by 
which it purports to make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval 
thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor shall be 
released from all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the 
right to grant to a Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder 
as collateral for the loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and 
any action taken by such Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and 
performance thereafter shall be deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient 
first shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such 
security interest and assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent 
shall be required to the exercise by Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform 
Recipient’s obligations hereunder after a default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. 
The City agrees that Mortgagee shall not have any liability for any act or omission of Recipient 
hereunder and shall only be liable hereunder for obligations arising during such time as it is the 
owner of Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of 
foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance of doubt, no transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by 
Investor of its rights to remove the general partner or managing member of Recipient shall require 
notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 
 
 9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 
enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceedings arising from this Agreement.  

 9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each  
of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 

 9.4      Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 9.5  Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and the 
Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement.  



14 

 

 

 9.6 Public Disclosure. 

9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 
maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 
Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

 9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

 9.8       Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the 
City Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors.  

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that nothing 

contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to this 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to this Agreement for any purpose. 

9.10  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in Section 9.1 of this 
Agreement, the parties agree that except for any Mortgagee and Investor (i) no individual or entity 
shall be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this 
Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any 
individual or entity other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or 
entity shall obtain any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient 
under the provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity.  Each Mortgagee 
and Investor shall be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement. 

9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, the 
CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices contemplated 
herein on behalf of the City. 

 
 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Grant Agreement as of 
the date first written above. 



15 

 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, 
VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: ______________________________________  
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Authorized by Ordinance No. ____________  

Approved as to Form: 

By: ________________________  
City Attorney’s Office 

NEW MANCHESTER FLATS VI 
MULTIFAMILY, LLC,                                               
a Virginia limited liability company                                                                                      

By: ________________________________________  
Date 

Name: ________________________________  
Title:  _________________________________  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: 
Chairman Date 

Approved as to Form: 
By: _______________________  

General Counsel to the Authority 



16 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing Schedule 
 
 

The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of 
AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a 
minimum of thirty (30) years.   

 
 



AYES:   NOES:   ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-231 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, Commonwealth Catholic Charities 
Housing Corporation, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the 
purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential development located at 1031 
Fourqurean Lane. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

Commonwealth Catholic Charities Housing Corporation, and the Economic Development 

Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an 

affordable residential development located at 1031 Fourqurean Lane. Such Grant Agreement 

shall be approved as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the 

document attached to this ordinance. 



 2 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-1015

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-1015 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

08/19/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Agreement-1031 Fourqurean LaneSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Performance Grant for an affordable housing development project at 1031 Fourqurean Lane-Saint 

Elizabeth Apartments-56 units 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-1015 WD - Agmt - St. Elizabeth 

Apartments AATF- ordinance, Admin-2024-1015 Saint 

Elizabeth Apartments - Grant Agreement - AATF and 

signedmbp

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1015)

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 8/20/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 8/21/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 8/20/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/22/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/22/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1015)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-1015

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: August 6, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for and 

on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto by 

and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the following 

recipient:

· Commonwealth Catholic Charities Housing Corporation

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1015)

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the projected 

construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of the 

commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the commencement 

of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real estate and vastly 

under-values the assessment of the property at the time of commencement of the Grant 

Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $2,148.00 and the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$141,000.00. As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant 

Period would be $138,852.00. This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the 

grant Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue 

upon commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

a property producing $138,852.00 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $151,716.00 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $10,716.00 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent 

trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1015)

increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time. 

This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of assessed value 

and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development 

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1  

 
 

Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered this  day of 
          , 2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal  corporation  of  the  Commonwealth  of  Virginia  (the  “City”), COMMONWEALTH 
CATHOLIC CHARITIES HOUSING CORPORATION, a Virginia Limited Liability Company, or 
its assigns or successors (the “Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 

defined below. 
 

B. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

 
C. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 

Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

 
D. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 

construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, and the funds 
comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the incremental real 
estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including both the fee interest 
(and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), all as set forth 
herein. 

 
E. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 

Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

 
F. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 

obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 



2  

Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 
 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

 
“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 

Statistical Area for each applicable year of the Grant Period. 
 

“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $2,148.00 per year, being the amount equal to the 
real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Effective Date. 

 
“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 

Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 
 

“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 
equal to 100% of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such corresponding tax year. The 
Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in the future be billed and due in 
installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Grant Payment” shall include 
payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each installment payment corresponding to 
the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy as prorated for the applicable installment period. 

 

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 
(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on 
time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment 
and explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period). 

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced by receipt 
of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and ending on last day of 
the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration 
Date”), subject to the provisions of Section 2.6 below. The parties acknowledge that the “Real 
Estate Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after 
the Grant Expiration Date and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means one-time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period. 

 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 

during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 



3  

Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and 
on time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below). In no event shall the Incremental Real Estate 
Tax Revenue (or the Grant Payment) include penalties, interest, or any other charges resulting from 
any delinquent payment. The Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the 
future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or 
installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

 
“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 

following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement. 
 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than residential units, subject 
to income and rent restrictions as set forth in Section 2.5 and as shown on Exhibit A and monitored 
by the State Housing Finance Agency. 

 
“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 

(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable)) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

 
“Recipient” means Commonwealth Catholic Charities Housing Corporation, and its 

successors and assigns, to the extent permitted by this Agreement. 
 

“Site” means, collectively, 3.596 acres currently owned by CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF 
RICHMOND KNESTOUT BARRY C BISHOP MOST REV, located at 1031 Fourqurean Lane and 
currently referred to in the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. N0000803002. 

 
“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 

Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

 
Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

 
2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

 
The  Recipient  shall  pay  annually  to  the  Authority  1%  of  the  Grant  Payment  for  the 
duration of the Grant Period. The  Authority  will  invoice  the  Recipient  on  or  before 
October 1 of  each  year  and  the  Recipient  shall  remit  payment within 30 days of issuance 
of the invoice. 

 
. 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 

 
2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 

submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development Review no 
later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date, which Plan of Development or similar 



4  

submission shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall 
contain all elements of the Project as defined herein. 

 
2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall commence 

construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (the 
“Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the issuance of all 
permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project. 

 
2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction. The Recipient shall complete the 

Project within three years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

 
2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 

provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which the Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within 30 days of such written 
notice, then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon the 
City’s election, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further 
obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments 
hereunder. 

 
2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 
to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or otherwise 
control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in the Project to third parties 
(“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, including the rights and 
obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers ownership of the Project 
(including any leasehold interests), and (2) if the Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall 
provide the City and Authority 30 days prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership 
or control of the Project, which notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the 
name of the party or parties to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such 
party that it is aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will 
be assigned to such party. Following the transfer of ownership in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee. 

 
2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following the 

Recipient’s completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.1.3 of this 
Agreement, the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, shall continue to Maintain the Project 
until the expiration of the Grant Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Recipient’s 
obligation to Maintain the Project includes the Recipient’s ongoing compliance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 2.5 (Affordable Housing) of this Agreement. 



5  

2.4 MBE Participation. 
 

2.4.1 Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability, and competitive pricing among minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses exist, 30% of all expenditures for 
construction costs of the Project that will be paid to third-party subcontractors 
unaffiliated with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard 
to the prosecution and completion of the Project. The terms "minority business 
enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning ascribed to them in 
Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its contracts 
with all assignees, contractors, and subcontractors who will be providing any portion 
of the Project. 

 
2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the Recipient 

and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors with regard to the 
participation goals set forth above, during the period prior to completion of 
Project construction, the Recipient shall submit a report upon request 
detailing all expenditures with minority business enterprises and emerging 
small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the business, (ii) 
an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each 
item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses and (v) the percentage of total 
expenditures for the quarter spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the Recipient shall submit 
these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these reports 
in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of 
the Recipient and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete 
for City contracts. 

 
2.5 Affordable Housing. 

 

The Recipient shall restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency. Ongoing compliance monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the 
Recipient’s compliance with this section. 

 
2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments after the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period shall be 
contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has at a minimum made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of [five-hundred sixty thousand and 
No/100 Dollars ($560,000.00)] since the Grant Commencement Date. On each fifth 
anniversary of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit a 
report of capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date. 



6  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 
 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

 
3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic Development, the Authority, and the 
Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if the 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the 
applicable installment (except when Recipient (i) makes full payment within 60 days after 
the date such payment was due to the City and (ii) pays all penalties and interest for such 
late payment in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code) and 
shall not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment of any other taxes 
levied by the City for the Project (except when all penalties and interest for such late 
payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City 
Code). Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant 
Payment for the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a 
Grant Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to 
Recipient but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested 
is inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s 
failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any 
necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen 
(15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the 
Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees to pay the Grant Payment to the 
Recipient (or such party to which the Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to 
Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from 
the City. 

 
3.4 Recipient’s Relief. Should the Recipient believe the City failed to comply with Section 
3.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment for a 
Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

 
 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 
 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by 



7  

the City Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation is subject to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

 
4.3 The Authority agrees to  provide  the  City’s  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  or  the 
designee thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement, and will keep the 
CAO fully and timely informed of all matters related to this Agreement. 

 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 

 
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant. Accordingly, 
the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as 
specifically stated herein. If litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be 
filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and 
CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 

 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

 
Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 



8  

5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 6. Default. 

 
6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 

Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 
 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the 
declaration of bankruptcy by the Recipient. 

 
6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

 
6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
6.2 Effect of Event of Default. In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, 

the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) 
days after the City’s notice to Recipient and Recipient’s designated lender, unless Recipient cures 
the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor 
the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be 
eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient’s obligations 
hereunder will remain in force and effect throughout the Grant Period and the City shall be entitled 
to any remedies available at law and equity, including, but not limited to, specific performance. 

 
Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at the Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of the Recipient’s progress regarding the completion of Project 
construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.3 of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after the mailing of the same in the United States 
Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to with a copy to: 
 
Commonwealth Catholic Charities Klein Horning 
Housing Corporation 1325 G Street NW, Suite 770 
1601 Rolling Hills Drive Washington DC 20005 
Richmond, Virginia 23229 Attn: Erik Hoffman 
Attn. Vice President of Housing 



10  

if to the City, to with a copy to: 
 

Chief Administrative Officer Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 
 

if to the Authority, to with a copy to: 
 

Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

Section 9. General Terms and Conditions. 
 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the entire 
agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and Investor. 
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee upon a 
foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that in no 
event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties hereto 
be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the other, which 
consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its right to receive 
payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing the City and the 
Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and payment information in 
a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) 
Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any future owner provided 
the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements set forth in Section 2.3.1 of this 
Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to 
make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor shall be released from all 
obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the right to grant to a 
Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder as collateral for the 
loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and any action taken by 
such Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and performance thereafter shall 
be deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have submitted to the 
City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such security interest and assignment 
and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent shall be required to the exercise 
by Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform Recipient’s obligations hereunder 
after a default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. The City agrees that Mortgagee 
shall not have any liability for any act or omission of Recipient hereunder and shall only be liable 
hereunder for obligations arising during such time as it is the owner of Recipient’s interests in the 
Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, no transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no 



11  

transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove the general partner 
or managing member of Recipient shall require notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 

 
9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 

enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceeding arising from this Development 
Agreement. 

 
9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 
 

9.4 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid, or illegal, then the enforceability, validity, and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
9.5 Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 

the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval, 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

 
9.6 Public Disclosure. 

 
9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 

maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

 
9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 

Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 



12  

 
9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 

covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.8 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the City 
Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

 
9.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed, or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; 
(ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain 
any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient under the provisions 
of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to 
confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

 
9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 

the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



13  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:    
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Authorized by Ordinance No.    

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

  , a Virginia limited liability company 
 
 

By:    
Date 

 
Name:  
Title:     

 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
General Counsel to the Authority 

By:    
Chairman Date

 



14 
 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
Affordable Housing Schedule 

 
The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of AMI, according to 
standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a minimum of thirty (30) years. 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

    AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-232  

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, Bellevue Gardens VA LLC, and the 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the 
construction of an affordable residential development located at 1711 Bellevue Avenue and 3940 
Rear Rosewood Avenue. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

Bellevue Gardens VA LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 

for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential development located at 

1711 Bellevue Avenue and 3940 Rear Rosewood Avenue. The Grant Agreement shall be 

approved as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document 



 2 

attached to this ordinance. 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 
 

 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-1006

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-1006 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

08/19/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing ProjectSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Performance Grant for the development of affordable housing units at Bellevue Gardens 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-1006 Ordinance - Bellevue Garden 

aatf08152024, Admin. 2024-1006 Bellevue Gardens - 

Grant Agreement - Attachment A AATFmbp

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 8/20/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 8/21/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 8/19/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/21/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/22/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1006)

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1006)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-1006

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: July 31, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· Bellevue Gardens VA, LLC 

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1006)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the projected 

construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of the 

commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the commencement 

of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real estate and vastly 

under-values the assessment of the property at the time of commencement of the Grant 

Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $24,825.95 and the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$169,367.69 As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant Period 

would be $144,541.74 This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the grant 

Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue upon 

commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

a property producing $144,541.74 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $182,239.63 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $12,871.94 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1006)

trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to 

increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time. 

This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of assessed value 

and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1  

Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered this  day of 
          , 2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal  corporation  of  the  Commonwealth  of  Virginia  (the  “City”), BELLEVUE 
GARDENS VA, LLC, a Virginia Limited Liability Company, or its assigns or successors (the 
“Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 

defined below. 
 

B. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

 
C. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 

Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

 
D. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 

construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, and the funds 
comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the incremental real 
estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including both the fee interest 
(and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), all as set forth 
herein. 

 
E. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 

Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

 
F. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 

obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 



2  

Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 
 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 

the following definitions: 
 

“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 
Statistical Area for each applicable year of the Grant Period. 

 
“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $26,724.00 per year, being the amount equal to 

the real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Effective Date. 
 

“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 
Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 

equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such 
corresponding tax year. The Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in 
the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Grant Payment” shall include payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each 
installment payment corresponding to the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy as prorated for the 
applicable installment period. 

 

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 
(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on 
time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment 
and explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period). 

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced by receipt 
of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and ending on last day of 
the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration 
Date”), subject to the provisions of Section 2.6 below. The parties acknowledge that the “Real 
Estate Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after 
the Grant Expiration Date and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means one-time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period. 

 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 

during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 



3  

Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and 
on time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below). In no event shall the Incremental Real Estate 
Tax Revenue (or the Grant Payment) include penalties, interest, or any other charges resulting from 
any delinquent payment. The Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the 
future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or 
installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

 
“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 

following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement. 
 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as set forth in Section 2.5 and as shown on Exhibit A and 
monitored by the State Housing Finance Agency. 

 
“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 

(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable)) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

 
“Recipient” means BELLEVUE GARDENS VA, LLC and its successors and assigns, to 

the extent permitted by this Agreement. 
 

“Site” means, collectively, 5.953 acres currently owned by BELLEVUE GARDENS VA, 
LLC,  located at 3940 REAR Rosewood Avenue Richmond, VA 23227 and 1711 Bellevue Avenue 
Richmond, VA 23227 and currently referred to in the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. 
N0170390023 and N0170390020. 

 
“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 

Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

 
Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

 
2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

 
The  Recipient  shall  pay  annually  to  the  Authority  1%  of  the  Grant  Payment  for  
the duration of the Grant Period. The  Authority  will  invoice  the  Recipient  on  or  
before October 1 of  each  year  and  the  Recipient  shall  remit  payment within 30 days 
of issuance of the invoice. 

 

 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 
 

2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 
submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development Review no 
later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date, which Plan of Development or similar 



4  

submission shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall 
contain all elements of the Project as defined herein. 

 
2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall commence 

construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (the 
“Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the issuance of all 
permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project. 

 
2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction. The Recipient shall complete the 

Project within three years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

 
2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 

provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which the Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within 30 days of such written 
notice, then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon the 
City’s election, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further 
obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments 
hereunder. 

 
2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 
to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or otherwise 
control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in the Project to third parties 
(“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, including the rights and 
obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers ownership of the Project 
(including any leasehold interests), and (2) if the Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall 
provide the City and Authority 30 days prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership 
or control of the Project, which notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the 
name of the party or parties to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such 
party that it is aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will 
be assigned to such party. Following the transfer of ownership in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee. 

 
2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following the 

Recipient’s completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.1.3 of this 
Agreement, the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, shall continue to Maintain the Project 
until the expiration of the Grant Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Recipient’s 
obligation to Maintain the Project includes the Recipient’s ongoing compliance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 2.5 (Affordable Housing) of this Agreement. 



5  

2.4 MBE Participation. 
 

2.4.1 Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability, and competitive pricing among minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses exist, 30% of all expenditures for 
construction costs of the Project that will be paid to third-party subcontractors 
unaffiliated with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard 
to the prosecution and completion of the Project. The terms "minority business 
enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning ascribed to them in 
Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its contracts 
with all assignees, contractors, and subcontractors who will be providing any portion 
of the Project. 

 
2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the Recipient 

and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors with regard to the 
participation goals set forth above, during the period prior to completion of 
Project construction, the Recipient shall submit a report upon request 
detailing all expenditures with minority business enterprises and emerging 
small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the business, (ii) 
an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each 
item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses and (v) the percentage of total 
expenditures for the quarter spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the Recipient shall submit 
these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these reports 
in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of 
the Recipient and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete 
for City contracts. 

 
2.5 Affordable Housing. 

 

The Recipient shall restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency. Ongoing compliance monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the 
Recipient’s compliance with this section. 

 
2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments after the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period shall be 
contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has at a minimum made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of Seven Hundred Eighty Thousand 
dollars ($780,000) since the Grant Commencement Date. On each fifth anniversary of the 
Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit a report of capital 



6  

improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date. 



7  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 
 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

 
3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic Development, the Authority, and the 
Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if the 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the 
applicable installment (except when Recipient (i) makes full payment within 60 days after 
the date such payment was due to the City and (ii) pays all penalties and interest for such 
late payment in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code) and 
shall not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment of any other taxes 
levied by the City for the Project (except when all penalties and interest for such late 
payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City 
Code). Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant 
Payment for the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a 
Grant Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to 
Recipient but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested 
is inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s 
failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any 
necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen 
(15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the 
Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees to pay the Grant Payment to the 
Recipient (or such party to which the Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to 
Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from 
the City. 

 
3.4 Recipient’s Relief. Should the Recipient believe the City failed to comply with 
Section 3.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 
of this Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment 
for a Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

 
Section 4. General Administration of Grant 

 
4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by 



8  

the City Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation is subject to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

 
4.3 The Authority agrees to  provide  the  City’s  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  or  
the designee thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement, and will keep 
the CAO fully and timely informed of all matters related to this Agreement. 

 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 

 
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant. Accordingly, 
the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as 
specifically stated herein. If litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be 
filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and 
CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 

 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

 
Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 



9  

5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 6. Default. 

 
6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 

Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 
 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the 
declaration of bankruptcy by the Recipient. 

 
6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

 
6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
6.2 Effect of Event of Default. In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, 

the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) 
days after the City’s notice to Recipient and Recipient’s designated lender, unless Recipient cures 
the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor 
the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be 
eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient’s obligations 
hereunder will remain in force and effect throughout the Grant Period and the City shall be entitled 
to any remedies available at law and equity, including, but not limited to, specific performance. 

 
Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at the Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of the Recipient’s progress regarding the completion of Project 
construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.3 of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after the mailing of the same in the United States 
Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to  with a copy to: 
 
Bellevue Gardens VA LLC     The Pryzwansky Law Firm 
Attn: Jen Surber       Attn: David Pryzwansky 
120 Green Tree Circle      1130 Situ Court, Suite 244 
Bristol, VA 24201       Raleigh, NC 27606



 

if to the City, to with a copy to: 
 

Chief Administrative Officer Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 
 

if to the Authority, to with a copy to: 
 

Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 



 

Section 9. General Terms and Conditions. 

9.1  Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed by each of the 
parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and Investor. This Agreement 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and 
assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee upon a foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that in no event may this Agreement or any of 
the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise 
disposed of without the prior written consent of the other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to 
give, except that Recipient may assign its right to receive payment to another entity authorized to transact 
business in Virginia by furnishing the City and the Authority with notice identifying the entity and 
providing both contact and payment information in a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in 
the Site and Project to any future owner provided the Recipient first shall have complied with the 
requirements set forth in Section 2.3.1 of this Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of 
all instruments by which it purports to make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior 
written approval thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor 
shall be released from all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the 
right to grant to a Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder as 
collateral for the loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and any 
action taken by such Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and performance 
thereafter shall be deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have 
submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such security interest and 
assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent shall be required to the exercise by 
Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform Recipient’s obligations hereunder after a 
default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. The City agrees that Mortgagee shall not have 
any liability for any act or omission of Recipient hereunder and shall only be liable hereunder for 
obligations arising during such time as it is the owner of Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project 
pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance of doubt, no transfer 
by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no transfer of interests in 
Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove the general partner or managing member of 
Recipient shall require notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 



10  

 
9.1 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 

enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceeding arising from this Development 
Agreement. 

 
9.2 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 
 

9.3 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid, or illegal, then the enforceability, validity, and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
9.4 Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 

the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval, 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

 
9.5 Public Disclosure. 

 
9.5.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 

maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

 
9.5.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 

Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 



11  

9.6 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.7 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the City 
Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

 
9.8 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

 
9.9 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed, or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; 
(ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain 
any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient under the provisions 
of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to 
confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

 
9.10 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 

the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 



12  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:    
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Authorized by Ordinance No.    

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

  , a Virginia limited liability company 
 
 

By:    
Date 

 
Name:  
Title:     

 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY 
OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  General Counsel to the Authority 



13 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing Schedule 
 

The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of 
AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a 
minimum of thirty (30) years.   

 
 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-233 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, 1203 E Brookland LLC, and 
the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the 
construction of an affordable housing development located at 1203 East Brookland Park 
Boulevard. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

1203 E Brookland LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for 

the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable housing development located at 1203 

East Brookland Park Boulevard.  The Performance Agreement shall be approved as to form by 

the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this 

ordinance. 



2 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption.

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0815

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0815 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

07/25/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: 1203 East Brookland Park Boulevard Performance 

Grant

Subject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Performance Grant for an affordable housing development project located at 1203 East Brookland 

Park Boulevard

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-0815 WD- Ordinance - Performance 

Grant 1203 East Brookland Park- AATF, 

Admin-2024-0815 1203 East Brookland Park Blvd  

City of Richmond Performance Grant Agreement 

AATF and signed

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0815)

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 7/27/20247/25/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 7/30/20247/30/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 7/30/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/1/20248/5/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/7/20248/5/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/7/20248/8/2024 Escalated

1 Michael Nguyen 7 8/9/20248/8/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 8 8/8/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 9 8/12/20248/8/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 10 8/8/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 11 8/12/20248/8/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 12 8/19/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 13 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0815)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0815

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: July 1, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· 1203 E Brookland LLC

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0815)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia to authorize industrial/economic 

development authorities “to make grants associated with the construction of affordable 

housing to promote safe and affordable housing in the Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Exhibit A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the projected 

construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of the 

commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, before the commencement 

of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real estate and vastly 

under-values the assessment value of the property at the time of commencement of the Grant 

Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $2,868.00 the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$149,200.20 As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant Period 

would be $146,332.20 This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the grant 

Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue upon 

commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

property producing $149,200.20 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $160,539.42 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax $11,339.22 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent trends, it is 

assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to increase in 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0815)

the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time. This estimate 

was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of assessed value and does not 

account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024 

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1 

KH 1151415.3 

PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 

This PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered this 
____ day of _____, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, 
VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “City”), 1203 E 
BROOKLAND LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, or its assigns or successors (the 
“Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

RECITALS 

A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 
defined below.

B. In connection with its development of the Project, Recipient intends to divide the 
Assemblage and create the Site, whereupon the Site will be designated as a parcel in the 
tax records of the City and assigned a tax parcel identification number.

C. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests.

D. The City plans to fund a semi-annual economic development monetary Performance  (the 
“AGREEMENT”) by the Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the 
Recipient to construct and operate the Project in the City of Richmond.

E. Payment of the Performance Agreement will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s 
completion of Project construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined 
herein, and the funds comprising payments of the Performance Agreement will be solely 
limited to a portion of the incremental real estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the 
Project (i.e., including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the 
land and all improvements), all as set forth herein.

F. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 
Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing.

G. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 
obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject to 
the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises and

undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as follows. 



 Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 
Statistical Area for the applicable year of the Performance Agreement Period. 

“Assemblage” means, collectively, that certain real property comprised of (i) those certain 
parcels of 0.615 acres currently owned by Enterprise Community Development, Inc. located 
respectively at 1203 East Brookland Park Boulevard Richmond, Virginia and currently referred to 
in the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. N0000917006. 

“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $2,868 per year, being the amount equal to the real 
estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Performance Agreement 
Commencement Date. For the avoidance of doubt, the Base Real Estate Tax Revenue is calculated 
based on the tax rate of $1.20 per every $100.00 of assessment value attributed to the portions of 
the Assemblage that comprise the Site, with thirty percent (30.0%) of the real estate taxes levied 
on Parcel No. N0000917006 included in the figure above.     

“Performance Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement. 

“  Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Performance Agreement 
Period, an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Incremental Real Estate Tax 
Revenue for such corresponding tax year. The Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax 
levy is and may in the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as 
used herein “Performance Agreement Payment” shall include payments of Incremental Real Estate 
Tax Revenue for each installment payment corresponding to the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy.  

“  Payment Request” means a written request for a   Payment, which shall include (1) 
documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy (including all applicable 
penalties and interest), and (2) the amount of the requested   Payment and explanation of the 
calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax Revenue equals 
Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment period).

“ Performance Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first 
real estate tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced 
by receipt of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Performance Commencement Date”) and 
ending on last day of the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Commencement Date 
(“Performance Expiration Date”).  The parties acknowledge that the “Real Estate Tax Levy” for 
the last year of the Performance Period may not be received by the City until after the 
Performance Agreement Expiration Date, and that a Performance Payment shall be paid to the 
Recipient corresponding to such Real Estate Tax Levy.  

“Grant Management Fee” means one time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 
to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the adminis2t rative expenses of the Authority for managing the 

 Performance Agreement during the  Performance Agreement Period. 
KH 1151415.3 



KH 1151415.3 

“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 
during the  Performance Agreement Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy 
exceeds the Base Real Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax 
Levy to the City in full (including any applicable penalties and interest for late payment in 
accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City Code), subject to the 
applicable cure periods.  The Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in 
the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or 
installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

“Land Records” means the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia.  

“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 
following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement.   

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar 
instrument created for the purpose of securing indebtedness of Recipient, and recorded among the 
Land Records, or any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar instrument created 
for the purposes of refinancing such indebtedness and recorded among the Land Records. 

“Mortgagee” means the secured party under a Mortgage. 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than 43 residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as shown on Exhibit A and monitored by the State Housing 
Finance Agency.   

“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 
(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”) . 

“Recipient” means 1203 E Brookland LLC and its successors and assigns, to the extent 
permitted by this Agreement. 

“Site” means the Assemblage. “State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing 
(formerly known as Virginia Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, or its successor. 

Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

2.1  Performance Agreement Management Fee. 

The Recipient shall pay a  Performance Agreement Management Fee consisting of 
(i) a one-time, non-refundable $500.00 fee immediately upon execution of the agreement 
to the Authority, and, (ii) thereafter, the Recipient shall pay annually to the Authority 1% 
of the  Performance   Payment for the duration of the  Performance  Agreement Period. 
The Authority will invoice the Recipient on or before October 1 of each year and the 
Recipient shall remit payment within 30 days of issuance of the invoice.  
3



4 

KH 1151415.3 

2.2  Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 

2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or 
similar permit submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and 
Development Review no later than nine (9) months of the Effective Date, which shall 
comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall contain all 
elements of the Project as defined herein.   

2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall 
commence construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective 
Date, (the “Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the 
issuance of all permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project.   

2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction. Recipient shall complete the 
Project within three (3) years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of 
the provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), 
in his sole discretion, may either extend the time by which Recipient must comply 
with the corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to 
terminate this Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within sixty 
(60) days of such written notice then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations 
herein, shall, upon the City’s election and subject to the rights of a Mortgagee under 
Section 6.3 hereof, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any 
further obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any  
Performance  Agreement Payments hereunder.  

2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 
to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or 
otherwise control the Project until expiration of the  Performance  Agreement Period. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient may transfer the ownership or control 
interest in the Project to third parties (“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign 
this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein to such party or parties at the 
time it transfers ownership or control of the Project (including any leasehold interests), and 
(2) if this Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall provide the City and Authority 30 days’ 
prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership or control of the Project, which 
notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the name of the party or parties 
to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such party that it is 
aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will be assigned 
to such party. Following the transfer of ownership or control in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee.  For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 2.3.1 shall not apply to any transfer 
by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or to any transfer of interests in Recipient 
or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove the general partner or managing 
member of Recipient and any such transfer shall not require notice to nor the 
consent of the City or Authority. 



KH 1151415.3 

2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following 
Recipient’s completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.2.3 of this 
Agreement, the Recipient shall continue to Maintain the Project until the expiration of 
the  Performance  Agreement Period. 

2.4 MBE Participation. 

2.4.1  Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability and competitive pricing among minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses exists, 30% of all expenditures for those construction costs of 
the  Project that will be paid to third party subcontractors unaffiliated with the Recipient 
will be spent with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses that perform 
commercially useful functions with regard to the prosecution and completion of the Project. 
The terms "minority business enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning 
ascribed to them in Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its 
contracts with all assignees, contractors and subcontractors who will be providing any 
portion of the Project.  

2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the  Recipient 
and its assignees, contractors and subcontractors with regard to the participation goals set 
forth above, during the period prior to completion of Project construction, the Recipient 
shall submit a report upon request detailing all expenditures with minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the 
business, (ii) an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each 
item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business enterprises and 
emerging  small businesses and (v) the percentage of total expenditures for the quarter spent 
with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the 
Recipient shall submit these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these 
reports in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of the Recipient 
and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete for City contracts. 

2.5 Affordable Housing. 

The Recipient agrees to restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency or as otherwise approved by the Authority. Ongoing compliance monitoring and 
approvals by the State Housing Finance Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s 
request, shall serve as evidence of the Recipient’s compliance with this section.  

2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of  Performance  Agreement Payments subsequent to the initial fifteen (15) 
years of the  Performance  Agreement Period shall be contingent upon receipt of proof 
that the Recipient has made capital improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount 
o5f  four-hundred thirty thousand and No/100 Dollars 



6 

KH 1151415.3 

($430,000.00) since the  Performance  Agreement Commencement Date.  On each fifth 
anniversary of the  Performance  Agreement Commencement Date, the Recipient shall 
upon request submit a report of capital improvements made to the Project since the  
Performance  Agreement Commencement Date.  

Section 3. Disbursement of  Performance  Agreement. 

3.1.  Performance  Agreement. During the  Performance  Agreement Period, the City shall 
pay to Recipient (or such party to which Recipient has assigned  Performance  Agreement 
Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through the Authority, the  
Performance  Agreement Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

3.2.  Performance  Agreement Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each  
Performance  Agreement Payment Request to the CAO, with copies to the Department of 
Economic and Community Development, the Authority, and the Office of the City Attorney 
at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

3.3. Disbursement of  Performance  Agreement Payment. Upon receipt of a  
Performance  Agreement Payment Request, the City shall review the accuracy of the 
request. The City shall not make a  Performance  Agreement Payment if Recipient did 
not make full and timely payment (except when all penalties and interest for late payment 
have been paid in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code), 
of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the applicable installment and shall not make a  
Performance  Agreement Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment (except when all 
penalties and interest for late payment have been paid in accordance with any 
applicable provision of the Richmond City Code) of any other taxes levied by the City 
for the Project. Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a  Performance  Agreement 
Payment Request, the City shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the 
request and will not make a  Performance  Agreement Payment for the foregoing 
reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a  Performance  Agreement 
Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to Recipient 
but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested is 
inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct  
Performance  Agreement Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the City’s failure to respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not 
constitute approval of a requested  Performance  Agreement Payment and the Recipient 
shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s failure to timely 
respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any necessary budget 
amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen (15) business days of 
the City’s approval of any  Performance  Agreement Payment, transfer the funds for the  
Performance  Agreement Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees, subject to any 
necessary approvals by its Board of Directors, to pay the  Performance  Agreement 
Payment to Recipient (or such party to which Recipient has assigned  Performance  
Agreement Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) 
business days of receipt of the funds from the City.

3.4       Recipient’s Relief. Should Recipient believe the City failed to comply with Section 
3.3 of this Agreement, Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment for a  
Performance  Agreement Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the 
restrictions set forth in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 
9.5) and for which it did not receive payment. 



7 

KH 1151415.3 

Section 4. General Administration of  Performance  Agreement 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by the City 
Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this Agreement 
relating to the  Performance  Agreement. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid 
by the City. 

4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially conditioned 
upon the City providing funding to the Authority on a timely basis; provided, however, 
the City’s obligation to provide funding to the Authority is subject to appropriation by the 
City Council and availability of funds. 

4.3 The Authority agrees to provide the CAO, or the designee thereof, with copies of all 
documents related to this Agreement and will keep the CAO fully and timely informed of 
all matters related to this Agreement. 

4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority for the  
Performance  Agreement shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be 
used only to satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the  
Performance  Agreement.  

4.5        It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the  Performance  
Agreement as set forth in this Agreement. Accordingly, the Authority does not assume 
any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as specifically stated in this Agreement. 
If litigation involving the  Performance  Agreement is initiated or expected to be filed 
against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and CAO. 

4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related to this 
Agreement  in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City Auditor 
or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under this 
Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary 
to complete such audits 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City a blanket corporate fidelity 
bond with surety. 
. 

Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter into this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

5.3         The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 



8 

KH 1151415.3 

obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 

5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

Section 6. Default.  

6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 
Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the declaration 
of bankruptcy by the Recipient; 

6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay the annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

6.2 Effect of Event of Default. Subject to Section 6.3 below, in the case of an 
occurrence of an Event of Default, the  Performance  Agreement provisions of Section 3 of this 
Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) days after the City’s notice to 
Recipient, each Mortgagee and Investor, unless Recipient cures the Event of Default to the City’s 
satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any 
further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any  Performance  
Agreement Payments hereunder. If the default cannot be reasonably cured within thirty (30) days, 
then the Recipient shall have such additional time as it shall reasonably require so long as the 
Recipient is proceeding with reasonable diligence to cure the default.

6.3 Notice and Right to Cure.  Written notice of any default by Recipient under this 
Agreement shall be provided simultaneously to any Mortgagee and Investor. Each Mortgagee and 
the Investor shall be permitted to cure any default by Recipient under this Agreement. Such 
Mortgagees and Investor shall have the same period, after the giving of such notice upon it, for 
remedying any default or causing the same to be remedied, as is given Recipient after the giving of 
such notice to Recipient, plus an additional thirty (30) days, to remedy, commence remedying or 
cause to be remedied the defaults specified in any such notice.  If the default cannot be reasonably 
cured within thirty (30) days, then the Mortgagee or Investor, as applicable, shall have such 
additional time as it shall reasonably require so long as the Mortgagee or Investor, as applicable, is 
proceeding with reasonable diligence to cure the default.  The City and the Authority each agree to 
accept payment or performance by any Mortgagee or Investor as though the same had been done 
by Recipient. 

 Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

The Recipient shall provide, at Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of Recipient’s progress regarding completion of Project 
construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.3 of this Agreement. 

 Section 8. Notices. 



9 

KH 1151415.3 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing, and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after mailing of the same in the United States Mail 
by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

if to the Recipient, to: with a copy to: 

1203 E Brookland LLC 
c/o Enterprise Community Development, Inc. Klein Horning 
8403 Colesville Road, Suite 115 1325 G Street NW, Suite 770 
Silver Spring, Maryland Washington DC 20005 
Attention: Kathleen Kramer Attention: Jessica Worthington 

if to the City, to: with a copy to: 

Chief Administrative Officer  Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia  City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street Suite 201 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219  Richmond, VA 23219 

if to the Authority, to: with a copy to: 

Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
501 East Franklin Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 300 
Richmond, VA 23219  Richmond, VA 23219  

Section 9.General Terms and Conditions. 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, 
signed by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and 
Investor. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee 
upon a foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that 
in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties 
hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the 
other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its 
right to receive payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing 
the City and the Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and payment 
information in a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein, (a) Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any 
future owner provided the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements set forth in 
Section 2.3.1 of this Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by 
which it purports to make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval 
thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor shall be 
released from all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the 



10

 
KH 1151415.3 

right to grant to a Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder 
as collateral for the loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and 
any action taken by such Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and 
performance thereafter shall be deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient 
first shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such 
security interest and assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent 
shall be required to the exercise by Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform 
Recipient’s obligations hereunder after a default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. 
The City agrees that Mortgagee shall not have any liability for any act or omission of Recipient 
hereunder and shall only be liable hereunder for obligations arising during such time as it is the 
owner of Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of 
foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance of doubt, no transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by 
Investor of its rights to remove the general partner or managing member of Recipient shall require 
notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 

9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 
enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceedings arising from this Agreement. 

 9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 
of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 

 9.4      Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

9.5  Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and the 
Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement.  

 9.6 Public Disclosure. 
9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 

maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 



11

KH 1151415.3 

Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 
Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

 9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

 9.8       Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the 
City Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors.  

9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that nothing 
contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to this 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to this Agreement for any purpose. 

9.10  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in Section 9.1 of this 
Agreement, the parties agree that except for any Mortgagee and Investor (i) no individual or entity 
shall be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this 
Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any 
individual or entity other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or 
entity shall obtain any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient 
under the provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity.  Each Mortgagee 
and Investor shall be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement. 

9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, the 
CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices contemplated 
herein on behalf of the City. 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 



12
KH 1151415.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this  Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

CITY OF RICHMOND, 
VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: ______________________________________ 
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Authorized by Ordinance No. ____________ 

Approved as to Form: 

By: ________________________  
City Attorney’s Office 

1203 E BROOKLAND LLC 
a Virginia limited liability company 

By:  1203 E Brookland MM LLC 
a Virginia limited liability company 
its sole member 

By: Enterprise Community Development, Inc. 
a Maryland nonstock corporation, 
its sole member 

By: ___________________________ 
Name: Robert Fossi 
Title: SVP, Real Estate Development 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: 
Chairman Date 



13
KH 1151415.3 

Approved as to Form: 
By: _______________________  

General Counsel to the Authority 



14
KH 1151415.3 

EXHIBIT A 

Affordable Housing Schedule 

The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of 
AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a 
minimum of thirty (30) years.   



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-234 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 6951 Carnation Multifamily, LLC, 
and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating 
the construction of an affordable residential development located at 6951 West Carnation Street. 

Patron –Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING:SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M.  

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 6951 

Carnation Multifamily, LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 

for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential development located at 

6951 West Carnation Street. The Grant Agreement shall be approved as to form by the City 

Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this ordinance. 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption.



 2 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0997

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0997 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

08/15/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant 6951 West Carnation StreetSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes:  Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development Project at 6951 West Carnation Street

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-0997 WD Ordinance 6951 Carnation 

Street, Admin-2024-0997 6951 Carnation Street - 

Grant Agreement_AATF8152024

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 8/16/20248/18/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 8/21/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 8/19/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/21/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/22/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0997)

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0997)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0997

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: July 8, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· Lynx Ventures, Inc. 

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0997)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the projected 

construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of the 

commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the commencement 

of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real estate and vastly 

under-values the assessment of the property at the time of commencement of the Grant 

Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the time of 

commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $3,876.00 and the 

estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period would be 

$354,000.00. As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the Grant 

Period would be $350,124.00. This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid to the 

grant Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue 

upon commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from the true 

assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant Period. The 

City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 2024. As such 

a property producing $354,000.0 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 would produce 

approximately $380,904.00 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the one-year 

Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $26,904.00 between 2023 and 2024. Based on recent 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0997)

trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will continue to 

increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at this time. 

This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of assessed value 

and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE:  September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE:  September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered this ____ day of 
_____, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “City”), 6951 CARNATION 
MULTIFAMILY, LLC, or its assigns or successors (the “Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political subdivision of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 

RECITALS 

A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 
defined below. 

B. In connection with its development of the Project, Recipient intends to divide the 
Assemblage and create the Site, whereupon the Site will be designated as a parcel in the 
tax records of the City and assigned a tax parcel identification number.  

C. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

D. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 
Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and 
operate the Project in the City of Richmond. 

E. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 
construction or rehabilitation and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, 
and the funds comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the 
incremental real estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including 
both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all 
improvements), all as set forth herein. 

F. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and 
the Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, 
contained in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the 
activities contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of 
Virginia to make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of 
the purpose of promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

G. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 
obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations.  



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises 
and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 

 Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 
Statistical Area for the applicable year of the Grant Period. 

“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $3,876.00 per year, being the amount equal to the 
real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Grant Commencement Date. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Base Real Estate Tax Revenue is calculated based on the tax rate 
of $1.20 per every $100.00 of assessment value attributed to the portions of the Assemblage that 
comprise the Site, with thirty percent (30.0%) of the real estate taxes levied on Parcel No. 
C0050879008 included in the figure above.     
 

“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 
Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 

“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such 
corresponding tax year. The Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in 
the future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Grant Payment” shall include payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each 
installment payment corresponding to the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy.  

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall 
include (1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy (including all 
applicable penalties and interest), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment and 
explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period).  

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real 

estate tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction or rehabilitation, as shall 
be evidenced by receipt of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) 
and ending on last day of the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant 
Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration Date”).  The parties acknowledge that the “Real Estate 
Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after the 
Grant Expiration Date, and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy.  

 



“Grant Management Fee” means one time non-refundable fee and an annual payment 
equal to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for 
managing the Grant during the Grant Period.  

“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 
during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 
Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full 
(including any applicable penalties and interest for late payment in accordance with any 
applicable provision of the Richmond City Code), subject to the applicable cure periods.  The 
Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the future be billed and due in 
installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Incremental Real Estate Tax 
Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or installment) of the Real Estate 
Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

“Investor” means Lynx Ventures, Inc. 

“Land Records” means the Clerk’s Office of the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia.  

“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 
following completion of Project construction or rehabilitation, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this 
Agreement.   

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar 
instrument created for the purpose of securing indebtedness of Recipient, and recorded among the 
Land Records, or any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar instrument 
created for the purposes of refinancing such indebtedness and recorded among the Land Records. 

“Mortgagee” means the secured party under a Mortgage. 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than 128 residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as shown on Exhibit A and monitored by the State 
Housing Finance Agency.   

“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the 
Site (including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable) and Project (i.e., 
including land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of 
the Code for the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 
 

“Recipient” means 6951 Carnation Multifamily, LLC, and its successors and assigns, to 
the extent permitted by this Agreement. 

“Site” means, that certain parcel of 2.648 acres currently owned by 6951 Carnation 
Acquisition LLC located respectively at 6951 W Carnation Street Richmond, Virginia 23225 and 
currently referred to in the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. C0050879008. 

“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 
Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 



Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

The Recipient shall pay a Grant Management Fee consisting of (i) a one-time, non-
refundable $500.00 fee immediately upon execution of the agreement to the Authority, 
and, (ii) thereafter, the Recipient shall pay annually to the Authority 1% of the Grant 
Payment for the duration of the Grant Period. The Authority will invoice the Recipient on 
or before October 1 of each year and the Recipient shall remit payment within 30 days of 
issuance of the invoice.   

2.2 Completion of Project Construction or Rehabilitation; Timeline. 

2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or 
similar permit submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and 
Development Review no later than nine (9) months of the Effective Date, which shall 
comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall contain all 
elements of the Project as defined herein.   

2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction or Rehabilitation. Recipient 
shall commence construction or rehabilitation of the Project within eighteen (18) months 
of the Effective Date, (the “Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of all permits necessary for the commencement of construction 
or rehabilitation of the Project.   

2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction or Rehabilitation. Recipient shall 
complete the Project within three (3) years of the Construction Commencement Date, 
which shall be evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the 
Project. 

2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 
provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within sixty (60) days of such 
written notice then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon 
the City’s election and subject to the rights of a Mortgagee under Section 6.3 hereof, 
terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further obligation to the 
Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder.  

2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.  

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction or 
rehabilitation pursuant to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in 
the Project to third parties (“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, 
including the rights and obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers 



ownership or control of the Project (including any leasehold interests), and (2) if this 
Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall provide the City and Authority 30 days’ prior 
written notice of its intent to transfer ownership or control of the Project, which notice 
shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the name of the party or parties to which it 
intends to transfer, and a written statement from such party that it is aware that this 
Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will be assigned to such party. 
Following the transfer of ownership or control in the Project to the Transferee as provided 
above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the Transferee.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, this Section 2.3.1 shall not apply to any transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure or to any transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its 
rights to remove the general partner or managing member of Recipient and any such 
transfer shall not require notice to nor the consent of the City or Authority. 

2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following 
Recipient’s completion of Project construction or rehabilitation as set forth in Section 
2.2.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient shall continue to Maintain the Project until the 
expiration of the Grant Period. 

 

2.4 MBE Participation. 

2.4.1  Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability and competitive pricing among minority business enterprises 
and emerging small businesses exists, 30% of all expenditures for those construction or 
rehabilitation costs of the  Project that will be paid to third party subcontractors 
unaffiliated with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard to the 
prosecution and completion of the Project. The terms "minority business enterprise" and 
“emerging small business” have the meaning ascribed to them in Chapter 21 of the City 
Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its contracts with all assignees, contractors 
and subcontractors who will be providing any portion of the Project.  

2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the  
Recipient and its assignees, contractors and subcontractors with regard to the participation 
goals set forth above, during the period prior to completion of Project construction or 
rehabilitation, the Recipient shall submit a report upon request detailing all expenditures 
with minority business enterprises and emerging small businesses, showing, at a 
minimum, (i) the name of the business, (ii) an itemization of what the business provided, 
(iii) the amount paid for each item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority 
business enterprises and emerging  small businesses and (v) the percentage of total 
expenditures for the quarter spent with minority business enterprises and emerging small 
businesses. If the City chooses, the Recipient shall submit these reports on forms 
prescribed by the City. The City will use these reports in evaluating the good faith 
minority business enterprise and emerging small business participation efforts, as defined 
in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of the Recipient and its assignees, contractors, and 
subcontractors that compete for City contracts. 

 

2.5 Affordable Housing.  



The Recipient agrees to restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the 
schedule shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing 
Finance Agency or as otherwise approved by the Authority. Ongoing compliance 
monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance Agency, as provided to the City 
upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the Recipient’s compliance with this 
section.  
 

2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its 
tenants, payment of Grant Payments subsequent to the initial fifteen (15) years of the 
Grant Period shall be contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of one-million five-hundred ten 
thousand and No/100 Dollars ($1,510,000.00) since the Grant Commencement Date.  On 
each fifth anniversary of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request 
submit a report of capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant 
Commencement Date.  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to 
which Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), 
through the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the 
provisions of this Section 3. 

3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request 
to the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic and Community Development, 
the Authority, and the Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in 
Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the 
City shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment (except when all penalties and interest for 
late payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provisions of the 
Richmond City Code), of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the applicable installment and shall 
not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment (except when all penalties 
and interest for late payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision 
of the Richmond City Code) of any other taxes levied by the City for the Project. Within 
fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City shall notify 
Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant Payment for 
the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a Grant 
Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to Recipient 
but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested is 
inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the 
City’s failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including 



any necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within 
fifteen (15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds 
for the Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees, subject to any necessary 
approvals by its Board of Directors, to pay the Grant Payment to Recipient (or such party 
to which Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this 
Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from the City. 

3.4       Recipient’s Relief. Should Recipient believe the City failed to comply with 
Section 3.3 of this Agreement, Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of 
this Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment 
for a Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by the City 
Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 
 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding to the Authority on a timely basis; provided, 
however, the City’s obligation to provide funding to the Authority is subject to 
appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 
 
4.3 The Authority agrees to provide the CAO, or the designee thereof, with copies of 
all documents related to this Agreement and will keep the CAO fully and timely informed 
of all matters related to this Agreement. 
 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund [Define], to be 
used only to satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 
 
4.5        It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant as set forth in 
this Agreement. Accordingly, the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability 
whatsoever except as specifically stated in this Agreement. If litigation involving the 
Grant is initiated or expected to be filed against the Authority, the Authority shall 
immediately notify the City Attorney and CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to this Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 
 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City a blanket corporate 



fidelity bond with surety. 

Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 
 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter into this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 
 
5.3         The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 
 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 
 
5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely 
affect the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

Section 6. Default.  

6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 
Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the declaration 
of bankruptcy by the Recipient; 

6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay the annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 6.2 Effect of Event of Default. Subject to Section 6.3 below, in the case of an 
occurrence of an Event of Default, the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at 
the City’s option, terminate thirty (30) days after the City’s notice to Recipient, each Mortgagee 
and Investor, unless Recipient cures the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such 
thirty (30) days, and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further obligation relating 
thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder.   
 
 6.3 Notice and Right to Cure.  Written notice of any default by Recipient under this 
Agreement shall be provided simultaneously to any Mortgagee and Investor.  Each Mortgagee 
and the Investor shall be permitted to cure any default by Recipient under this Agreement. Such 
Mortgagees and Investor shall have the same period, after the giving of such notice upon it, for 
remedying any default or causing the same to be remedied, as is given Recipient after the giving 
of such notice to Recipient, plus an additional thirty (30) days, to remedy, commence remedying 
or cause to be remedied the defaults specified in any such notice.  If the default cannot be 
reasonably cured within thirty (30) days, then the Mortgagee or Investor, as applicable, shall have 
such additional time as it shall reasonably require so long as the Mortgagee or Investor, as 



applicable, is proceeding with reasonable diligence to cure the default.  The City and the 
Authority each agree to accept payment or performance by any Mortgagee or Investor as though 
the same had been done by Recipient. 

 Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

The Recipient shall provide, at Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of Recipient’s progress regarding completion of Project 
construction or rehabilitation and, following Project construction or rehabilitation, of Recipient’s 
continued compliance with Section 2.3 of this Agreement. 

 Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing, and 
shall be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after mailing of the same in the United 
States Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean 
return of certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to:     with a copy to: 
 
6951 Carnation Multifamily, LLC    Brian K. Jackson, Esq. 
7 East 2nd Street     Hirschler Fleischer, P.C. 
Richmond, VA 23224  2100 East Cary Street 
Attention: John Gregory    Richmond, VA 23223 
 
if to the City, to:     with a copy to: 
 
Chief Administrative Officer    Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia    City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street Suite 201   1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219     Richmond, VA 23219 
 
if to the Authority, to:     with a copy to: 
 
Economic Development Authority   City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman   City of Richmond, Virginia 
501 East Franklin Street    900 East Broad Street Suite 300 
Richmond, VA 23219     Richmond, VA 23219 
  
Section 9.General Terms and Conditions. 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in 
writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each 
Mortgage and Investor. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a 
Mortgagee or its designee upon a foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the 
Project; provided, however, that in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, 
duties, or obligations of the parties hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of 



without the prior written consent of the other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to 
give, except that Recipient may assign its right to receive payment to another entity authorized to 
transact business in Virginia by furnishing the City and the Authority with notice identifying the 
entity and providing both contact and payment information in a form acceptable to the City and 
the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) Recipient shall have the right 
to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any future owner provided the Recipient first shall 
have complied with the requirements set forth in Section 2.3.1 of this Agreement and shall have 
submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to make such assignment 
and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor shall be released from all obligations and 
liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the right to grant to a Mortgagee a 
security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder as collateral for the loan to be 
provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and any action taken by such 
Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and performance thereafter shall be 
deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have submitted to the 
City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such security interest and 
assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall 
not be unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent shall be required to the 
exercise by Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform Recipient’s 
obligations hereunder after a default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. The City 
agrees that Mortgagee shall not have any liability for any act or omission of Recipient hereunder 
and shall only be liable hereunder for obligations arising during such time as it is the owner of 
Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or 
otherwise.  For the avoidance of doubt, no transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure 
pursuant to a Mortgage and no transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its 
rights to remove the general partner or managing member of Recipient shall require notice to or 
the approval of the City or Authority. 
 
 9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 
enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceedings arising from this 
Agreement.  

 9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each  
of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 

 9.4      Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 



 9.5  Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 
the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board 
approval and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the 
parties that the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds 
available or which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no 
circumstances shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the 
total amount of funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the 
performance of this Agreement.  

 9.6 Public Disclosure. 

9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 
maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom 
of Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 
Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or 
the Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

 9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this 
Agreement shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City 
or the Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

 9.8       Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the 
City Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors.  

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to this 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to this Agreement for any purpose. 

9.10  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in Section 9.1 of this 
Agreement, the parties agree that except for any Mortgagee and Investor (i) no individual or entity 
shall be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this 
Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any 
individual or entity other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or 
entity shall obtain any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient 
under the provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be 
construed or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity.  Each 
Mortgagee and Investor shall be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement. 



9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 
the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 

  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Grant Agreement as of 
the date first written above. 

CITY OF RICHMOND, 
VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: ______________________________________  
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Authorized by Ordinance No. ____________  

Approved as to Form: 

By: ________________________  
City Attorney’s Office 

6951 Carnation Multifamily LLC, a Virginia 
limited liability Company 

By: ________________________________________  
Date 

Name: ________________________________  
Title:  _________________________________  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

By: 
Chairman Date 

Approved as to Form: 
By: _______________________  

General Counsel to the Authority 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing Schedule 
 

The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of AMI, 
according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a minimum of 
thirty (30) years.   
 
 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-235 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, Standard Development Partners 
LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of 
facilitating the construction of an affordable residential development located at 250 East German 
School Road. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

Standard Development Partners LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of 

Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential 

development located at 250 East German School Road. Such Grant Agreement shall be approved 



 2 

as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached 

to this ordinance. 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-1016

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-1016 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

08/19/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant 250 East German School RoadSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Performance Grant for an affordable housing development project at 250 East German School 

Road-Standard Development Partners, LLC-236 Units 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-1016 Ordinance - 250 E. German School 

Road AATF  signedmbp, Admin-2024-1016 250 E. 

German School Road - Grant Agreement- AATF and 

signedmbp

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1016)

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 8/20/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 8/21/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 8/19/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/21/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/22/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1016)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-1016

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: August 6, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance and 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget and Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· Standard Development Partners, LLC 

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1016)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development on 

the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by the 

Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the Recipients’ 

completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To qualify for grant 

payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential units that restrict 

occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards promulgated by the State 

Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of thirty (30) years. See 

Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the 

projected construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of 

the commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the 

commencement of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real 

estate and vastly under-values the assessment of the property at the time of commencement 

of the Grant Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the 

time of commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $3,252.00 and 

the estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period 

would be $685,415.77. As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the 

Grant Period would be $682,163.77. This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid 

to the grant Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax 

Revenue upon commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from 

the true assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant 

Period. The City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 

2024. As such a property producing $695,415.77in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1016)

would produce approximately $737,507.37 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the 

one-year Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $52,091.60 between 2023 and 2024. 

Based on recent trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of 

Richmond will continue to increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase 

is unknown at this time. This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per 

$100 of assessed value and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units that 

are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There are 

no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

STAFF: Matthew Welch,  Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1  

Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered this  day of 
          , 2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “City”), Standard Development 
Partners, LLC, a Virginia Limited Liability Company, or its assigns or successors (the “Recipient”), 
and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 

defined below. 
 

B. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

 
C. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 

Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

 
D. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 

construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, and the funds 
comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the incremental real 
estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including both the fee interest 
(and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), all as set forth 
herein. 

 
E. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 

Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

 
F. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 

obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 



2  

Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 
 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
 

1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following definitions: 

 
“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 

Statistical Area for each applicable year of the Grant Period. 
 

“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $3,252.00 per year, being the amount equal to the 
real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Effective Date. 

 
“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 

Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 
 

“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 
equal to 100% of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such corresponding tax year. The 
Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in the future be billed and due in 
installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Grant Payment” shall include 
payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each installment payment corresponding to 
the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy as prorated for the applicable installment period. 

 

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 
(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on 
time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment 
and explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period). 

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced by receipt 
of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and ending on last day of 
the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration 
Date”), subject to the provisions of Section 2.6 below. The parties acknowledge that the “Real 
Estate Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after 
the Grant Expiration Date and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means one-time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period. 

 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 

during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 



3  

Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and 
on time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below). In no event shall the Incremental Real Estate 
Tax Revenue (or the Grant Payment) include penalties, interest, or any other charges resulting from 
any delinquent payment. The Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the 
future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or 
installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

 
“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 

following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement. 
 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than residential units, subject 
to income and rent restrictions as set forth in Section 2.5 and as shown on Exhibit A and monitored 
by the State Housing Finance Agency. 

 
“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 

(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable)) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

 
“Recipient” means Standard Development Partners, LLC, and its successors and assigns, to 

the extent permitted by this Agreement. 
 

“Site” means, collectively, 15.5621 acres currently owned by Central Virginia Constructors, 
Inc., located at 250 E. German School Road Richmond, Virginia 23224 and currently referred to in 
the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. C0060925002. 

 
“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 

Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

 
Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

 
2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

 
The Recipient shall pay annually to the Authority 1% of the Grant Payment for the duration 
of the Grant Period. The Authority will invoice the Recipient on or before October 1 of each  
year  and  the  Recipient  shall  remit  payment within 30 days of issuance of the invoice. 

 
 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 

 
2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 

submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development Review no 
later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date, which Plan of Development or similar 



4  

submission shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall 
contain all elements of the Project as defined herein. 

 
2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall commence 

construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (the 
“Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the issuance of all 
permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project. 

 
2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction. The Recipient shall complete the 

Project within three years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

 
2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 

provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which the Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within 30 days of such written 
notice, then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon the 
City’s election, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further 
obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments 
hereunder. 

 
2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 
to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or otherwise 
control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in the Project to third parties 
(“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, including the rights and 
obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers ownership of the Project 
(including any leasehold interests), and (2) if the Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall 
provide the City and Authority 30 days prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership 
or control of the Project, which notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the 
name of the party or parties to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such 
party that it is aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will 
be assigned to such party. Following the transfer of ownership in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee. 

 
2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following the 

Recipient’s completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.1.3 of this 
Agreement, the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, shall continue to Maintain the Project 
until the expiration of the Grant Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Recipient’s 
obligation to Maintain the Project includes the Recipient’s ongoing compliance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 2.5 (Affordable Housing) of this Agreement. 



5  

2.4 MBE Participation. 
 

2.4.1 Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability, and competitive pricing among minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses exist, 30% of all expenditures for 
construction costs of the Project that will be paid to third-party subcontractors 
unaffiliated with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard to 
the prosecution and completion of the Project. The terms "minority business 
enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning ascribed to them in 
Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its contracts with 
all assignees, contractors, and subcontractors who will be providing any portion of the 
Project. 

 
2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the Recipient 

and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors with regard to the 
participation goals set forth above, during the period prior to completion of 
Project construction, the Recipient shall submit a report upon request detailing 
all expenditures with minority business enterprises and emerging small 
businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the business, (ii) an 
itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each item, 
(iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses and (v) the percentage of total expenditures for the 
quarter spent with minority business enterprises and emerging small 
businesses. If the City chooses, the Recipient shall submit these reports on 
forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these reports in evaluating the 
good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small business 
participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of the 
Recipient and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete for 
City contracts. 

 
2.5 Affordable Housing. 

 

The Recipient shall restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule shown 
on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency. 
Ongoing compliance monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance Agency, as 
provided to the City upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the Recipient’s 
compliance with this section. 

 
2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments after the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period shall be 
contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has at a minimum made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of [two-million three-hundred sixty 
thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,360,000.00)] since the Grant Commencement Date. On each 
fifth anniversary of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit 
a report of capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date.



6  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 
 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

 
3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic Development, the Authority, and the 
Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if the 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the 
applicable installment (except when Recipient (i) makes full payment within 60 days after 
the date such payment was due to the City and (ii) pays all penalties and interest for such 
late payment in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code) and 
shall not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment of any other taxes 
levied by the City for the Project (except when all penalties and interest for such late 
payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City 
Code). Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant 
Payment for the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a 
Grant Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to 
Recipient but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested 
is inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s 
failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any 
necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen 
(15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the 
Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees to pay the Grant Payment to the 
Recipient (or such party to which the Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to 
Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from 
the City. 

 
3.4 Recipient’s Relief. Should the Recipient believe the City failed to comply with Section 
3.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment for a 
Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

 
 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 
 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by 



7  

the City Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation is subject to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

 
4.3 The Authority agrees to  provide  the  City’s  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  or  the 
designee thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement, and will keep the 
CAO fully and timely informed of all matters related to this Agreement. 

 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 

 
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant. Accordingly, 
the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as 
specifically stated herein. If litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be 
filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and 
CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 

 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

 
Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 



8  

5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 6. Default. 

 
6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 

Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 
 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the 
declaration of bankruptcy by the Recipient. 

 
6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

 
6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
6.2 Effect of Event of Default. In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, 

the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) 
days after the City’s notice to Recipient and Recipient’s designated lender, unless Recipient cures 
the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor 
the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be 
eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient’s obligations 
hereunder will remain in force and effect throughout the Grant Period and the City shall be entitled 
to any remedies available at law and equity, including, but not limited to, specific performance. 

 
Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at the Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of the Recipient’s progress regarding the completion of Project 
construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.3 of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after the mailing of the same in the United States 
Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to with a copy to: 
 
Standard Communities Standard Communities 
1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 395 31920 Del Obispo St., Suite 155 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 San Juan Capistrano, CA 92675 
818-355-5940 949-301-9385 
Attn: Aaron Thomas Attn: Brad Martinson 
     



10  

if to the City, to with a copy to: 
 

Chief Administrative Officer Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 
if to the Authority, to with a copy to: 

 
Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

Section 9. General Terms and Conditions. 
 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the entire 
agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed 
by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and Investor. 
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee upon a 
foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that in no 
event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties hereto 
be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the other, which 
consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its right to receive 
payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing the City and the 
Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and payment information in 
a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (a) 
Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project to any future owner provided 
the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements set forth in Section 2.3.1 of this 
Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments by which it purports to 
make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the assignor shall be released from all 
obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) Recipient shall have the right to grant to a 
Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, Recipient’s rights hereunder as collateral for the 
loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the development of the Project, and any action taken by 
such Mortgagee to realize on such security interest or assignment and performance thereafter shall 
be deemed permitted under this Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have submitted to the 
City the form of all instruments by which it purports to grant such security interest and assignment 
and shall have obtained the City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  Neither the City’s nor Authority’s consent shall be required to the exercise 
by Mortgagee or any assignee of Mortgagee of its right to perform Recipient’s obligations hereunder 
after a default by Recipient under the applicable loan documents. The City agrees that Mortgagee 
shall not have any liability for any act or omission of Recipient hereunder and shall only be liable 
hereunder for obligations arising during such time as it is the owner of Recipient’s interests in the 
Site and Project pursuant to foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, no transfer by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no 
transfer of interests in Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove the general partner 



11  

or managing member of Recipient shall require notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 
 

9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 
enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceeding arising from this Development 
Agreement. 

 
9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 
 

9.4 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid, or illegal, then the enforceability, validity, and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
9.5 Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 

the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval, 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

 
9.6 Public Disclosure. 

 
9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 

maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

 
9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 

Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 
penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 
 



12  

9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.8 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the City 
Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

 
9.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed, or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; 
(ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain 
any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient under the provisions 
of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to 
confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

 
9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 

the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



13  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:    
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Authorized by Ordinance No.    

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

STANDARD DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS, a Virginia 
limited liability company 

 
 

By:    
Date 

 
Name:  
Title:     

 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
General Counsel to the Authority 

By:    
Chairman Dat



14 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing Schedule 
 
The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 
60% of AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, for a minimum of thirty (30) years. 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-236 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, Lynhaven Ridge VA LLC, and the 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of facilitating the 
construction of an affordable residential development located at 2510 Lynhaven Avenue. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Grant Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

Lynhaven Ridge VA LLC, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 

for the purpose of facilitating the construction of an affordable residential development located at 

2510 Lynhaven Avenue. The Grant Agreement shall be approved as to form by the City 

Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to this ordinance. 

§ 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption.



 2 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-1005

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-1005 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

08/19/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Performance Grant for 2510 Lynhaven AvenueSubject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-1005 WD Ordinance - Lynhaven Ridge 

Grant Agreement - AATF, Admin-2024-1005 Lynhaven 

Ridge Grant Agreement - Attachment A aatf mbp

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Michelle.Peters@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

hacknepk
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1005)

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Merrick Malone 1 8/20/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Matt Welch 2 8/21/20248/19/2024 Approve

1 Alecia Blackwell   - FYI 3 8/19/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sharon Ebert 4 8/21/20248/20/2024 Approve

1 Meghan Brown 5 8/22/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Sheila White 6 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Cynthia Osborne   - FYI 7 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Sabrina Joy-Hogg 8 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Caitlin Sedano   - FYI 9 8/21/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Jeff Gray 10 8/23/20248/21/2024 Approve

Notes: Approved: Out of Office

1 Lincoln Saunders 11 8/30/20248/21/2024 Approve

1 Mayor Stoney 12 8/30/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1005)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-1005

City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R Request 

DATE: August 5, 2024

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sabrina Joy-Hogg. DCAO - Finance & 

Administration

THROUGH: Sheila White, Director of Finance

THROUGH: Meghan Brown, Director of Budget & Strategic 

Planning

THROUGH: Sharon L. Ebert, DCAO - Planning & Economic Development Portfolio

THROUGH: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

FROM: Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

RE: Approval of a Performance Grant for an Affordable Housing Development 

Project

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE: To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) to execute, for 

and on behalf of the City of Richmond (“City”), the Grant Agreements attached hereto 

by and between the City, the Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), and the 

following recipient:

· Lynhaven Ridge VA, LLC

REASON: Council approval is necessary to authorize the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement.

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1005)

RECOMMENDATION: The City Administration recommends approval.

BACKGROUND:  In 2022, the Virginia General Assembly approved HB1194, which 

amended Ch. 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of authorizing 

industrial/economic development authorities “to make grants associated with the 

construction of affordable housing in order to promote safe and affordable housing in the 

Commonwealth.”

These Grant Agreements will induce the Recipients to construct and operate development 

projects (the “Project”) that will result in significant investment and economic development 

on the sites located at the identified addresses in Attachment A and will promote safe and 

affordable housing in the City, and result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the City and 

its inhabitants, as well as is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests:

Grant payments will be solely limited to incremental real estate tax revenues generated by 

the Project and received by the City and such payments will be conditioned upon the 

Recipients’ completion of Project construction and continued maintenance thereafter. To 

qualify for grant payments, the Projects each must include at least the number of residential 

units that restrict occupancy and rents to identified AMIs, according to standards 

promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency (i.e., Virginia Housing), for a minimum of 

thirty (30) years. See Attachment A.

FISCAL IMPACT / COST: The one-year fiscal impact is estimated based on the 

projected construction costs as a proxy for the assessed value of the property at the time of 

the commencement of the Grant Period. The current assessed value, prior to the 

commencement of the Grant Period, does not account for the development of new real 

estate and vastly under-values the assessment of the property at the time of commencement 

of the Grant Period. The true baseline for incremental tax revenues will be determined at the 

time of commencement of the Grant Period. 

The real estate tax revenue today, based on 2024 assessed value, would be $2,820.00 and 

the estimated real estate tax revenue at the time of commencement of the Grant Period 

would be $129,478.73. As such the increase from the Effective Date to the first year of the 

Grant Period would be $126,658.73. This is not the incremental increase that is to be paid 

to the grant Recipient for each year of the Grant Period. The Incremental Real Estate Tax 

Revenue upon commencement of the Grant Period can only be accurately determined from 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1005)

the true assessment value of the property at the time of the commencement of the Grant 

Period. The City of Richmond’s average assessed value increased 7.6% between 2023 and 

2024. As such a property producing $129,478.73 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2023 

would produce approximately $139,319.11 in Real Estate Tax Revenue in 2024 making the 

one-year Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue $9,840.38 between 2023 and 2024. Based 

on recent trends, it is assumed that property value assessments in the City of Richmond will 

continue to increase in the coming years. However, the future rate of increase is unknown at 

this time. This estimate was calculated at the real estate tax rate of $1.20 per $100 of 

assessed value and does not account for Special Assessment District rates.

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: The approval of this performance grant will allow the City to 

meet one of its primary affordable housing goals, to produce new affordable housing units 

that are critically needed as evidenced by the City’s declaration of a “housing crisis”.  There 

are no direct fiscal implications as the grant payments are solely limited to incremental tax 

revenues above and beyond the identified baselines of current real estate tax revenues 

received by the City for such baselines for each of the projects.

BUDGET AMENDMENT NECESSARY: None

REVENUE TO CITY: N/A

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE: Upon adoption

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE: September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA: Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE: Finance & Economic Development

CONSIDERATION BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES: N/A

AFFECTED AGENCIES: Housing & Community Development, 

Economic Development, Finance, Budget, City Attorney’s Office

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: N/A

REQUIRED CHANGES TO WORK PROGRAM(S): None

ATTACHMENTS: Grant Agreement for the proposed recipient.

Page 5City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-1005)

STAFF: Matthew Welch, Acting Director of Economic Development

Merrick Malone, Acting Director of Housing and Community Development

Page 6City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1  

Attachment A 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

This GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered this  day of 
          , 2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a municipal  
corporation  of  the  Commonwealth  of  Virginia  (the  “City”), Lynhaven Ridge VA LLC, a Virginia Limited 
Liability Company, or its assigns or successors (the “Recipient”), and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Recipient plans to develop and operate on the Site, as defined below, the Project, as 

defined below. 
 

B. The City and the Authority have determined that the Project will result in significant 
investment and economic development on the Site, will promote safe and affordable 
housing in the City of Richmond, will result in substantial benefits to the welfare of the 
City and its inhabitants, is in the public interest, and serves governmental interests. 

 
C. The City plans to fund an economic development monetary grant (the “Grant”) by the 

Authority to the Recipient for the purpose of inducing the Recipient to construct and operate 
the Project in the City of Richmond. 

 
D. Payment of the Grant will be conditioned upon the Recipient’s completion of Project 

construction and continued maintenance of the Project, as defined herein, and the funds 
comprising payments of the Grant will be solely limited to a portion of the incremental real 
estate tax revenues for the Site generated by the Project (i.e., including both the fee interest 
(and leasehold interest, if applicable) in the land and all improvements), all as set forth 
herein. 

 
E. The City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, and the 

Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement. The Authority is authorized by the Code of Virginia to 
make grants to non-public organizations such as Recipient in furtherance of the purpose of 
promoting economic development and affordable housing. 

 
F. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Recipient’s 

obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject 
to the approval of the Authority’s Board and the Richmond City Council and subject to 
appropriations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, 

and undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 
follows. 



2  

Section 1. Preliminary Provisions 
 

1.1 Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
1.2 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have 

the following definitions: 
 

“AMI” means area median gross income for the Richmond-Petersburg Metropolitan 
Statistical Area for each applicable year of the Grant Period. 

 
“Base Real Estate Tax Revenue” means $2,820.00 per year, being the amount equal to the 

real estate taxes levied on the Site for the current tax year as of the Effective Date. 
 

“Grant” means a grant to be paid to the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, by the 
Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
“Grant Payment” means, for each real estate tax year during the Grant Period, an amount 

equal to 100% of the Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for such corresponding tax year. The 
Parties acknowledge that the annual real estate tax levy is and may in the future be billed and due 
in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein “Grant Payment” shall include 
payments of Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue for each installment payment corresponding to 
the applicable Real Estate Tax Levy as prorated for the applicable installment period. 

 

“Grant Payment Request” means a written request for a Grant Payment, which shall include 
(1) documentation showing its full payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and on 
time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below), and (2) the amount of the requested Grant Payment 
and explanation of the calculation thereof (i.e., Real Estate Tax Levy minus Base Real Estate Tax 
Revenue equals Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue, as pro-rated for the applicable installment 
period). 

 
“Grant Period” means that certain period commencing upon January 1st of the first real estate 

tax year following Recipient’s completion of Project construction, as shall be evidenced by receipt 
of a temporary Certificate of Occupancy (“Grant Commencement Date”) and ending on last day of 
the thirtieth (30th) real estate tax year following the Grant Commencement Date (“Grant Expiration 
Date”), subject to the provisions of Section 2.6 below. The parties acknowledge that the “Real 
Estate Tax Levy” for the last year of the Grant Period may not be received by the City until after 
the Grant Expiration Date and that a Grant Payment shall be paid to the Recipient corresponding to 
such Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
“Grant Management Fee” means one-time non-refundable fee and an annual payment equal 

to 1% of the Grant Payment to cover the administrative expenses of the Authority for managing the 
Grant during the Grant Period. 

 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” means, for each applicable real estate tax year 

during the Grant Period, the amount by which the Real Estate Tax Levy exceeds the Base Real 



3  

Estate Tax Revenue, provided the Recipient pays the Real Estate Tax Levy to the City in full and 
on time (except as provided in Section 3.3 below). In no event shall the Incremental Real Estate 
Tax Revenue (or the Grant Payment) include penalties, interest, or any other charges resulting from 
any delinquent payment. The Parties acknowledge that the Real Estate Tax Levy is and may in the 
future be billed and due in installments (currently twice a year); therefore, as used herein 
“Incremental Real Estate Tax Revenue” shall be determined based on the applicable payment (or 
installment) of the Real Estate Tax Levy for each applicable real estate tax year. 

 
“Maintain” means the Recipient’s continued maintenance and operation of the Project 

following completion of Project construction, as set forth by Section 2.3.2 of this Agreement. 
 

“Project” means a development on the Site containing not less than residential units, 
subject to income and rent restrictions as set forth in Section 2.5 and as shown on Exhibit A and 
monitored by the State Housing Finance Agency. 

 
“Real Estate Tax Levy” means the amount of real estate taxes levied by the City on the Site 

(including both the fee interest (and leasehold interest, if applicable)) and Project (i.e., including 
land and all improvements) for a given real estate tax year, pursuant to Chapter 26 of the Code for 
the City of Richmond (“City Code”). 

 
“Recipient” means Lynhaven ridge VA, LLC and its successors and assigns, to the extent 

permitted by this Agreement. 
 

“Site” means, collectively, 4.065 acres currently owned by CITY OF RICHMOND 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, located at 2510 Lynhaven Avenue Richmond, Virginia 23234 
and currently referred to in the records of the City Assessor as Parcel Nos. S0080418001. 

 
“State Housing Finance Agency” means Virginia Housing (formerly known as Virginia 

Housing Development Authority), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or its 
successor. 

 
Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations 

 
2.1 Grant Management Fee. 

 
The  Recipient  shall  pay  annually  to  the  Authority  1%  of  the  Grant  Payment  for  
the duration of the Grant Period. The  Authority  will  invoice  the  Recipient  on  or  
before October 1 of  each  year  and  the  Recipient  shall  remit  payment within 30 days 
of issuance of the invoice. 

 

. 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline. 
 

2.2.1 Plan of Development. Recipient shall submit a Plan of Development or similar 
submission for the Project to the City’s Director of Planning and Development Review no 
later than nine (9) months after the Effective Date, which Plan of Development or similar 



4  

submission shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Richmond City Code and shall 
contain all elements of the Project as defined herein. 

 
2.2.2 Commencement of the Project Construction. Recipient shall commence 

construction of the Project within eighteen (18) months of the Effective Date, (the 
“Construction Commencement Date”), which shall be evidenced by the issuance of all 
permits necessary for the commencement of construction of the Project. 

 
2.2.3 Completion of Project Construction. The Recipient shall complete the 

Project within three years of the Construction Commencement Date, which shall be 
evidenced by the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy for the Project. 

 
2.2.4 Failure to Comply. If the Recipient fails to timely comply with any of the 

provisions of this Section 2.2 then the City’s Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”), in his 
sole discretion, may either extend the time by which the Recipient must comply with the 
corresponding requirement or provide written notice of the City’s intent to terminate this 
Agreement. If Recipient fails to cure its failure to comply within 30 days of such written 
notice, then this Agreement, including all rights and obligations herein, shall, upon the 
City’s election, terminate and neither the City nor the Authority shall have any further 
obligation to the Recipient and Recipient shall no longer be eligible for any Grant Payments 
hereunder. 

 
2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project. 

2.3.1 Continued Control of the Project by Recipient. Recipient shall continue to 
own, lease, or otherwise control the Site until completion of Project construction pursuant 
to Section 2.2.3 of this Agreement and thereafter shall continue to own, lease, or otherwise 
control the Project until expiration of the Grant Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Recipient may transfer the ownership or control interest in the Project to third parties 
(“Transferee”), and Recipient may (1) assign this Agreement, including the rights and 
obligations herein to such party or parties at the time it transfers ownership of the Project 
(including any leasehold interests), and (2) if the Agreement is assigned, Recipient shall 
provide the City and Authority 30 days prior written notice of its intent to transfer ownership 
or control of the Project, which notice shall include the contemplated date of transfer, the 
name of the party or parties to which it intends to transfer, and a written statement from such 
party that it is aware that this Agreement, including the rights and obligations herein, will 
be assigned to such party. Following the transfer of ownership in the Project to the 
Transferee as provided above, the term “Recipient” as used herein shall mean the 
Transferee. 

 
2.3.2 Continued Maintenance and Operation of the Project. Following the 

Recipient’s completion of Project construction as set forth in Section 2.1.3 of this 
Agreement, the Recipient, or its successors or assigns, shall continue to Maintain the Project 
until the expiration of the Grant Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Recipient’s 
obligation to Maintain the Project includes the Recipient’s ongoing compliance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 2.5 (Affordable Housing) of this Agreement. 



5  

2.4 MBE Participation. 
 

2.4.1 Goal. The Recipient agrees to diligently work towards the following goal: 
Where capacity, capability, and competitive pricing among minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses exist, 30% of all expenditures for 
construction costs of the Project that will be paid to third-party subcontractors 
unaffiliated with the Recipient will be spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses that perform commercially useful functions with regard 
to the prosecution and completion of the Project. The terms "minority business 
enterprise" and “emerging small business” have the meaning ascribed to them in 
Chapter 21 of the City Code. The Recipient shall include this goal in its contracts 
with all assignees, contractors, and subcontractors who will be providing any portion 
of the Project. 

 
2.4.2 Reporting. To enable the City to measure the achievements of the Recipient 

and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors with regard to the 
participation goals set forth above, during the period prior to completion of 
Project construction, the Recipient shall submit a report upon request 
detailing all expenditures with minority business enterprises and emerging 
small businesses, showing, at a minimum, (i) the name of the business, (ii) 
an itemization of what the business provided, (iii) the amount paid for each 
item, (iv) the total amount of spending to date with minority business 
enterprises and emerging small businesses and (v) the percentage of total 
expenditures for the quarter spent with minority business enterprises and 
emerging small businesses. If the City chooses, the Recipient shall submit 
these reports on forms prescribed by the City. The City will use these reports 
in evaluating the good faith minority business enterprise and emerging small 
business participation efforts, as defined in Section 21-4 of the City Code, of 
the Recipient and its assignees, contractors, and subcontractors that compete 
for City contracts. 

 
2.5 Affordable Housing. 

 

The Recipient shall restrict occupancy and rents of the Project according to the schedule 
shown on Exhibit A, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance 
Agency. Ongoing compliance monitoring and approvals by the State Housing Finance 
Agency, as provided to the City upon the City’s request, shall serve as evidence of the 
Recipient’s compliance with this section. 

 
2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements 

 

For purposes of continued investment and upkeep of the Project to the benefit of its tenants, 
payment of Grant Payments after the initial fifteen (15) years of the Grant Period shall be 
contingent upon receipt of proof that the Recipient has at a minimum made capital 
improvements to the Project in an aggregate amount of [five-hundred thousand and 
No/100 Dollars ($500,000.00)] since the Grant Commencement Date. On each fifth 
anniversary of the Grant Commencement Date, the Recipient shall upon request submit a 
report of capital improvements made to the Project since the Grant Commencement Date. 



6  

Section 3. Disbursement of Grant. 
 

3.1. Grant. During the Grant Period, the City shall pay to Recipient (or such party to which 
Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Agreement), through 
the Authority, the Grant Payments for such real estate tax year subject to the provisions of 
this Section 3. 

 
3.2. Grant Payment Requests. The Recipient shall submit each Grant Payment Request to 
the CAO, with copies to the Department of Economic Development, the Authority, and the 
Office of the City Attorney at the respective addresses set forth in Section 8. 

 
3.3. Disbursement of Grant Payment. Upon receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall review the accuracy of the request. The City shall not make a Grant Payment if the 
Recipient did not make full and timely payment of the Real Estate Tax Levy for the 
applicable installment (except when Recipient (i) makes full payment within 60 days after 
the date such payment was due to the City and (ii) pays all penalties and interest for such 
late payment in accordance with any applicable provisions of the Richmond City Code) and 
shall not make a Grant Payment if Recipient is delinquent in payment of any other taxes 
levied by the City for the Project (except when all penalties and interest for such late 
payment have been paid in accordance with any applicable provision of the Richmond City 
Code). Within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a Grant Payment Request, the City 
shall notify Recipient either that (1) the City denies the request and will not make a Grant 
Payment for the foregoing reasons, (2) the City approves the request and intends to make a 
Grant Payment in the amount requested, or (3) the City approves making a payment to 
Recipient but in a different amount than the amount requested because the amount requested 
is inconsistent with this Agreement, in which case the City shall indicate the correct Grant 
Payment amount it intends to make. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s failure to 
respond within fifteen (15) business days shall not constitute approval of a requested Grant 
Payment and the Recipient shall not be entitled to any such payment due solely to the City’s 
failure to timely respond. Subject to any necessary City Council action, including any 
necessary budget amendment or appropriation of funds, the City agrees to, within fifteen 
(15) business days of the City’s approval of any Grant Payment, transfer the funds for the 
Grant Payment to the Authority. The Authority agrees to pay the Grant Payment to the 
Recipient (or such party to which the Recipient has assigned Grant Payments pursuant to 
Section 9.1 of this Agreement), within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the funds from 
the City. 

 
3.4 Recipient’s Relief. Should the Recipient believe the City failed to comply with 
Section 3.3 of this Agreement, the Recipient may seek relief in accordance with Section 9.2 
of this Agreement. Provided, however, Recipient’s sole remedy shall be to receive payment 
for a Grant Payment to which it was entitled (subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, Sections 3.3 and 9.5) and for which it did not 
receive payment. 

 
 

Section 4. General Administration of Grant 
 

4.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by 



7  

the City Council, the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement relating to the Grant. No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
4.2 The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially 
conditioned upon the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the 
City’s obligation is subject to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

 
4.3 The Authority agrees to  provide  the  City’s  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  or  
the designee thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement, and will keep 
the CAO fully and timely informed of all matters related to this Agreement. 

 
4.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority 
for the Grant shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to 
satisfy the obligations contained in this Agreement related to the Grant. 

 
4.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, 
duty, or obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant. Accordingly, 
the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as 
specifically stated herein. If litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be 
filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and 
CAO. 

 
4.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related 
to the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The City 
Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under 
this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to ensure that the City Auditor is granted 
reasonable access on a timely basis to all books and records of the Authority necessary to 
complete such audits. 

 
4.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with a blanket corporate 
fidelity bond with surety. 

 
Section 5. Representations of the Recipient 

 

5.1 The Recipient is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound 
hereby, and to perform according to the terms hereof. 

 
5.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Recipient to enter this 
Agreement, and to be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

 
5.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this 
Agreement on behalf of the Recipient has or have been duly authorized and empowered to 
so execute or attest. 

 
5.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Recipient will bind and 
obligate the Recipient to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 



8  

5.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Recipient or to the Recipient’s 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect 
the ability of the Recipient to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereunder. 

 
Section 6. Default. 

 
6.1 Events of Default. Each of the following events (hereinafter called an “Event of 

Default”) shall be a default hereunder by the Recipient as described: 
 

6.1.1 Failure by the Recipient to maintain its corporate existence or the 
declaration of bankruptcy by the Recipient. 

 
6.1.2 The failure of Recipient to comply with Section 2 of this Agreement; and 

 
6.1.3 The failure of Recipient to pay annual Real Estate Tax Levy. 

 
6.2 Effect of Event of Default. In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Default, 

the Grant provisions of Section 3 of this Agreement shall, at the City’s option, terminate ninety (90) 
days after the City’s notice to Recipient and Recipient’s designated lender, unless Recipient cures 
the Event of Default to the City’s satisfaction within such ninety (90) days, and neither the City nor 
the Authority shall have any further obligation relating thereto and the Recipient shall no longer be 
eligible for any Grant Payments hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Recipient’s obligations 
hereunder will remain in force and effect throughout the Grant Period and the City shall be entitled 
to any remedies available at law and equity, including, but not limited to, specific performance. 

 
Section 7. Recipient Reporting. 

 

The Recipient shall provide, at the Recipient’s expense, detailed updates and verification 
reasonably satisfactory to the City of the Recipient’s progress regarding the completion of Project 
construction and, following Project construction, of Recipient’s continued compliance with Section 
2.3 of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Notices. 
 

Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be given in writing and shall 
be deemed to be received upon receipt or refusal after the mailing of the same in the United States 
Mail by certified mail, postage fully pre-paid or by overnight courier (refusal shall mean return of 
certified mail or overnight courier package not accepted by the addressee): 

 
if to the Recipient, to with a copy to: 

 
Lynhaven Ridge VA LLC    The Pryzwansky Law Firm 
Attn: Jen Surber     Attn: David Pryzwansky 
120 Green Tree Circle    1130 Situ Court, Suite 244 
Bristol, VA 24201     Raleigh, NC 27606 



10  

if to the City, to with a copy to: 
 

Chief Administrative Officer Department of Economic Development 
City of Richmond, Virginia City of Richmond, Virginia 
900 East Broad Street, 14th Floor 1500 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

 
 

if to the Authority, to with a copy to: 
 

Economic Development Authority City Attorney 
of Richmond VA – Attn: Chairman City of Richmond, Virginia 
1500 East Main Street 900 East Broad Street Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219 

Section 9. General Terms and Conditions. 
 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, 
signed by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written consent of each Mortgage and 
Investor. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors and assigns, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or its designee 
upon a foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure of the Site or the Project; provided, however, that 
in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties, or obligations of the parties 
hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the 
other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to give, except that Recipient may assign its 
right to receive payment to another entity authorized to transact business in Virginia by furnishing 
the City and the Authority with notice identifying the entity and providing both contact and 
payment information in a form acceptable to the City and the Authority. Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary herein, (a) Recipient shall have the right to assign its interest in the Site and Project 
to any future owner provided the Recipient first shall have complied with the requirements set 
forth in Section 2.3.1 of this Agreement and shall have submitted to the City the form of all 
instruments by which it purports to make such assignment and shall have obtained the City’s prior 
written approval thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, in which event the 
assignor shall be released from all obligations and liabilities under this Agreement; and (b) 
Recipient shall have the right to grant to a Mortgagee a security interest in, and assignment of, 
Recipient’s rights hereunder as collateral for the loan to be provided by such Mortgagee for the 
development of the Project, and any action taken by such Mortgagee to realize on such security 
interest or assignment and performance thereafter shall be deemed permitted under this 
Agreement, provided the Recipient first shall have submitted to the City the form of all instruments 
by which it purports to grant such security interest and assignment and shall have obtained the 
City’s prior written approval thereof, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Neither 
the City’s nor Authority’s consent shall be required to the exercise by Mortgagee or any assignee 
of Mortgagee of its right to perform Recipient’s obligations hereunder after a default by Recipient 
under the applicable loan documents. The City agrees that Mortgagee shall not have any liability 
for any act or omission of Recipient hereunder and shall only be liable hereunder for obligations 
arising during such time as it is the owner of Recipient’s interests in the Site and Project pursuant 
to foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise.  For the avoidance of doubt, no transfer by 



11  

foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure pursuant to a Mortgage and no transfer of interests in 
Recipient or the exercise by Investor of its rights to remove the general partner or managing 
member of Recipient shall require notice to or the approval of the City or Authority. 

 
9.2 Governing Law; Venue. All issues and questions concerning the construction, 

enforcement, interpretation, and validity of this Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or 
provisions, whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause 
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
All disputes, claims, and causes of action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, or 
any performances made hereunder, shall be brought, and any judicial proceeding shall take place, 
only in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall be responsible for its 
own attorneys’ fees in the event of any litigation or other proceeding arising from this Development 
Agreement. 

 
9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument. 
 

9.4 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 
unenforceable, invalid, or illegal, then the enforceability, validity, and legality of the remaining 
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 
restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
9.5 Subject-to-Appropriations. All payments and other performances by the City and 

the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval, 
and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

 
9.6 Public Disclosure. 

 
9.6.1 Applicable Law. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records 

maintained by or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the 
Virginia Public Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-37 14 and thus are subject to the records 
retention and public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

 
9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure. If a party submitting records to the City or the 

Authority requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the 
Authority consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting 
party’s request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is 
challenged in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the 
Authority, their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and 



12  

penalties (including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 
 

9.7 No Waiver. Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any 
covenant or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement 
shall discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the 
Authority to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.8 Effective Date of the Agreement. The effective date of this Agreement shall be 
the date upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by the City 
Council and by the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

 
9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture. It is mutually understood and agreed that 

nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

 
9.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed, or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; 
(ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity 
other than the City, the Authority, or the Recipient; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain 
any right to make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Recipient under the provisions 
of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to 
confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

 
9.11 Signature Authority. Except as specifically otherwise set forth in this Agreement, 

the CAO or the designee thereof may provide any authorization, approvals, and notices 
contemplated herein on behalf of the City. 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



13  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 
a municipal corporation of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 

By:    
J.E. Lincoln Saunders Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Authorized by Ordinance No.    

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
City Attorney’s Office 

 
 

  , a Virginia limited liability company 
 
 

By:    
Date 

 
Name:  
Title:     

 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia 

 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 

By:  
General Counsel to the Authority 

By:    
Chairman Date



14  

EXHIBIT A 
 

Affordable Housing Schedule 
 

The Project shall restrict occupancy and rents to an average income designation of 60% of 
AMI, according to standards promulgated by the State Housing Finance Agency, for a 
minimum of thirty (30) years



15 
 

 
 



EDA July Financial Report 



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT

T



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT

Type text here



DRAFT



EDA August Financial Report 



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



EDA FY24 Audit 



 

Economic Development Authority of 
the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of 

Richmond, Virginia) 
Financial Report 

June 30, 2024 

DRAFTpment Authoritment Au
Richmond, VirgRichmond, V

onent Unit of thet Unit of the
Richmond, VirgiRichmond, V

FRiiRnnRAaaRAnnRAccRAiiRAaaRAllRARRA
JRuRnReR3R



 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Contents 
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................. 1 

Management's Discussion and Analysis ................................................................... 4 

Basic Financial Statements 

Government-Wide Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position  .............................................................................................. 7 
Statement of Activities .................................................................................................... 8 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements: 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Fund and Reconciliation of Governmental Fund  
 Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position ........................................................... 9 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental  
 Fund and Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes  
    in Fund Balance of Governmental Fund to Statement of Activities .......................... 10 

Enterprise Funds Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position - Enterprise Funds ............................................................... 11 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position –  
  Enterprise Funds  ......................................................................................................... 13 
Statement of Cash Flows – Enterprise Funds ................................................................ 14 
Notes to Financial Statements ....................................................................................... 16  

Compliance Section 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .......................... 28 

Summary of Compliance Matters .......................................................................... 30 

Schedule of Findings and Responses ..................................................................... 31 

Corrective Action Plan ............................................................................................ 33 

DRAFT..........................................................
.................................................................................

conciliation of Governmental Fonciliation of Go
Position ...................................................

s and Changes in Fs and Changes in Fund Balance und
atemenement of Revenues, Expendt of Revenues, Expe

ental Fund to Statement und to Statement of ActAct

Statements: Statements: 
ionion - Enterprise Funds ............. - Enterprise Funds .

nues, Expenses nues, Expenses and Changes inand Changes 
ds  ........................................................................................

f Cash Flows ws – Enterprise– Ent  Fundd
Financial Financial Statements ...............Statements ...

CoCo

ndent Auditor’s Reportndent Auditor’s Rep
ce and Other Matce and Other Ma

 Accordanc Accordanc

plipli



 
www.becpas.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors and Management of 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 
Richmond, Virginia 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, and each major fund of the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(the “Authority”), a component unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major 
fund of the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia, as of June 30, 2024, and 
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, and Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Boards, and 
Commissions issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia, and to meet our ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and  for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

he governmental activities, the bu
ment Authority of the City of Richm

mond, Virginia, as o
ts, which coll

erred to nt faferred to above present faerred to nt faerred to above present fai
ntal activities, the business-ty
of the City of Richmond, V

, wh re applicable, ca
unting principles generally

t in accordance with auditing stan
licable to financial audits c

oller General of the Un
s issued by the Auditor 

bilities under those standards are f
Financial Statements section of ou

ment Authority of the C
with the relevant et

ave obtained is su

f Man



2 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

ial stat
o issue 

e but is not a
e with generally 

t a m ement a m tement a m emenct a material misstatemen
from fraud is higher than for o

entional omissions misr resentati
ed ma there 

judgment mad

h dih ll t d dih dih generally accepted auditin

ntain professional skep
risks of material misstatem

nd design and perform a
e examining, on a test basis, ev

ateme
rstanding of internal control 

e appropria
on on the effectiveness 

pressed
Evaluate the appropriateness of a

gaccounting estimates made by mgg
nancia

clude whether, in ou
se substantial d

e period of



3 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management, and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated ENTER DATE, 
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Newport News, VA 
ENTER DATE 

al, ec
ppleme

es of A
informatio

uiries, the basic fi
financial statements. W

ause the limited ocedures d
e any assuranc

Auditing Stand

dar also iss
rnal cont ncialrnal control over financialrnal cont ncialrnal control over financial r

reg lations, contracts, and 
des the scope of our
lts of that testing, and

 internal control over fina
performed in accordance wi

ontrol over financial reporting a

BLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

t Newort Newt Newt New D TE 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2024 

4 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the financial performance of the Economic Development Authority of the City 
of Richmond, Virginia (the “Authority”) provides an overview of the financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
It should be read in conjunction with the financial statements. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The Authority receives operating funds from the rental of a parking garage, manages the operations of the training facility 
on Leigh Street, and leases certain property under a capital lease arrangement for the operation and future expansion of 
a brewery. It also manages loan portfolios of the City of Richmond, Virginia. 

Government-Wide Statement of Net Position  

Following is a condensed statement of net position showing the net position of the Authority at June 30: 
 Governmental Activities   Business-Type Activities   Total  
 6/30/2024   6/30/2023   6/30/2024   6/30/2023   6/30/2024   6/30/2023  

 Assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents $ -     $ -     $ 50,188,977 $ 10,632,851 $ 50,188,977 $ 10,632,851 
  Capital assets, net  142,165  142,165  12,071,980  12,422,400  12,214,145  12,564,565 
  Property held for sale  -      -      16,966,867  13,173,607  16,966,867  13,173,607 
  Other assets  -      -      29,870,552  30,061,985  29,870,552  30,061,985 
 Total assets $ 142,165 $ 142,165 $109,098,376 $ 66,290,843 $109,240,541 $ 66,433,008 
 Liabilities: 
  Current and other liabilities $ -     $ -     $ 40,865,831 $ 1,038,620 $ 40,865,831 $ 1,038,620 
   Lease payable  -      -      1,469,283  1,469,283  1,469,283  1,469,283 
  Recoverable grant payable  -      -      22,860,000  23,635,000  22,860,000  23,635,000 
  Total liabilities  -      -      65,195,114  26,142,903  65,195,114  26,142,903 
 Deferred inflows of  

resources  -      -      -      54,295  -      54,295 
 Net position  142,165  142,165  43,903,262  40,093,645  44,045,427  40,235,810 
 Total liabilities, deferred 
  inflow of resources, and 
  net position $ 142,165 $ 142,165 $109,098,376 $ 66,290,843 $109,240,541 $ 66,433,008 

There was an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $39,556,126 primarily due to the restricted cash related to the total 
proceeds of the bonds that were placed into an account with the Authority’s name for the Diamond District Project.  

There was a decrease in net capital assets of $350,420, primarily due to depreciation/amortization. 

There was an increase in property held for sale due to the investment in the Diamond District, whereas, the Authority has 
recorded the value of the property from the City’s records and expenses paid by the Authority to Navigators Baseball for 
the Diamond District project.  

There was a decrease in other assets of $191,433, which is primarily due to the write-offs of approximately $156,000 of 
loans and $74,000 of interest for the CAP and CRLF funds.  

There was an increase in current liabilities and other liabilities of $39,827,211, primarily due to the debt related to the 
Revenue Bond, Series 2024, issued in June 2024 for the Diamond District Project.  

es the operationes the 
fofor the operation and r the ope

net position of the Authority at Junnet position of the Authority at Jun
siness-Type Activities   -Type Activities 

AFTFT
6/30/2024   6/30/2023   6/30/2 6/30/2

AFAFF $ 50,188,977 $ 10,632,851 $ $ 50,188,977 $ 10,632,8
165  12, 12,071,980  12,422,400 071,980  12,422,400
-      16,966,867  13,173,607 16,966,867  13,173,607
-      29, 29 870,552  30,061,,552  30,061

RARAA$ 142,165 $109,098,376 $ 66,29142,165 $109,098,376 $ 66,29

RARARARAAA  $ -     $ 40,865,831 $  $ -     $ 40,865
-      -      1,469,283 -      -      1,469,2
-      -    -      -      22,860,00  22,860,0RRARA-      -      65,195-      -      65,195

 -      -       -      
 142,165  142,165  142,165  14

DRDRferred ferred 
rces, and rces, a

$ 142,165 $ 14 $DDDDe in cash and cash eqe in cash and cash eq
hat were placehat were place

apitapit



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2024 

5 

There was a decrease in the recoverable grant payable of $775,000, due to the payments made on the recoverable grant 
payable to the City of Richmond related to the Stone Brewery project. 

Government-Wide Statement of Activities 

Condensed statements of activities for fiscal years ended June 30 are as follows:  
 Governmental Activities   Business-Type Activities   Total  
 6/30/2024   6/30/2023   6/30/2024   6/30/2023   6/30/2024   6/30/2023  

 Revenues: 
  Grant from the City  
    of Richmond $ -     $ -     $ 4,271,515 $ 1,085,881 $ 4,271,515 $ 1,085,881 
  Rental income  -      -      789,090  779,146  789,090  779,146 
  Loan administration fees  -      -      112,000  36,250  112,000  36,290 
  Bond and other fees  -      -      20,000  8,449  20,000  8,449 
  Loan program income  -      -      418,158  440,544  418,158  440,544 
  Interest on notes receivable -      -      1,056,651  1,285,082  1,056,651  1,285,082 
  Other  -      -      2,035,302  14,012,041  2,035,302  14,012,041 
 Total revenues  -      -      8,702,716  17,647,393  8,702,716  17,647,393 
 Expenses: 
  Economic development  
    incentives  -      -      1,081,515  817,756  1,081,515  817,756 
  Grant repaid to the State  -      -      -      818,125  -      818,125 
  Other grants and rebates  -      -      -      286,385  -      286,385 
  Building operations and  
    maintenance  -      -      321,383  332,614  321,383  332,614 
  Depreciation  -      -      395,678  350,127  395,678  350,127 
  Interest  -      -      731,307  752,867  752,867  752,867 
  Other  -      -      2,363,216  813,185  2,363,216  813,185 
 Total expenses  -      -      4,893,099  4,171,059  4,893,099  4,171,059 
Change in net position $ -     $ -     $ 3,809,617 $ 13,476,334 $ 3,809,617 $ 13,476,334 

Grant revenue from the City and other grants was more than grant expenses from prior year due to $1,500,000 being paid 
to the Authority for the creation of a Community Development Financial Institution Fund from the City, which is intended 
to help lend money to small businesses, and the Authority receiving $1,200,000 from the City for the second-floor 
improvements of the training center. Additionally, the City provided $400,000 to the Authority to fund the Enterprise Zone 
program, which is administered by the Authority under a Cooperative Agreement to help encourage job creation, private 
investment and commercial development in the City.   

There was a decrease in other revenue of $11,976,739 primarily due to the Coliseum and surrounding properties being 
contributed from the City and the Richmond Redevelopment Housing Authority to the Authority in the prior year as part 
of a redevelopment project. In the current year the City conveyed six parcels of real estate which also included a portion 
of the redevelopment project known as the “Diamond District” to the Authority for a total of $1,298,124 of contributed 
capital. 

The Authority has maintained its lending programs, which are operated in coordination with the City of Richmond’s 
Department of Economic Development. Operational costs of the programs are covered by the City. Any losses sustained 
in the lending programs are absorbed by the City or the relevant funding partner. The Authority receives fees adequate 
to cover its costs as well as audit fees associated with these activities. In summary, the outlook for the lending programs 
is favorable. The Authority can reasonably expect that its costs will continue to be covered. 

DRAFT  To  TT023   6/30/2024   023   6/3 TTT$ 1,085,881 $ 4,271,515 $ 1,$ 1,085,881 $ 4,271,515 
 779,146  789,090   779,146  789,090 

000  36,250  112,000 000  36,250  112,000 
0,000  8,449  20,000 ,000  8,449

418,158  440,544  418,158  440,5
1,056,651  1,285,082  1,05 1,28

 2,035,302  14,012,041  2 2,035,302  14,01

AFAFF  8,702,716  17,647,393   8,702,716  17,647,3

AAFAF-      1,081,515  817, 1,081,515  817
-      -      81-      -      81

 -      -       -      

-      -      321,383 -      -      321,
-      -      395,67-      -      395,6
-      -      731-      -      731
-      -      2,3-      -      2,3

DRDRR -      -       -      

DRDRR$ -     $ -     $$ -     $ 

DRDRDRDRfrom the City and other grants was mfrom the City and other grants was m
y for the creation of a Communityy for the creation of a Com

ney to small businesses, anney to small businesses
training center. Addittraining center. Add

nistered by the nistered by the 
al developal develop



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2024 

6 

Accomplishments and Economic Outlook 

During the fiscal year that ended June 30, 2024, the Authority supported the work of the City's Department of Economic 
Development to attract over $395.5 million in announced capital investment and 275 announced new jobs to the City. 
The Authority’s administration of both local and state discretionary performance incentives assists in making these 
accomplishments possible.  

Highlights: 

 To encourage job creation and commercial revitalization in Richmond, the Authority disbursed approximately 
$567,000 in City funds through the Enterprise Zone and CARE Programs. A significant portion of the funds were 
awarded to small businesses that provide critical jobs and the products and services that make Richmond 
unique.  

 The Diamond District project that will redevelop 67 acres of publicly owned land into a new mixed-use, mixed-
income neighborhood anchored by a new minor league baseball stadium achieved significant milestones. The 
City and the Authority moved forward with components of a new financing plan and related bond sales, which 
will reduce costs by an estimated $215 million over 30 years, and approved the Diamond District 
Redevelopment Project Purchase and Sale and Development Agreement. The stadium's groundbreaking 
occurred in Q1 FY 2025 and is on track to be delivered in time for the 2026 baseball season.  

 Following the passage of enabling state legislation (HB 1194), the City and the Authority launched Richmond's 
new Affordable Housing Performance Grant program to incentivize the construction of new quality affordable 
housing – an essential component of a thriving local economy. During FY24, this financing tool has aided the 
advancement of affordable housing projects that will produce nearly 1,300 new affordable housing units in the 
City. Heavy demand for this new program is expected in FY 2025. 

 In January, the City and the Authority celebrated the groundbreaking of the Richmond Riverfront Performing 
Arts Venue, the $30.5M, 7,500-person capacity amphitheater on the Downtown riverfront, which is expected to 
be completed in 2025. 

Looking to FY 2025, the Authority will continue to support economic development efforts across the City through 
supporting key, transformational redevelopment projects, partnering to advance affordable housing projects, encouraging 
small business and entrepreneurship through its incentives and loan programs, and helping Richmond attract and retain 
businesses.    

Requests for information 

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances. Any questions regarding this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Authority at 1500 East Main Street, 
Suite 400, Richmond, Virginia 23219. 

 

DRAFT
centicent

ond, the Authority disbursed apond, the Authority di
rograms. A significant portion of therograms. A significant port

e products and services that make Re products and services that ma

res of publicly owned land into a newes of publicly owned
ague baseball stadium achieved signaseball stadium

ponents of a new financing plan andnew finaf
n over 30 years, and approved the Dn over 30 years, and appro

and Development Agreement. The nd Development Agreement. T
to be delivered in time for the 2026 elivered in time for the 2026 

ate legislation (HB 1194), the City anon (HB 1194), the City a
ance Grant program to innce Grant program to incentivize thcentivize th

nent of a thriving local ecnent of a thriving local economy. Duo
housing prhousi ojects that will produce njects that will pro

this new program is expected in FY 2this new program is expected in F
nd the Authority celebrated the grouthe Authority celebrated the grou

30.5M, 7,500-person capacity amphi,500-person capacity amphi
n 2025. n 2025. 

25, the Authority will continue to25, the Authority will continue
, transformational redevelopment p, transformational redevelopment p
and entrepreneurship through itand entrepreneurship thro

tion tion 

dd



 

Government-Wide 
Financial Statements 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2024

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) -$                  13,447,624$    13,447,624$    
Restricted Cash (Note 4) -                     36,741,353 36,741,353      
Accounts receivable -                     86,757 86,757              
Due from the City (Note 13) -                     30,135              30,135              
Due from Stone Brewery -                     35,846              35,846              
Due from Operating -                     1,203,110         1,203,110         
Other current assets -                     8,981                8,981                
Financed purchase notes receivable,
  current portion (Note 5) -                     647,078            647,078            

Total current assets -                     52,200,884      52,200,884      
NONCURRENT ASSETS

Nondepreciable capital assets (Note 7) 142,165            1,490,463         1,632,628         
Depreciable capital assets, net (Note 7) -                     10,581,517      10,581,517      
Property held for sale (Note 8) -                     16,966,867      16,966,867      
Financed purchase notes receivable,
  less current portion (Note 5) -                     18,139,379      18,139,379      
Loans receivable, net (Note 11) -                     7,896,676         7,896,676         
Accrued interest receivable -                     1,822,590         1,822,590         

Total noncurrent assets 142,165            56,897,492      57,039,657      
Total assets 142,165$          109,098,376$  109,240,541$  

LIABILITIES  
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable -$                  933,823$          933,823$          
Bond issuance cost payable (Note 16) -                     594,742 594,742            
Due to the City (Note 13) -                     33,649              33,649              
Due to Leigh Street -                     1,203,110         1,203,110         
Due to Operating -                     35,846              35,846              
Accrued interest payable -                     95,542              95,542              
Deposits and reserves -                     152,796            152,796            
Deferred revenue -                     207,103            207,103            
Current portion of recoverable grant payable (Note 15) -                     775,000            775,000            

Total current liabilities -                     4,031,611         4,031,611         
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
   Lease liability (Note 9) -                     1,469,283         1,469,283         

Recoverable grants payable (Note 15) -                     22,860,000      22,860,000      
Bond payable (Note 16) -                     33,745,000      33,745,000      
Premium on bonds -                     3,089,220         3,089,220         

Total noncurrent liabilities -                     61,163,503      61,163,503      
Total liabilities -                     65,195,114      65,195,114      

NET POSITION
    Net investment in capital assets 142,165            4,602,697         4,744,862         
    Restricted -                     8,539,766         8,539,766         
    Unrestricted -                     30,760,799      30,760,799      

Total net position 142,165            43,903,262      44,045,427      
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 

resources and net position 142,165$          109,098,376$  109,240,541$  

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 7

DRAFT
36,36,

8
30,1                
35,846                    

-  1,203,110-  1,
-       -       8,981                        

-                        647,07847,078           
-                     52,200,884-                     52,200,884

142,16542,165                    1,490         
-                     10,5                 
-                     1            

-                     -                     
-                     -                     
-                     -                     

14242            
1$          

le (Note 16)ote 16)
3)

st payablest paya
d reservesd reser
enueenue

of recoverable grant payaof recoverable grant pa
liabilitiesliabilit

ESES

e (Noe (No

FTFTFTFT
AAAA



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Rental and lease income -$                  789,090$          789,090$          
Loan administration and other fees -                     112,000            112,000            
Bond and other fees -                     20,000              20,000              
Loan program income -                     418,158            418,158            
Other -                     213,119            213,119            

Total operating revenues -                     1,552,367         1,552,367         
OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel -                     97,075              97,075              
Professional services -                     52,316              52,316              
Internet and telephone services -                     11,362              11,362              
Building operations and maintenance -                     321,383            321,383            
Bad debt expense -                     213,205            213,205            
Other -                     1,189,560         1,189,560         
Loan administrative fees -                     88,089              88,089              
Loan fund expense -                     24,000              24,000              
Depreciation -                     395,678            395,678            

Total operating expenses -                     2,392,668         2,392,668         
Operating loss -                     (840,301)           (840,301)           

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Grants from the City of Richmond (Note 13) -                     4,271,515         4,271,515         
Economic development incentives (Note 13) -                     (1,081,515)       (1,081,515)       
Other grants and rebates (Note 11) -                     159,653            159,653            
Contributed capital (Note 8) -                     1,298,124         1,298,124         
Contribution from the City (Note 13) -                     300,000            300,000            
Interest on notes receivable -                     1,056,651         1,056,651         
Interest expense -                     (731,307)           (731,307)           
Interest income -                     64,406              64,406              
Bond issuance cost (Note 16) -                     (687,609)           (687,609)           

Total non-operating revenues -                     4,649,918         4,649,918         
Change in net position -                     3,809,617         3,809,617         

NET POSITION
Beginning of year 142,165            40,093,645      40,235,810      
End of year 142,165$          43,903,262$    44,045,427$    

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 8

DRAFT
                 

418                 
213,11               

- 1,552,367-

-                97,07597                     
-                      52,31652,31              
-                           11,3621,362              
-                          321,38383            
-                     -                     213,            
-                     1,18-                    
-                                     
-                     -          
-                     -   
-                     -                     
-                     -                     

ote 13)ote 13)               
s (Note 13)s (Note 13)          

 11) 11)    

y (Note 13)ote 13)
vable

cost (Note 16)cost (N
on-operating revenueson-operating revenues
in net positionin net p

TTTT
AFAFA



 

Governmental Fund 
Financial Statements



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Balance Sheet - Governmental Fund
June 30, 2024

Theater Fund
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents -$                  
FUND BALANCE 

Unassigned -$                  

Reconciliation of Governmental Fund Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position

Total fund balance per Governmental Fund Balance Sheet -$                  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 

net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current  
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the fund:

Capital assets, cost 14,512,067      
Accumulated depreciation (14,369,902)     

142,165            
Net position of governmental activities 142,165$          

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 9

DRAFTe Statement of e Statem

$  

nt  nt  
e fund:e fund T



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - 
Governmental Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Theater Fund
OPERATING REVENUES

Naming rights fees -$                  
OPERATING EXPENDITURES

Restoration grant -                     
Change in fund balance -                     

FUND BALANCE
Beginning of year -                     
End of year -$                  

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
  Fund Balance of Governmental Fund to Statement of Activities

Change in fund balance, total governmental fund -$                  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 

activities are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, 
in the statement of activities, the cost of these assets is allocated over   
their estimated useful lives and  reported as depreciation expense.  This
is the amount by which the capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the
current period.  Details supporting this adjustment are as follows:

Depreciation expense -                     
Change in net position of governmental activities -$                  

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 10

DRAFT$ 

es, Expenditures and Changees, Expenditures and Chang
nd to Statement of Activitiend to Statement of Activitie

statement of 

as expenditures.  However, xpenditures.  However, 
these assets is allocated over   ssets is allocated ov

ted as depreciation expense.  Thiseciation expense.  This
outlays exceeded depreciation in thoutlays exceeded depreciation in th

ng this adjustment are as follows:ng this adjustment are as f

f governmental activitiesf governmental act

TTT



 

Enterprise Funds 
Financial Statements 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Net Position - Enterprise Funds
June 30, 2024

Stone 
Operating Leigh St. Brewery Loan 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total 
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 4,330,598$     578,544$         2,217,580$     6,320,902$     13,447,624$   
Restricted Cash (Note 4) 36,741,353 -                   -                   -                   36,741,353     
Accounts receivable 800 37,134 48,823 -                   86,757             
Due from the City (Note 13) 20,000             10,135 -                   -                   30,135             
Due from Stone Brewery 35,846 -                   35,846             
Due from Operating -                   1,203,110 -                   -                   1,203,110        
Financed purchase notes receivable,
  current portion (Note 5) 9,461 -                   637,617           -                   647,078           
Other current assets -                   -                   8,501 480                  8,981               

Total current assets 41,138,058     1,828,923        2,912,521        6,321,382        52,200,884     
NONCURRENT ASSETS

Nondepreciable capital assets (Note 7) -                   868,818           621,645           -                   1,490,463        
Depreciable capital assets, net (Note 7) 84,480             10,417,767     79,270 -                   10,581,517     
Property held for sale (Note 8) 16,966,867     -                   -                   -                   16,966,867     
Financed purchase notes receivable,
  less current portion (Note 5) 370,639 -                   17,768,740     -                   18,139,379     
Loans receivable, net (Note 11):

Community Area Revitalization Effort 
(CARE) Program -                   -                   -                   12,172             12,172             

Contractor Assistance Program (CAP)  -                   -                   -                   46,743             46,743             
Economic Development and Housing  

Loan Fund (EDHLF) Program -                   -                   -                   7,254,415        7,254,415        
Revolving Loan Program (RLP) -                   -                   -                   583,346           583,346           

Accrued interest receivable -                   -                   -                   1,822,590        1,822,590        
Total noncurrent assets 17,421,986     11,286,585     18,469,655     9,719,266        56,897,492     
Total assets 58,560,044$   13,115,508$   21,382,176$   16,040,648$   109,098,376$ 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 907,458$         26,365$           -$                 -$                 933,823$         
Bond issuance cost payable (Note 16) 594,742 -                   -                   -                   594,742           
Due to the City  (Note 13) -                   -                   -                   33,649             33,649             
Due to Leigh Street 1,203,110 -                   -                   -                   1,203,110
Due to Operating -                   -                   35,846 -                   35,846             
Accrued interest payable -                   40,381             55,161             -                   95,542             
Reserves and deposits -                   152,796           -                   -                   152,796           
Deferred revenue 207,103 -                   -                   -                   207,103           
Current portion of recoverable grants )

payable (Note 15) -                   -                   775,000           -                   775,000           
Total current liabilities 2,912,413        219,542           866,007           33,649             4,031,611        

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liability (Note 9) -                   1,469,283        -                   -                   1,469,283        
Recoverable grants payable, 

long-term (Note 15) -                   6,000,000        16,860,000     -                   22,860,000     
Bonds payable (Note 16) 33,745,000 -                   -                   -                   33,745,000     
Premium on Bonds 3,089,220 -                   -                   -                   3,089,220        

Total noncurrent liabilities 36,834,220     7,469,283        16,860,000     -                   61,163,503     
Total liabilities 39,746,633     7,688,825        17,726,007     33,649             65,195,114     

Major Funds

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 11

DRAFT
      

823823         
-    -                 

-              -              -                     

637,617              -                             
8,501 480                           

8,9238,923 2,912,521        6,321,3826,321,3        

868,818868,8    621,64562                               
   79,270          10,417,767417,767

-                   - -                           

,639,639 -                   17,768,740-                   17

-               -                   -                     
-                   -                                           

- -                         -
-                          -                          
-                                                 

17,421,98617,421,986      11,211,2     
58,560,04458,560,044$   $   1313$   $   

907,458$         $   
t t ppaayyable (Note 16)able (Note 16) 594,7

(Note 13)(Note                      
treettreet 11

gg    
aayyableable

ss

able able ggrants )rants )

FFTFTFFTFT
RARARARA

DRDRRR



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Net Position - Enterprise Funds
June 30, 2024

Stone 
Operating Leigh St. Brewery Loan 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total 

Major Funds

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 84,480             3,817,302        700,915           -                   4,602,697        
Restricted 2,251,920        -                   -                   6,287,846        8,539,766        
Unrestricted 16,477,011     1,609,381        2,955,254        9,719,153        30,760,799     

Total net position 18,813,411     5,426,683        3,656,169        16,006,999     43,903,262     
Total liabilities, deferred inflows

of resources and net position 58,560,044$   13,115,508$   21,382,176$   16,040,648$   109,098,376$ 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 12

DRAFT
44      

169169 16     

16,04,382,176,382,176 16,040,TTTTTTTT



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Enterprise Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Stone
Operating Leigh St. Brewery Loan

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
OPERATING REVENUES

Rental and lease income -$                  789,090$         -$                  -$                  789,090$         
Loan administration and other fees 112,000            -                     -                     -                     112,000            
Bond and other fees 20,000              -                     -                     -                     20,000              
Loan program income -                         -                     -                     418,158            418,158            
Event and other income 2,500                210,619            -                     -                     213,119            

Total operating revenues 134,500            999,709            -                     418,158            1,552,367        
OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel 587                    96,488              -                     -                     97,075              
Professional services 40,308              12,008              -                     -                     52,316              
Internet and telephone services -                     11,362              -                     -                     11,362              
Building operations and maintenance -                     321,383            -                     -                     321,383            
Bad debt expense -                     -                     -                     213,205 213,205            
Other 1,084,659        87,301              17,372              228                    1,189,560        
Loan administrative fees -                     -                     -                     88,089              88,089              
Loan fund expense -                     -                     -                     24,000 24,000              
Depreciation and amortization 44,949 348,639            2,090                -                     395,678            

Total operating expenses 1,170,503        877,181            19,462              325,522            2,392,668        
Operating (loss) income (1,036,003)       122,528            (19,462)             92,636              (840,301)          

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Grants from the City of Richmond (Note 13) 3,071,515        1,200,000        -                     -                     4,271,515        
Economic development incentives (Note 13) (1,081,515)       -                     -                     -                     (1,081,515)       
Other grants and rebates (Note 11) 492,897            -                     -                     (333,244)          159,653            
Contributed capital (Note 8) 1,298,124 -                     -                     -                     1,298,124        
Contribution from the City (Note 13) -                     -                     -                     300,000            300,000            
Interest on notes receivable 12,841              -                     1,043,810        -                     1,056,651        
Interest expense -                     (48,864)             (682,443)          -                     (731,307)          
Interest income 14,059              110                    27,380              22,857              64,406              
Bond issuance cost (Note 16) (687,609) -                     -                     -                     (687,609)          

Total nonoperating revenues (losses) 3,120,312        1,151,246        388,747            (10,387)             4,649,918        
Income before transfers 2,084,309        1,273,774        369,285            82,249              3,809,617        

Transfers (out) in (Note 13) 500,000            -                     (500,000)          -                     -                     
Change in net position 2,584,309        1,273,774        (130,715)          82,249              3,809,617        

NET POSITION
Beginning of year 16,229,102      4,152,909        3,786,884        15,924,750      40,093,645      
End of year 18,813,411$    5,426,683$      3,656,169$      16,006,999$    43,903,262$    

Major Funds

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 13

DRAFT
     

--
-     -                  
-           418-           

-                         -                          
-                         -                               

6262 -                     -                               
1,3831,383 -                     -                     -             

-        -        -                     213,2-           213,2
87,30187,3          17,3721                                     

-                  -       -                                     
-                     -  -                         

9 348,63939            2,090                  
503503 877,181            19,462                     

36,003),003) 122,528                        (19,46(                       

3,071,51515   1,200,000200,000                      
(1,081,515)5)       -                                               

492,897                     -                                 
1,298,1241,29 -                            

-                            -                            
12,8411                                                

-                                    (4                
14,05914,059                                        

6) (687,609)609)   
revenues (losses)evenues (losses) 3,120,312        

ansfersansfers 2,084,309            
Note 13)Note 13) 500,0                     

net positionnet pos 2,582,5           

arar    
$

TTTT
AAFAFAAFAFAAFAF

DRRDRDRDRD



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Cash Flows - Enterprise Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Stone
Operating Leigh St. Brewery Loan

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from rentals -$                 751,956$         -$                 -$                 751,956$         
Receipts from loan administration 112,000           -                   -                   -                   112,000           
Receipts from loan repayments -                   -                   -                   875,857           875,857           
Receipts from (payments for) other activities 22,500             210,619           (31,823)            126,265           327,561           
Payments for operating activities (1,120,377)      (502,545)         (21,979)            (129,961)         (1,774,862)      

Net cash provided by (used in) 
  operating activities (985,877)         460,030           (53,802)            872,161           292,512           

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Grants and receipts from (payments to)
Receipts from (payments to) City of Richmond 3,171,207        (10,135)            -                   300,000           3,461,072        
Economic development incentive payments (1,081,515)      -                   -                   -                        (1,081,515)      
Other grants and rebates 700,000           -                   -                   (333,244)         366,756           
Land improvements (1,598,654)      (1,598,654)      
Receipt of escrows and reserves -                   10,259             -                   -                   10,259             
Due to / from funds 1,167,264        (3,110)              35,846             -                   1,200,000        
Transfers (to) from other funds 500,000           -                   (500,000)         -                   -                   

Net cash provided by (used in)  
noncapital financing activities 2,858,302        (2,986)              (464,154)         (33,244)            2,357,918        

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 14,059             110                  27,380             22,857             64,406             

CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets -                   (45,258)            -                   -                   (45,258)            
Cash paid on interest -                   -                   (684,308)         -                   (684,308)         
Cash paid on leased asset -                   (40,560)            -                   -                   (40,560)            
Proceeds from bond issuance 36,741,353     -                   -                   -                   36,741,353     
Payments received on notes receivable 22,000             -                   1,595,245        -                   1,617,245        
Payments received on lease -                   2,818               -                        -                   2,818               
Payments of recoverable grant payable -                   -                   (750,000)         -                   (750,000)         

Net cash provided by (used in) capital 
and related financing activities 36,763,353     (83,000)            160,937           -                   36,841,290     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 38,649,837     374,154           (329,639)         861,774           39,556,126     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year 2,422,114        204,390           2,547,219 5,459,128 10,632,851     
End of year 41,071,951$   578,544$        2,217,580$     6,320,902$     50,188,977$   

RECONCILIATION OF CASH TO THE 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Cash and cash equivalents, current assets 4,330,598$     578,544$         2,217,580$     6,320,902$     13,447,624$   
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 36,741,353 -                   -                   -                   36,741,353

41,071,951$   578,544$        2,217,580$     6,320,902$     50,188,977$   

Major Funds

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 14

DRAFT
    

31,823)31,823)          
(21,979)(21,979  (12         

(53,802)02)                 872,161              

0,135)0,135) -                   300,000300,             
-       -       -                                                 
-                      -                   (33           

10,25910,259             -                        
64 (3,110)110)              35,846              

0,0000,000 -                   (500,000

2,858,302302 (2,986)(2,98                      (46(46           

14,0599             11010                             

-                         (45,25                   
-                                                  
-                   -                            

ce 36,741,35336,741,353                    
otes receivableable 22,0000             

n leaselease -                   
erable grant payableerable grant payab -                       

ded by (used in) capital ded by (used in) capita
ed financing activitiesed finan 36,736,7     
se (decrease) in cash and se (decrease) in cash and 

alentsalents
UIVALENTSUIVALEN

O THE O THE 

TTTT
AAFAFAAFAF

RARAA
DRDR



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia)

Statement of Cash Flows - Enterprise Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Stone
Operating Leigh St. Brewery Loan

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

Major Funds

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING (LOSS)
INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating (loss) income (1,036,003)$    122,528$         (19,462)$         92,636$           (840,301)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss)
 income to cash provided by (used in)
  operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 44,949             348,639           2,090               -                   395,678           
Bad debt expense -                   -                   -                   213,205           213,205           
Change in current assets and liabilities:

Receivables -                   (37,134)            (31,823)            (480)                 (69,437)            
Prepaid expenses -                   -                   (4,607)              -                   (4,607)              
Loans receivable, net -                   -                   -                   875,857           875,857           
Accrued interest receivable -                   -                   -                   (291,893)         (291,893)         
Accounts payable 5,177               25,997             -                   -                   31,174             
Due to (from) City -                   -                   -                   (17,164)            (17,164)            
Net cash (used in) provided by
  operating activities (985,877)$       460,030$        (53,802)$         872,161$        292,512$        

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH
FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Contributed capital 1,298,124$     -$                 -$                 -$                 1,298,124$     

Land improvements accrued at year end 896,482$        896,482$        

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 15

DRAFT
))462)462)

2,0902,090 -                      2,0902,090
-                     213,205                   

7,134)7,134) (31,823)            (480(                         
-       -       (4,607)                                       
-                      -                            87           
-                 -       -                             

25,99725,997             -                        
-                   -                    

985,877)5,877) 460,030$        $        (53,8$         $         

1,298,1244$     -$                            $   $   

896,4828$        $        AAFAFAAAFAFAFAF
RARARARAAARARARARA



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

16 

Note 1 – Organization and Purpose 

The Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia (the “EDA”) was created as a political subdivision 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia on August 28, 1972, by action of the City Council of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(the “City”). On April 24, 2006, the City Council revoked the EDA's ability to issue debt until it could be reorganized. On 
June 26, 2006, the City Council renamed the EDA as the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(the “Authority”). On October 9, 2006, the City Council adopted an ordinance that reconfigured the Authority. The 
Authority is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors appointed by the Richmond City Council. The Authority is 
considered to be a component unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia. 

The purpose of the Authority is to promote industry and develop trade by inducing manufacturing, industrial, government 
and commercial enterprise to locate in or remain in the City of Richmond, further the economic well-being of the citizens 
of the City, and benefit the inhabitants of the City, increase their commerce, and promote their safety, health, welfare, 
convenience, and prosperity. The Authority seeks to provide additional employment for all levels of the community, to 
promote economic stability and growth in the community, and to assist in meeting the City’s development objectives. 

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the statement of activities. They 
report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the Authority. While government wide and fund financial 
statements are presented separately, they are interrelated. The governmental activity column of the government wide 
statements incorporates data from the governmental fund, while business-type activities incorporate data from the 
Authority’s enterprise funds. Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The Authority utilizes the economic resources management focus and the accrual basis of accounting in preparing its 
financial statements where revenues are recognized when earned and expenses when incurred. The accounts of the 
Authority are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity as displayed in the 
supplementary information. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprise its assets, liabilities, net position, revenues and expenses, as appropriate. 

Governmental Fund – Special Revenue Fund 

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. A special revenue fund 
is a governmental fund which accounts for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than major capital projects) 
requiring separate accounting because of legal or regulatory provisions or administrative action. The Authority’s special 
revenue fund is the Theater Fund, which contains the current Altria Theater building and associated agreements for 
funding of the restoration of this historic property. 

 

DRAFT
of thof th

ebt until it ebt un
uthority of the Cityuthority

nce that reconce that rec nfigured 
y the Richmond City Council. the Richmond Ci

ade by inducing manufacturing, induade by inducing manufacturing, ind
Richmond, further the economic welRichmond, further the economic wel

their commerce, and promote their commerce, and
vide additional employment for all onal emplo

nity, and nit to assist in meeting the Cityt in me

ounting Policies ng Policies AFAments ments 

atements include the statemenatements include the stateme t of 
e non-fiduciary activities ofe non-fiduciary act  the Authe A

eparately, they are interrelated. rately, they are interrelated. TheThe
data from the m the governmental fund,governmental fund,

funds. Separate financial statementsfunds. Separate financ

Statements State

tilizes the economic resourcestilizes the economic reso
s where revenues ars where revenues are r

d on the basis of fud on the basis of f
on. The operon. The oper

lities, lities, 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

17 

Enterprise Funds 

The Authority is required to follow the accounting and reporting practices of the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB). For financial reporting purposes, the Operating Fund, the Leigh Street Fund, the Stone Brewery Fund, and 
Loan Fund all utilize the enterprise fund method of accounting using the accrual basis. For the accrual basis of accounting, 
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows 
take place. 

Enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market. Cash and cash equivalents include amounts in 
demand deposits, treasury bills, and savings accounts. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of land, buildings and improvements, and equipment. Property and equipment are 
recorded at cost or, if acquired through contribution, at fair value at the date of the gift. Depreciation expense is computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The estimated useful life of each 
class of depreciable assets is as follows: 

Buildings and improvements  10 – 40 years
Equipment  5 – 7 years
Land leased – lease asset  51.5 years

Recoverable Grant Payable 

Recoverable grants payable represent amounts provided by the City to the Authority for the construction of the Bon 
Secours Training Facility and the Stone Brewing Facility. These amounts are payable back to the City from revenues 
generated by the respective facilities. No formal repayment terms have been executed. 

Leases 

Key estimates and judgements include how the Authority determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the expected 
lease receipts and/or payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease receipts and or payments. 

 The Authority uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for the lease. 
 The lease term includes the noncancellable periods of the lease. Lease receipts and payments are included in the 

measurement of the lease receivable or liability, respectively, and are composed of fixed payments. 
 The Authority monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its leases and will 

remeasure if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease receivable or 
liability. 

DRAFT
or theor th

rdless of whrdless o

noperating items. Operatinnoperating items
vering goods in connvering goods in connection with tec

eeting this definition are reported aseeting this definition are repo

proximp ates market. Cash and cash eket. Ca
ts. s. 

nd, buildings and imnd, buildings and improvements, aprove
gh cogh contribution, at fair value at the dntribution, at fair value

er the estimated useful lives er the estimated useful lives of the of
s follows: follow

Buildings and improvements gs and improvements 
Equipment Equip
Land leased – lease asset Land leased – lease a

Grant Payable Gran

s payable represent amos payable represent am
lity and the Stone lity and the Stone

tive facilities. tive facilities. 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

18 

Right-of-Use Lease Asset and Related Lease Liability 
The Authority is a lessee for a noncancellable lease of 15.04 acres of land. The Authority recognizes an intangible right-to-
use asset (lease asset) and a related lease liability on the government-wide financial statements and enterprise fund 
financial statements. At the commencement of a lease, the Authority initially measures a lease liability at the present 
value of payments expected to be made during the lease period. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the 
principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, 
adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain direct costs. Subsequent to 
the initial measurement and recognition, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 

Lease assets are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported with long-term debt in the statement 
of net position. 

Lease Receivable and Related Deferred Inflow of Resources 
The Authority is a lessor for one noncancellable lease of land. The Authority recognizes lease receivables and deferred 
inflows of resources in the government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements. At the commencement of the 
lease, the Authority initially measures the lease receivable at the present value of payments expected to be received 
during the lease terms. Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portions of lease payments received. 
The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease 
payments received at or before the lease commencement date less any lease incentives. Subsequent to the initial 
measurement and recognition, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could 
differ from those estimates and assumptions. 

Net Position 
Net position is the difference between assets and liabilities. Net position invested in capital assets represents capital 
assets, less accumulated depreciation, less outstanding debt related to the acquisition, construction or improvement of 
those assets. 

Note 3 – Significant Activities 

Leigh St. Fund 
The Authority has worked in cooperation with the City of Richmond, the Department of Economic and Community 
Development and other private parties to develop the Bon Secours Training Center. To that end, the Authority entered 
into a long-term lease with the Commonwealth of Virginia to lease 15.040 acres of land within the City as well as contracts 
to build the facility. The foregoing was facilitated by a recoverable grant from the City of Richmond in the amount of ten 
million dollars. The facility was substantially complete in fiscal year-end 2013. The development of this property and the 
leasing and naming rights agreements associated with the project are intertwined with an additional property known as 
the Westhampton School Property. The City of Richmond and the Board of the Authority have agreed to transfer 
ownership of the Westhampton School Property to the Authority, which in turn leases it to a third party under a long-term 
leasing arrangement. 

ActivitieActivitieDRAFT
s as a

he lease he leas
he initial amohe init

, plus certain direct , plus cer
raight-line basis over its usraight-line basis

e reported with loe reported with long-term debt in ng-ter

urces urces 
and. The Authority recognizes leasee Authority r

erprise fund financial stnancial atements. A
eivable eivable at the present value of payent val

ceivable is reable is reduced by the principal pduced by the princip
easured as thd as e initial amount of thinitial amount of th

commencement date less any leament date less any le
red inflow of resources is recognizedred inflow of resources is recognized

atements in conformity with ements in conformity with generalgeneral
mptions that affect certain reportedns that affect certain reported

tes and assumptions. es and assumptions

 the difference between assets a the difference between assets a
mulated depreciation, less oumulated depreciation, leDD



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

19 

Stone Brewery Fund 

The Authority, in collaboration with the City of Richmond and Stone Brewing Co., developed the Stone Brewery facility. 
The Authority previously entered into certain real estate transactions as well as construction contracts to build the facility. 
The foregoing was facilitated by certain grants from the State and a recoverable grant from the City of Richmond. During 
2016, when construction was completed, the long-term use lease agreement between the Authority and Stone Brewing 
Co. became effective. See Note 5. 

Note 4 – Deposits 

Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and collateralized in accordance 
with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the "Act") Section 2.2-4400 et. Seq. of the Code of Virginia. Under the 
Act, banks and savings institutions holding public deposits in excess of the amounts insured by federal depository 
insurance must pledge collateral to the Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. Financial Institutions may choose 
between two collateralization methodologies and depending upon that choice, will pledge collateral that ranges in the 
amounts from 50% to 130% of excess deposits. Accordingly, all deposits are considered fully collateralized.  

In June 2024 there was Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 issued for the Diamond District Project. See note 16. The proceeds 
from the bonds were deposited into the EDA’s operating account as restricted cash. As of June 30, 2024 the balance was 
$36,741,353. 

Note 5 – Financed Purchase Notes Receivable 

Stone Brewery Fund 

The Authority has executed a financed purchase agreement with Stone Brewing Co., LLC for land, building and equipment. 
The note receivable has a value of $29,584,527 at June 30, 2024, which is equal to the total future minimum payments 
under the terms of the agreement, which is $1,740,266 annually over the term of the note which extends through June 
2041. The financial statements include unearned income of $11,178,170 related to unearned interest at 6% on the note 
receivable. 

The following lists the components of the financed purchase note receivable at June 30, 2024: 

  
Minimum Note 

Payments  
Less Unearned 

Revenue  Net Receivable 
Current portion  $  1,740,266  $  (1,102,649)  $  637,617 
Noncurrent portion    27,844,261    (10,075,521)    17,768,740 
  $  29,584,527  $  (11,178,170)  $  18,406,357 

Operating Fund 

The Authority has executed a financed purchase agreement with Tobacco Row Land, L.P. for land for a parking facility. The 
note receivable has a value of $572,000 at June 30, 2024, which is equal to the total future minimum payments under the 
terms of the agreement, which is $22,000 annually over the term of the note which extends through July 2049. The 
financial statements include unearned income of $191,900. The interest rate used on the agreement as of July 1, 2021, 
was 3.25%. 

rom trom 
en the Auten the

TFTCorporation (FDIC) and Corpo collateralizollatera
tion 2.2-4400 et. tion 2.2-4400 et. Seq. of the Code oSeq. of the Code o

in excess of the amounts insuredn excess of the am
of Virginia Treasury Board. Financiania Treasury 

ending upon that choice, will pledgehat cho
rdingly, all deposits are considered frdingly, all deposits are con

2024 issued for thssued for the Diamond Districe Diamond Distri
s operating accong ac unt as restricted cat as restricted ca

 Notes Receivable  Notes Rece

RARA
uted a financed purchase agreemenuted a financed purcha

e has a value of $29,584,527 at Junee has a value of $29,584,527 
of the agreement, which is $1,740,of the agreement, which is $1,74

ncial statements include unencial statements include u arneded

e componentse comp  of the of the



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

20 

The following lists the components of the financed purchase note receivable at June 30, 2024: 

  
Minimum Note 

Payments  
Less Unearned 

Revenue  Net Receivable 
Current portion  $  22,000  $  (12,539)  $  9,461 
Noncurrent portion    550,000    (179,361)    370,639 
  $  572,000  $  (191,900)  $  380,100 

Note 6 – Lease Receivable / Deferred Inflow of Resources 

Leigh St. Fund 

The Authority, as a lessor, has entered into a lease with a local hospital for the use of office space in a building owned by 
the Authority which was set to end August 31, 2023. At the beginning of the lease, the Authority recognized an original 
lease receivable and deferred lease revenue balance of $705,835, using a discount rate of 3.25%. As of June 30, 2024, the 
outstanding balance of the lease receivable was $-0-. As of June 30, 2024, the related deferred inflow of resources was 
$-0-. During 2024, the Authority recognized lease and interest revenue related to this lease of $54,295 and $77, 
respectively. The lease revenue is included in rental and lease income on the statement of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position. 

The lease ended August 31, 2023 and became a short-term lease going month-to-month for a total of $22,917 per month 
until May 31, 2024. The Authority recognized an additional $206,250 of lease revenue. A new agreement was signed 
between the Authority and Bon Secours - Richmond Health System stating the lease term will be from June 1, 2024 - 
December 31, 2024, for a total of $12,548 per month with an option to extend for a maximum of one month to January 
31, 2024. The Authority is able to cancel the lease at any time.  

Note 7 – Capital Assets 

A summary of changes in the Authority's capital assets are as follows: 

  Balance         Balance 
  July 1,         June 30,  
  20232023   Additions   Deletions   2024  

Governmental activities: 
  Nondepreciable:  
   Land $ 142,165 $ -     $ -     $ 142,165 
  Depreciable:  
   Buildings and improvements  14,369,902  -      -      14,369,902 
   Accumulated depreciation  (14,369,902)  -      -      (14,369,902) 
  Total depreciable, net  -      -      -      -      

 Total governmental activities $ 142,165 $ -     $ -     $ 142,165 

DRal Assets al Assets 

DRAFT
(17(

TTT
$  (191,9$  

TTTTFT hospital for the use of office space hospital for the use 
e beginning of the lease, the Authoning of the le

$705,835, using a discount rate of 3.2ng a disc
. As of. As of June 30, 2024, the related d24, thef

se and interest reand interest venue related te relat
rental and and lease income on the stase income on the st

became a short-term lease going mobecame a short-term lease
recognized an additional $206,250recognized an additional $2

Secours - Richmond Health SySecours - Richmond Health Systemst
al of $12,548 per month with an of $12,548 per month with an opop

able to cancel the lease at any time.cancel the lease at any time.

DRDRchanges in the Authoritchanges in the Authority's capital y's capital 

eses: : 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

21 

Business-type activities: 
  Nondepreciable:  
   Land $ 1,470,223 $ -     $ -     $ 1,470,223 
   Construction in progress  20,240  -      -      20,240 
  Total nondepreciable  1,490,463  -      -      1,490,463 
  Depreciable/amortizable: 
   Buildings and improvements  15,624,472  45,258  -      15,669,730 
   Leased land  1,505,819  -      -      1,505,819 
   Website  126,895  -      -      126,895 
  Total depreciable/amortizable  17,257,186  45,258  -      17,302,444 
  Accumulated: 
   Depreciation  (6,266,771)  (366,439)  -      (6,633,210) 
   Amortization of leased assets  (58,478)  (29,239)  -      (87,717) 
  Total accumulated depreciation/ 
   amortization  (6,325,249)  (395,678)  -      (6,720,927) 
  Total depreciable/amortizable, net  10,931,937  (350,420)  -      10,581,517 
   Total business-type activities $ 12,422,400 $ (350,420) $ -     $ 12,071,980 

Note 8 –Property Held for Sale/Contributed Capital 

Operating Fund 

During fiscal year 2023, the City and Richmond Redevelopment and Housing Authority (RRHA) conveyed land to the 
Authority with the intent that the land be sold to a developer for a redevelopment project. If the sale does not take place, 
the land conveyed by the City and RRHA may revert back to the City and/or the RRHA. In recognition of these land 
conveyances, the Authority recognized $13,173,607 in contributed capital on the statement of activities and statement of 
revenues, expense and changes in net position.  

During the current year, the City conveyed six parcels of real estate which also included a portion of the redevelopment 
project known as the “Diamond District” to the Authority. In recognition of these land conveyances, the Authority 
recognized $1,298,124 in contributed capital on the statement of activities and statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position – enterprise funds during 2024. The related property is reflected in land held for sale on the 
statement of net position and statement of net position – enterprise funds at June 30, 2024. The property received from 
the City was valued at the net book value that the City carried the property at the time of the transfer. During 2024, 
$2,495,136 of expenses were capitalized as part of the Diamond District project and thus included in the Property Held 
for Sale balance at June 30, 2024. 

DRAFTT
 -      
 -       

       -      TTT5,258  -      17,305,258  -     

FTFTT(366,439)  -      (366,439)  -      
 (29,239)  -      (29,239)  -     FTFT49)  (395,678)  -(395,678

AAFF1,937  (350,420)  1,937  (350,420

AAFF,422,400 $ (350,420) $ 422,400 $ (350,420) AAAFAFFFntributed Capital d Capital AF
RAty and ty and Richmond Redevelopment and Redevelopment

t the land be sold to a developer e land be sold to a developer forfor
e City and RRHA may revert back td RRHA may revert back t

ority recognized $13,ority recognized $13,173,607 in con1
and changes in net position.  and changes in net position.  

rent year, the City conveyed six parent year, the City conveyed six pa
as the “Diamond District” as the “Diamond District to 

124 in contributed capit124 in contributed ca
on – enterprise funon – enterprise fu

 and statem and statem
net bonet bo



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

22 

Note 9 – Lease Liability  

Leigh St. Fund  

The Authority, as a lessee, has entered into a noncancellable lease agreement for the use of land near the Bon Secours 
Training Center. During 2022, the Authority adopted GASB 87, Leases, and, as a result, recognized an intangible right-to-
use lease asset and related lease liability. Payments of $40,560 are due annually through January 2032 at which point 
payments escalate every ten years through 2072 and are discounted at 3.25%. The following is a summary of changes in 
the lease liability reported on the statement of net position for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024: 

  
Balance at 

July 1, 2023 Additions Deletions  
Balance at 

June 30, 2024 

Lease liability  $  1,469,283 $  - $  -  $  1,469,283 

Future maturities are as follows: 

 Principal   Interest   Total  
  2025 $ -     $ 40,560 $ 40,560 
  2026  -      40,560  40,560 
  2027  -      40,560  40,560 
  2028  -      40,560  40,560 
  2029  -      40,560  40,560 
  2030 - 2034  -      235,248  235,248 
  2035 - 2039  -      283,920  283,920 
  2040 - 2044  7,404  299,230  306,634 
  2045 - 2049  106,369  234,336  340,705 
  2050 - 2054  152,816  215,145  367,961 
  2055 - 2059  224,822  184,023  408,845 
  2060 - 2064  297,680  143,873  441,553 
  2065 - 2069  404,227  86,388  490,615 
  2070 - 2074  275,965  18,404  294,369 

$ 1,469,283 $ 1,903,367 $ 3,372,650 

Related lease assets totaling $1,505,819, offset by accumulated amortization of $87,717, is included in leased capital 
assets, net on the statement of net position as of June 30, 2024. 

Note 10 – Commitments and Contingencies 

The Authority has executed performance agreements with certain local businesses on behalf of the City, which contain 
capital investment and employment goals. Upon completion of the specific requirements, the grant funds are awarded as 
stated in the performance agreements. The Authority’s responsibility for payment of these awards is subject to funding 
appropriation by the City, as such, the Authority has no exposure under these agreements. The Authority has received 
grant funds totaling $352,402 from the City that have not yet been approved for distribution to the local businesses and 
thus are included in the Authority’s restricted net position balance at June 30, 2024, along with other restricted revenue 
sources. 

DRAFT
e use of e use o

sult, recognizesult, re
ally through January ally throug

%. The following is a summ%. The following
year ended June 30, 2024: year ended June 30, 20

t t 
2023 2023 FAdditions iFTDeletionsetionFT469,283 469,28

AFF$  - 

AFTFT$  FTFT
 Principal   Intel  

AFF$ -     $ $ -     $ 
 -      -      
 -     -     
 -    
  
  
  

9 9 
2064 2064 

- 2069 - 2069
074 074 

ing $1,505ing $1,505
of neof ne



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

23 

The Authority received $700,000 from the City from the American Rescue Program Act federal funds to be used by the 
Authority for the Triple A Small Business Program. These funds are intended to provide funds to help build, support and 
strengthen businesses that experienced negative economic impacts or disproportionate impacts of the pandemic. The 
Authority spent $492,897 during the year.  A total of $207,103 remained unspent as of June 30, 2024. Any amounts not 
spent by the Authority by December 31, 2024 must be returned to the City. 

The Authority entered into a development agreement with the City of Richmond and Diamond District Partners, LLC on 
May 15, 2024. The City seeks to redevelop an approximately 67 acre site known as the Diamond District. The City has 
transferred the property to the Authority. Per the agreement, the Authority will sell 19.61 acres of the property with the 
potential for the Developer to purchase an additional 12.08 acres in the Diamond District. The Developer will turn that 
portion of the land into a mixed-use commercial and residential area. The Authority is committed to providing funds for 
costs associated with the Public Infrastructure for the Project.  

During 2024, the Authority entered into an agreement with Navigators Baseball LP (Navigators) stating that the Authority 
would reimburse the Navigators for project costs incurred from the period of November 1, 2023 – March 31, 2024, of 
$2,500,000, which was later reduced by mutual consent to $2,495,136.  As of June 30, 2024, the Authority owed Navigators 
Baseball LP $896,482 related to this agreement. The Authority paid a total of $1,598,654 during fiscal year 2024. 
Subsequent to year-end, the Authority agreed to pay the Navigators an additional $1,000,000 toward project costs. 

Note 11 – Loans Program Receivables 

Commercial Area Revitalization Effort 
The Commercial Area Revitalization Effort (CARE) is a loan and rebate program created by the City's Office of Economic 
Development and the Authority, which is designed to revitalize and return economic viability to older neighborhood 
commercial strips. The loan program provides for three different types of loans to eligible borrowers. CARE loans are 
classified as minor (less than $125,000), moderate ($125,000-$200,000), and substantial (more than $200,000). Minor 
loans have a 90% Authority, 10% minimum owner equity financing structure. For the substantial and moderate loans, a 
private loan of 50% of the requested loan amount must be obtained prior to the Authority's approval of an additional 40%, 
leaving a minimum of 10% owner equity. The Authority has a second secured position in the moderate and substantial 
loans. The rebate program is designed to revitalize and return economic viability to older neighborhood districts, primarily 
in low and moderate-income communities. The Authority will rebate up to certain percentages and dollar amounts of 
renovation and improvement expenses incurred for exterior and interior rehabilitation, security improvements, and the 
connection of a water lateral line and/or the installation of a sprinkler system. 

At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of loans receivable from the CARE program was $24,307, less an uncollectible 
allowance of $12,135. The fair value of these loans is not readily determinable. The Authority received rebates in the 
amount of $159,653 during the year ended June 30, 2024, which is included in other grants and rebates on the statement 
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position – enterprise funds. 

DRAFT
nd Diamond nd Dia

wn wn as the Diamond as the
will sell 19.61 acres of thewill sell 19.61 a

Diamond District. The DevelopeDiamond District. Th
The Authority is committed to proviThe Authority is committed

gators Baseball LP (Navigatorsgators Baseball LP ( ) statat
rom the period of November 1, 202m the period of N

$2,495,136.  As of June 30, 2024, the36.  As of Jun
e Authority paid a total of $1,598d a tot

y the Navigators an additional $1,00 the Navigators an additiona

bles AF
RAffort ffort 

n Effort (CARE) is a loan ann Effort (CARE) is a loan and rebated r
y, which isy, whi  designed to revitalize asigned to revitalize

program provides for three differeogram provides for three differe
han $125,000), moderate ($125,00,000), moderate ($125,00

hority, 10% minimum owner equity ority, 10% minimum o
of the requested loan amount must of the requested loan amoun

um of 10% owner equity. The Authoum of 10% owner equity. The Aut
ate program is designed to revitalizeate program is designed to revitalize

erate-income communities. Therate-income communiti
rovement expenses incrovement expenses in

lateral line and/orlateral line and/o

ying vaying va



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

24 

Contractor Assistance Program 

The Contractor Assistance Program (CAP) is a loan program created by City Council and administered by the City's Office 
of Economic Development and the Authority, which is designed to provide working capital, equipment financing, 
receivables financing and other qualifying uses that will support the delivery of goods or services that further the purpose 
of the CAP. The loan program provides loans to eligible borrowers of up to $100,000 with varying amortizations and 
interest rates from 4% to 9% per annum depending on the overall credit rating of the transaction. 

At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of loans receivable from the CAP program was $85,597, less an uncollectible allowance 
of $38,854. The fair value of these loans is not readily determinable. 

Economic Development and Housing Loan Fund 

During 2013, the Economic Development and Housing Loan Fund (EDHLF) was implemented for the purpose of providing 
financing to local developers and small businesses pursuing Section 108 eligible projects which meet one of the 
Community Development Block Grant National Objectives: to facilitate large real estate economic development projects, 
the creation of affordable housing and other special use projects that benefit low and moderate income persons, prevent 
or eliminate slums or blight, create or retain jobs and provide area benefits in the City’s commercial corridors and 
residential neighborhoods. 

During the fiscal year 2013, the City had drawn down the approved loan from the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD) in the amount of $10,205,000 and transferred the proceeds to the Authority. At June 30, 
2024, approximately eight million in loans had been granted from these funds, and the carrying value of the loans was 
$7,414,313 which did not include a fee income receivable, less an uncollectible allowance of $159,898. 

Revolving Loan Program 

The Citywide Revolving Loan Program (RLP) is a loan program created by City Council and administered by the City's Office 
of Economic Development and the Authority, which is designed to provide capital for property and land acquisition, 
infrastructure costs, construction, rehabilitation, working capital, machinery and equipment purchases, leasehold 
improvements and any other use that meets the Department of Housing and Urban Development's national objectives. 
The loan program provides loans to eligible borrowers of up to $250,000 with amortizations of up to 20 years and interest 
rates that can vary from 3% to 9% per annum depending on the overall credit rating of the transaction. 

At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of loans receivable from the RLP program was $896,077, less an uncollectible 
allowance of $312,731. The fair value of these loans is not readily determinable. 

Enterprise Zone Incentive Loans 

During 1996, the Enterprise Zone Incentive Loan (EZIL) program was implemented to provide City incentives through the 
Authority to worthy businesses. These incentives were designed to encourage investment and job creation by new or 
existing businesses within the City's enterprise zones. 

The EZIL Program is no longer being funded by the City. During the year ended June 30, 2011, all remaining loans receivable 
from the EZIL program were written off. The fund remains open to collect residual loan recovery payments. There were 
no recoveries from loans previously written off during the year ended June 30, 2024. 

DRAFT
servserv

000 with v000 w
the transaction. the tra

m was $85,597, less an uncollewas $85,597, les

Fundd (EDHLF) was implemented for t (EDHLF) was im
rsuing Section 108 eligibction 108 le project

ves: to facilitate large real estate ecves: to facilitate large r
use projuse projects that benefit low and mects that benefit low

obs and provide area benefits in tand provide area benefits in

d drawn down the appr drawn down the approved loan froov
e amount of $10,205,000 and e amount of $10,205,000 a transf

in loans had been granted from thin loans had been granted fro
de a fee income receide a fee income receivable, less an uvable, less an 

am 

ving Loan Program (RLP) is a loan proving Loan Program (RLP) is a lo
velopment and thvelopment and the Authority, whice Authority, wh

costs, construction, rehabilitatiocosts, construction, rehabilitatio
nd any other use that mnd any other use that meets e

ovides loans to eligibovides loans to eligible
m 3% to 9% per am 3% to 9% per a

ing ving v



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

25 

Note 12 – Conduit Debt 

The Authority can authorize the issuance of revenue bonds for the purpose of obtaining and constructing facilities. Such 
debt is payable solely from the revenues derived from structured liens or pass-through leases of the facilities constructed 
for the related enterprises. Collections of revenues pledged to liquidate the bonds are assigned to a trustee. Such debt 
does not constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit of the Authority, the Commonwealth of Virginia or any political 
subdivision thereof. Accordingly, such debt and related assets are not presented in the financial statements. 

Note 13 – Related Party Transactions 

Loan Fund 
The Authority has received funds from the City for programs that are not administered by the Authority. As a result, these 
are reported as Due to the City on the statement of net position. These funds total $33,649 at June 30, 2024. 

During 2024 , the City made a contribution to the CARE program of $300,000. 

Operating Fund 
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority received $1,171,515 in economic development incentives from the 
City to be passed on to approved businesses in accordance with the terms of performance agreements. Incentive grants 
of $1,081,515 were paid out during the year. Additionally, the Authority made City-approved disbursements in excess of 
receipts of $20,000. This is included in Due from the City on the statement of net position. The funds were received by the 
Authority in August 2024. 

During the year, the Authority received $400,000 from the City for the Local Enterprise Zone Cooperation Agreement 
signed by the Authority and the City. The Authority is to use the money to help encourage job creation, private investments 
and commercial development around the City of Richmond.  

At the beginning of 2024, the Authority had $335,000 in unspent funding for the Façade Improvement Grant Program. 
Grants of $565,000 were awarded under this program in prior years and $55,591 was awarded during the year ended June 
30, 2024. These grants are included in other operating expenses on the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in 
net position. The remaining balance of $279,409 is classified as restricted net position on the statement of net position. 

During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority received $1,500,000 from the City to be used for the creation of a 
Community Development Financial Institution Fund (CDFI) which is to be used to help lend money to small businesses in 
the area.  

During the year, the Authority received $1,200,000 from the City for the second-floor improvements of the training center 
which was recorded in the operating fund. The funds were not able to be transferred to the Leigh Street fund before year-
end; therefore, these balances are considered as due to and due from on the statement of net positions. 

During the year, there was a transfer of $500,000 from the Stone Brewery Fund to the Operating Fund to help supplement 
expenses incurred for the Diamond District Project to cover capital, operational and administrative costs. 

Leigh St. Fund 
In January 2024, the Authority assumed management of the Bon Secours Training Center. As a result, the Authority worked 
with the City’s Department of Parks and Recreation to help oversee the events held at the facility from January to June 
2024. There were instances where rental payments for the Authority were collected by the City and not remitted to the 

DRAFT
e assige assi

monwealtmonwe h 
in the financial stain the f TFTt are not administered by the Authot are not administered by the Autho

ion. These funds toThese funds total $33,649 at Juta

program of $300,000. 300,000.

hority receivedeceiv  $1,171,515 in econo $1,171,515 in econo
s in accordance with the terms of pence with the terms of p

ear. Additionally, the ear. Additionally, the Authority madAuthority mad
Due from the City on Due from the City on the statement the s

y receivedrecei  $400,000 from the City f0,000 from the City 
the City. The Authority is to use ty. The Authority is to use the mthe m

ment around the City of Richmond. nd the City of Richmond. 

2024, the Authorit2024, the Autho y had $335,000 ihad $3
00 were awarded under this program00 were awarded under this progr

e grants are included in ote grants are included in other operapera
e remaining balance of $279,e remaining balance of $2 40

ed June 30, 2024, the ed June 30, 2024, th
ent Financial Instent Financial Inst

rere



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

26 

Authority by year end. At June 30, 2024, the City owed the Authority $10,135 of related to these rental fees. This is 
included in Due from the City on the statement of net position. 

Note 14 – Risk Management 

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Authority carries commercial insurance for all of these risks 
of loss. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past five 
fiscal years. 

Note 15 – Recoverable Grant Payable 

Amounts noted as recoverable grants payable are amounts payable to the City of Richmond. In prior years, funds were 
received from the City and were used for developing the Leigh Street and Stone Brewing projects. Funds must be paid 
back to the City in an amount equal to the initial outlay at the conclusion of the project. There have been no agreements 
or terms developed by the Authority or the City regarding repayment of the Leigh Street Fund grant payable. During 2017, 
the terms of the Stone Brewing project grant payable were determined and are as follows: 

Recoverable grant payable to the City of Richmond of $23,000,000 due in annual 
installments of varying amounts and at various interest rates through June 1, 2041; 
interest payable semi-annually at rates ranging from 3% to 4%.  $  17,635,000 

Activity in long-term recoverable grants payable for fiscal year 2024 follows: 

  Balance         Balance   Amount 
  June 30,         June 30,   Due Within 
  2023   Issued   Retired   2024   One Year  

Leigh Street Fund $ 6,000,000 $ -     $ -     $ 6,000,000 $ -     
Stone Brewery Fund  18,385,000  -      (750,000)  17,635,000  775,000 

$ 24,385,000 $ -     $ (750,000) $ 23,635,000 $ 775,000 

Annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations and related interest are as follows: 

 Year Ending 
  June 30,   Principal   Interest   Total  
   2025 $ 775,000 $ 665,713 $ 1,440,713 
   2026  795,000  642,462  1,437,462 
   2027  820,000  617,619  1,437,619 
   2028  850,000  590,969  1,440,969 
   2029  875,000  562,069  1,437,069 
   2030-2034  4,880,000  2,310,244  7,190,244 
   2035-2039  5,925,000  1,272,600  7,197,600 
   2040-2041  2,715,000  164,000  2,879,000 

$ 17,635,000 $ 6,825,676 $ 24,460,676 

DRAFTT
, and destruct, and d

ommercial insuranceommercia
alal insurance coverage in a insurance co

FTFTpayable to the City of Richmond. Inble to the City o
e Leigh Street and Stone Brewing peet and St

y at the conclusion of the project. Thy at the conclusion of th
arding reding repayment of the Leigh Streetpayment of the Leigh 

yable were determined and are as fowere determined and are as f

he City of Richmond of $23,000,000 chmond of $23,000,000
unts and at variounts and at various interest rates thus interest rates th

nually at rates ranging from 3% to 4%nually at rates ranging fro

e grantse grant  payable for fiscal year 2024 e for fiscal year 202

 Balance     Balance     
 June 30,    ne 30,    
 2023   Issued 2023  

DRRet Fund $ 6,000,000 $ et Fund $ 6,000,000 $ 
ewery Fund  18,385,000  ewery Fund  18,385,000  D$ 24,385,000 85,0DDo amortize long-teo amortize long-t



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

27 

Note 16 – Bonds Payable 

On June 20, 2024, the Authority issued revenue bonds for $33,745,000 to finance the construction of public infrastructure 
within the Diamond District. Interest on the bonds is payable June 1 and December 1 commencing on December 1, 2024. 
Interest is computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and twelve 30-day months. Interest rates are 4%-5%. The total 
bond issuance cost payable is $594,742 at year-end.  

 Year Ending 
  June 30,   Principal   Interest   Total  
   2025 $ -     $ 1,508,056 $ 1,508,056 
   2026  -      1,625,450  1,625,450 
   2027  1,375,000  1,625,450  3,000,450 
   2028  1,435,000  1,556,700  2,991,700 
   2029  1,510,000  1,484,950  2,994,950 
   2030-2034  8,750,000  6,215,000  14,965,000  
   2035-2039  4,945,000  4,102,500  9,047,500 
   2040-2044  2,345,000  3,417,250  5,762,250 
   2045-2049  4,005,000  2,676,000  6,681,000 
   2050-2054  6,180,000  1,579,000  7,759,000 
   2045-2056  3,200,000  243,250  3,443,250 

$ 33,745,000 $ 26,033,606 $ 59,778,606 

Payment of principal and premium, if any and interest on the bonds are not general obligations of the Authority but are 
limited obligations payable solely from the revenues and receipts derived from the City for such purposes under the 
Cooperation Agreement, solely from the revenues on the stadium leases upon commencement of the lease and receipts 
derived from the City. The total bond issuance cost including underwriter discounts is $687,609 and is included on the 
statement of activities.   

Note 17 – Subsequent Event 

The Authority entered into a lease agreement with Navigators Baseball subsequent to year-end. The lease will not 
commence until the completion of the Stadium as mentioned in Note 10. The lease will be a 30 year lease with annual 
rent of $1,000,000 for 10 years. The eleventh year the rent increases to $1,343,916 and will increase at 3% each year after 
the eleventh year. The Navigators are also required to pay a supplemental rent rate of $2,000,000 for the first 10 years 
and rent is due on a quarterly basis. 

The Authority entered into a development agreement with Navigators Baseball Stadium Developer LLC on August 16, 
2024. The Authority is going to contribute funds toward the building of the new baseball stadium. The total contribution 
will be $114,073,375. The funds from the Authority are limited to general obligation public improvement bonds issued by 
the City and funds appropriated by the City Council.  

An ordinance was passed by the City which approved the transfer of the training center property from the Authority to 
the City of Richmond. The City will assume the lease that the Authority had in place with Bon Secours and the ground lease 
with the Science Museum. The assignment and assumption of leasehold interest in the ground lease was signed and 
executed on August 29, 2024.

DRubsequent Event ubsequent Event DRAFT
mmmm

nterest nteres

  Interest   T Interest TT-     $ 1,508,056 $ 1,50-     $ 1,508,056 
-      1,625,450  1,-      1,625,450  

1,375,000  1,625,450  1,375,000  1,625,450  
1,435,000  1,556,700 1,435,000  

 1,510,000  1,484,950 1,510,000 
 8,750,000  6,215,00750,000 
 4,945,000  4,1025,000 
 2,345,000  3,4 2,345,000 
 4,005,000   4,005,000  
 6,180,000 6,180,000 
 3,200,000  3,200,000 

RA$ 33,745,00$ 

RARAm, if any and interest on the bonds m, if any and interest on the bo
olely from the revenues and receipely from the revenues and receip

olely from the revenues on the stom the revenues on the stadiadi
he total bond issuance cost includie total bond issuan

s.   s.   

DRDred into a lease agrred into a lease agreee
ompletion of the Sompletion of the 

years. The eyears. The e
gatorsgators



 

Compliance Section 



 
www.becpas.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 

Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors and Management of 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia  
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 
Richmond, Virginia 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Board, 
and Commissions, issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities and each major fund of the Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia (the “Authority”) as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated ENTER DATE. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  We did identify a deficiency 
in internal controls, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses, as item 2024-001, 
that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 

d

ds generally acc ted in the Unite
tained ernment Auditing Stan
e Specifications f

of the Comm
iness-type activities an

ond Virgond Virgond Virgond, Virgin thoriuthorithorithorit
he financial statements, wh

e issued our report thereon

rol over Financial Re

ng our audit of the financial s
report ernal control) as a 
mstances for the purpose of ex

xpressing an o nion on 
we do not express an opi

ency in internal contro sts w
p y ,ement or employees, in the normp y ,p y ,

d correct misstatements
es, in internal contro

inancial stateme
cy is a defi

ness



29 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 
tests disclosed instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards, which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses, as item 
2024-002. 

Authority’s Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Authority’s 
response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and responses. The Authority’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Newport News, VA 
ENTER DATE 

e
opinio

d unde
ndings a

perform limited procedures on the
cribed in the acco

ed to the oth
ress no

he scope of our testing
nd not to ovide an opin

This report is an integral 
andard onsidering the 

nicatnicatnicatunicat suitable for any otsuitable for any otsuitable for any ott suitable for any ot

PUBLIC COUNTA

 News, DE



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Summary of Compliance Matters 
June 30, 2024 

30 

As more fully described in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards, we performed tests of the Authority’s compliance with certain provisions of the laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants shown below. 

State Compliance Matters 

Code of Virginia 

Cash and Investment Laws 

Conflicts of Interest Act 

Procurement Laws 

Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act 

DRAFT



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 
June 30, 2024 

31 

A – SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

1. The auditor’s report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements. 
2. One significant deficiency related to the audit of the financial statements was reported in the Independent 

Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements were disclosed. 

B – FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

2024-001 – Material Adjusting Journal Entries (Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting) 

Condition and Criteria: 
As part of our audit, we proposed multiple significant adjustments related to various balances within the Leigh Street and 
Operating Funds. These are reviewed and approved by management; however, we believe that this review would only 
detect material misstatements, and that a misstatement that is more than inconsequential may not be prevented or 
detected. 

Effect: 
Financial statements and related disclosures prepared on a generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) basis may be misstated by an amount that is more than 
inconsequential.  

Cause: 
Due to the small size of the Authority, there is a limited accounting staff with the background needed in governmental 
accounting to assist with the majority of the audit adjustments posted.  

Recommendation: 
We recommend that material transactions be thoroughly reviewed by management and a member of the Board who has 
a background in financial reporting. We also recommend that management meet regularly with the auditors to keep up 
to date on changes in GAAP and GASB and continue to review the draft GAAP and GASB compliant financial statements 
and related disclosures prior to issuance. 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action: 
Management agrees with the recommendation that material transactions be thoroughly reviewed by management and a 
member of the Board who has a background in financial accounting.  Management will update its internal policies and 
protocols to reflect this for material transactions related to the acquisition or disposition of real estate, the receipt or 
disbursement of federal funds, and other non-standard transactions.  Management will also meet with the auditors 
quarterly commencing in Q2 FY 2025 to keep up to date on changes in GAAP and continue to review the draft GAAP 
financial statements and related disclosures prior to issuance. Management will invite a member of the Board who has a 
background in financial accounting to participate in meetings with the auditors. 

DRAFT
was rewas r

ance and Oance a
t Auditing Standat Audit

ere disclosed. ere disclosed

FTFTcant Deficiency in cant Deficiency in Internal Contont

ant adjustadjustments related to various bments related to vario
roved by management; however, wby management; however, w

misstatement that is more than inent that is more than i

ated disclosures prepared onted disclosures prepared  a gea g
Standards Board (GASB) basis dards Board (GASB) basis mm

all size of the Authority, there is a lall size of the Authority, there is a l
ssist with the majority of the aussist with the majority of t

erial transacerial transac
ortinortin



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 
June 30, 2024 

32 

Regarding the Leigh Street fund, in Q1 FY 2025, the training center facility located at 2401 W Leigh Street transferred 
ownership from the Authority to the City, ending the Authority’s responsibilities associated with the property.   

C – FINDINGS – COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 

2024-002 – Conflict of Interest Forms 
Condition 
During our testing over the conflict-of-interest forms, it was noted that one member of the board and the Executive 
Director did not complete the required conflict of interest form by the due date of February 1, 2024 and July 17, 2024, 
respectively.  

Recommendation 
We recommend that all Board members and the Executive Director complete, sign, and turn in their conflict-of-interest 
forms ahead of the February deadline or prior to acting on behalf of the Authority (attending a Board meeting), as 
applicable. 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action 
Management agrees with the recommendation that Board members and the Executive Director complete, sign and turn 
in the forms ahead of the deadline. Management stated that they will continue to remind the Board members and the 
Executive Director to ensure that the forms are turned in and filled in a timely manner. Management took immediate 
action following discussions with audit team and the conflict-of-interest form for the recently appointed Executive Director 
was completed on September 3, 2024.  

D – STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT FINDINGS 

2023-001 – Material Adjusting Journal Entries (Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting) 

Condition: 
We proposed multiple significant adjustments related to various balances within the Stone Brewery and Operating Funds. 
These are reviewed and approved by management; however, we believe that this review would only detect material 
misstatements, and that a misstatement that is more than inconsequential may not be prevented or detected. 

Recommendation: 
We recommend that material transactions be thoroughly reviewed by management and a member of the Board who has 
a background in financial reporting. We also recommend that management meet regularly with the auditors to keep up 
to date on changes in GAAP and continue to review the draft GAAP financial statements and related disclosures prior to 
issuance. 

Current Status: 
This does not appear to have been addressed. See 2024-001. 

DRAFTTone member of the board andone member of the
e due datee due  of February 1, 2024 andry 1, 2

ve Director complete, sign, acomplete nd turn
cting oncting  behalf of the Authority (aof the A

d Corrective Action ive Action 

RAndation that Board medation that Board members and thembers and the
Management stated thatManagement stated that they will co t

the forms are turned in and filled ithe forms are turned in and f
h audit team and the conflict-ofh audit team and the conflict-of-inter-int

r 3, 2024.   2024. 

RIOR YEAR FINANCIAL STATRIOR YEAR FINANC

DRDRMaterial Adjusting Journal EnMaterial Adjusting Journal Entrtr

ificant adjificant adj
roverove



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Corrective Action Plan 
June 30, 2024 

33 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 

Corrective Action Plan 
June 30, 2024 

34 
 



 

Economic Development Authority of 
the City of Richmond, Virginia 

(A Component Unit of the City of 
Richmond, Virginia) 

Report to the Board of Directors  
and Management 

June 30, 2024 DRAFTpment Authoritment Au
Richmond, VirgRichmond, V

onent Unit of thnent Unit of th
Richmond, VirgRichmond, V

e

D
p

D
oo

DRrr

DRtt

DRtt

DRoo

DRttRAhhRAeeRBBRAooRaaRaa

DRnn

DRddRMRaR



 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Contents 

Contacts ................................................................................................................... 1 

Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance ......................... 2 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Comments and Suggestions ............................... 5 

Comments on Internal Control for your Consideration ........................................... 7 

Accounting and Other Matters ................................................................................ 8 

Appendix A – Management Representation Letter 

Appendix B – Adjusting Journal Entries 

DRAFT
......................

.....................................



1 

Contacts 
Leslie F. Roberts, CPA  
Partner 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700 
Newport News, VA  23606 
757-316-3220 
lroberts@BEcpas.com 

Danielle A. Nikolaisen, CPA 
Director 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
810 Southpark Boulevard, Suite 201 
Colonial Heights, VA 23834 
804-518-2370 
dnikolaisen@BEcpas.com 

Christy M. Turner, CPA 
Manager 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
4951 Lake Brook Drive, Suite 375 
Glen Allen, VA 23060 
804-518-2373 
cturner@BEcpas.com 

e 375 



 
www.becpas.com 

Required Communication with Those Charged with Governance 

To the Board of Directors and Management of 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 
Richmond, Virginia 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and 
each major fund of the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia, collectively 
hereafter referred to as the Authority for the year ended June 30, 2024. Professional standards require 
that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing 
standards, Governmental Auditing Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope 
and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated July 11, 2024. 
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our 
audit. 

Significant Audit Matters 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Authority are described in Note 2 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2024. 
We noted no transactions entered into by the Authority during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the Authority’s financial 
statements were: 

 The useful lives of capital assets are based on management’s knowledge and judgment, which is 
based on historical usage. 

 The allowance for credit losses on loan program receivable are based on an analysis of risk 
assessments of credit risk of individual borrowers. 

 Management’s estimate of the right-of-use asset and related lease liability is based on the terms 
of the lease, assumptions regarding renewal options, and the discount rate selected by 
management.  

We have evaluated the methods, assumptions, and data used to develop these estimates in determining 
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

, the busi
y of Richmond,

0, 2024 ssional 
ties ly acties nd ally acties ly aclities under generally acc

ain information related to the pla
ormation in our letter to you dated J

te to you the follow

ices

he selection and use of a
he Authority are describe

dopted, and the on o
ns entered into by the Authns entered into by the Authns entered into by the Authons entered into by the Authoritoritoritorit

or consensus. All significant tra
eriod. 

estimates are an integral pa
n man ement’s knowledge and 

future events. Certain accounting e
nancial statements and b

y from those expecte
re: 

lives of c
oric



3 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 

 The disclosure of commitments and contingencies in Note 10, the related party transactions 
disclosures in Note 13, and the subsequent events disclosed in Note 17 to the financial 
statements. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
There were no uncorrected misstatements and management has corrected certain other misstatements 
detected as a result of audit procedures as summarized in the attached journal entries (Appendix B). 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter included in Appendix A. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia’s 
financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine 
that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 

 

ment in performing an

and likely m
m to th

nd mana s correc
mmarized in the attached jou

a disagreement with man
or not resolved to our satisfa

r s report We are pleased to repr’s report We are pleased to repr s report We are pleased to repor s report. We are pleased to repo

nt Representations 

e requested certain representatio
entation letter included in Append

ment Consultations 

nagement m
btainin



4 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Economic Development Authority of the 
City of Richmond, Virginia’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our 
professional relationship and our responses were not a condition of our retention. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis as listed in the Table 
of Contents, which is required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial 
statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the RSI. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management 
of Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia and is not intended to be, and 
should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Newport News, VA 
ENTER DATE 

on and Analysis
that supplements t

ent methoent r rdin th methoent methoment regarding the method
tency with management’s respo

ledge we obtained during our audit
ot express an opinio

mat and use of the Board
ty of Richmond, Virgini

ther than these specified p

UNTAN

ws, VA 

D ATE 



 
www.becpas.com 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Comments and Suggestions 

To the Board of Directors and Management of 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
(A Component Unit of the City of Richmond, Virginia) 
Richmond, Virginia 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and the major funds of the Economic Development Authority of the City of 
Richmond, Virginia (the “Authority”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered its internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements and to comply with 
any other applicable standards, such as Government Auditing Standards, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified. In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of 
management override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected by 
such controls. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

If material weaknesses or significant deficiencies were identified during our procedures they are 
appropriately designated as such in this report. Additional information on material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and compliance and other matters is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit 
of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards which should be 
read in conjunction with this report. 

he gov
elopment Au
June 30, 2024, 

merica, we considered its
ng audit procedures that are a

on the financial statements and to c
Auditing Standards h
ority’s internal c

ternal con

the limit escribthe limited purpose describthe limit escribthe limited purpose describe
rnal control that might be mat

sses or significant deficie
mitations in internal co

ls, misstatements due to e

al con h h d ih h d ih h d ists when the desig
ees, in the normal course of pe

ments on a timely basis. A
, in internal control such

ty’s financial statements will n
ant defi eficiency, or a co

, ymaterial weakness, yet important, y, y

weaknesses or sign
designated as su

ncies and co
over F



6 

Additionally, during our audit, we may have become aware of certain other matters that provide 
opportunities for improving your financial reporting system and/or operating efficiency. Such comments 
and suggestions regarding these matters, if any, are also included in the attached report, but are not 
designated as a material weakness or significant deficiency. Since our audit is not designed to include a 
detailed review of all systems and procedures, these comments should not be considered as being all-
inclusive of areas where improvements might be achieved. We also have included information on 
accounting and other matters that we believe is important enough to merit consideration by management 
and those charged with governance. It is our hope that our suggestions will be taken in the constructive 
light in which they are offered. 

We have already discussed these comments and suggestions with management, and we will be pleased 
to discuss them in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of these matters, 
or to assist you in implementing the recommendations. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Economic Development 
Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia, management, and the appropriate state and federal regulatory 
agencies and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Newport News, VA 
ENTER DATE 

sidera
l be ta

mana ment, and 
m an udy om any tudy om an udy om any additional study of

mation and use of 
and the appropr

by anyone



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Comments on Internal Control for your Consideration 

June 30, 2024 

7 

Notes Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses 

During our testing over the Authority’s loans receivable and allowance for credit losses, we noted that there were several 
balances that had been carried on the schedule for a while. Based on discussions with the client, it was noted that a few 
of the balances needed to be written off as they were not expecting to be collected. There was also a balance owed related 
to a grant due to the requirements of the grant not having been met. However, based on further research, it was noted 
that the requirements of the grant had been fulfilled. As a result, there was no balance owed back to the Authority. It was 
also noted that the allowance for these loans needed to be adjusted as well. We recommend that the schedule, including 
older items, be reviewed regularly to ensure that they are still valid. We also recommend that the allowance for the older 
balances be reviewed annually and updated accordingly. We also recommend that the accrued interest schedule be 
reviewed in conjunction with the notes receivable schedule and that related accrued interest balances be adjusted for 
write offs. 

DRAFT
on fuon fu

ce owed bacce owe
recommend that trecomm

commend thcommend that the allo
mend that the amend that the accrued interc

elated accrued interest balances belated accrued interest b



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Accounting and Other Matters 

June 30, 2024 

8 

New GASB Pronouncements 

In this section, we would like to make you aware of certain confirmed and potential changes that are on the horizon that 
may affect your financial reporting and audit.   

The GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences in June 2022. The objective of this Statement is to better 
meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for 
compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified 
model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. This Statement requires that liabilities for compensated 
absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or 
settled through noncash means. A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) the leave is 
attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used 
for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means. Leave is attributable to services already rendered 
when an employee has performed the services required to earn the leave. Leave that accumulates is carried forward from 
the reporting period in which it is earned to a future reporting period during which it may be used for time off or otherwise 
paid or settled. In estimating the leave that is more likely than not to be used or otherwise paid or settled, a government 
should consider relevant factors such as employment policies related to compensated absences and historical information 
about the use or payment of compensated absences. However, leave that is more likely than not to be settled through 
conversion to defined benefit postemployment benefits should not be included in a liability for compensated absences. 

This Statement requires that a liability for certain types of compensated absences—including parental leave, military 
leave, and jury duty leave—not be recognized until the leave commences. This Statement also requires that a liability for 
specific types of compensated absences not be recognized until the leave is used. 

This Statement also establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used, generally using an 
employee’s pay rate as of the date of the financial statements. A liability for leave that has been used but not yet paid or 
settled should be measured at the amount of the cash payment or noncash settlement to be made. Certain salary-related 
payments that are directly and incrementally associated with payments for leave also should be included in the 
measurement of the liabilities. 

With respect to financial statements prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus, this Statement 
requires that expenditures be recognized for the amount that normally would be liquidated with expendable available 
financial resources. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and all reporting 
periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures in December 2023. State and local governments face a 
variety of risks that could negatively affect the level of service they provide or their ability to meet obligations as they 
come due. Although governments are required to disclose information about their exposure to some of those risks, 
essential information about other risks that are prevalent among state and local governments is not routinely disclosed 
because it is not explicitly required. The objective of this Statement is to provide users of government financial statements 
with essential information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or 
constraints. 

DRAFT
ctive of ctive o

ition and meition a
d measurement guidd measur

ent requires that liabilitiesent requires th
that has been used but not yetthat has been used 

leave that has not been used if (aleave that has not been u
s, and (c) the les, and ( ave is more likely thae likely 

means. Leave is attributablemeans. Leave is at  to servicervic
n the leave. Leave that accumulates the leave. Leave th

ng period during which it may be useod during whic
y than not to be used or otherwise pbe used

policies related to compensated abspolicies related to compen
ces. However, leave that is more liks. However, leave that is mor

t benefits shouts sh ld not be included in d not be included in 

or certain types or certain types of compensated aof compensated a
ogniognized until the leave commences.zed until the leave co

nces not be recognized until the leances not be recognized until 

es guidance for measuring a liabis guidance for measuring a liabilitlit
the date of the financial statementse of the financial statements

ured at the amount of the cash paymred at the amount o
directly and incremdirectly and incrementally associaentally

he liabilities. he liab

o financial statements prepared o financial statements prep
nditures be recogniznditures be recognized foed

tatementatemen
plicplic



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Accounting and Other Matters 

June 30, 2024 

9 

This Statement defines a concentration as a lack of diversity related to an aspect of a significant inflow of resources or 
outflow of resources. A constraint is a limitation imposed on a government by an external party or by formal action of the 
government’s highest level of decision-making authority. Concentrations and constraints may limit a government’s ability 
to acquire resources or control spending. 

This Statement requires a government to assess whether a concentration or constraint makes the primary government 
reporting unit or other reporting units that report a liability for revenue debt vulnerable to the risk of a substantial impact. 
Additionally, this Statement requires a government to assess whether an event or events associated with a concentration 
or constraint that could cause the substantial impact have occurred, have begun to occur, or are more likely than not to 
begin to occur within 12 months of the date the financial statements are issued. 

If a government determines that those criteria for disclosure have been met for a concentration or constraint, it should 
disclose information in notes to financial statements in sufficient detail to enable users of financial statements to 
understand the nature of the circumstances disclosed and the government’s vulnerability to the risk of a substantial 
impact. The disclosure should include descriptions of the following: 

 The concentration or constraint. 
 Each event associated with the concentration or constraint that could cause a substantial impact if the event had 

occurred or had begun to occur prior to the issuance of the financial statements. 
 Actions taken by the government prior to the issuance of the financial statements to mitigate the risk. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024, and all reporting periods 
thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements in April 2024. The objective of this 
Statement is to improve key components of the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing 
information that is essential for decision making and assessing a government’s accountability. This Statement also 
addresses certain application issues. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis: This Statement continues the requirement that the basic financial statements be 
preceded by management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), which is presented as required supplementary information 
(RSI). MD&A provides an objective and easily readable analysis of the government’s financial activities based on currently 
known facts, decisions, or conditions and presents comparisons between the current year and the prior year. This 
Statement requires that the information presented in MD&A be limited to the related topics discussed in five sections: (1) 
Overview of the Financial Statements, (2) Financial Summary, (3) Detailed Analyses, (4) Significant Capital Asset and Long-
Term Financing Activity, and (5) Currently Known Facts, Decisions, or Conditions. Furthermore, this Statement stresses 
that the detailed analyses should explain why balances and results of operations changed rather than simply presenting 
the amounts or percentages by which they changed. This Statement emphasizes that the analysis provided in MD&A 
should avoid unnecessary duplication by not repeating explanations that may be relevant to multiple sections and that 
“boilerplate” discussions should be avoided by presenting only the most relevant information, focused on the primary 
government. In addition, this Statement continues the requirement that information included in MD&A distinguish 
between that of the primary government and its discretely presented component units. 

Unusual or Infrequent Items: This Statement describes unusual or infrequent items as transactions and other events that 
are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. Furthermore, governments are required to display the inflows 
and outflows related to each unusual or infrequent item separately as the last presented flow(s) of resources prior to the 
net change in resource flows in the government-wide, governmental fund, and proprietary fund statements of resource 
flows. 

DRAFT
e to thee to th

vents associavents a
n to occur, or are mn to occu

ed. ed. 

n met for n met a concentration or constrtration
detail to enable users of financiadetail to enable users of fin

government’s vulnerability to the rgovernment’s vulnerability to the r
wing: ng: 

r constraint that could cause a subsat could
issuance of the financial statementsssuance of the financial stat

o the issuance of the financial statemissuance of the financial state

ective for fiscal years beginning aftecal years beginning afte
aged. aged. 

103, 103, Financial Reporting Model ImFinancial Reporting Mo
componentscompo  of the financial reportf the financial repo

al for decision making and ar decision making and assessissessi
tion issues. 

ussion and Analysis: This Statementussion and Analysis: This Sta
nagement’s discussion and analysis nagement’s discussion and analysi

rovides an objective and easily readrovides an objective and easily read
cisions, or conditions and prcisions, or conditions an

that the information prethat the information p
cial Statements, (2cial Statements, (2

and (5) Currand (5) Curr
ould eould e



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Accounting and Other Matters 

June 30, 2024 

10 

Presentation of the Proprietary Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position: This Statement 
requires that the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position continue to 
distinguish between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating revenues and expenses are defined 
as revenues and expenses other than nonoperating revenues and expenses. Nonoperating revenues and expenses are 
defined as (1) subsidies received and provided, (2) contributions to permanent and term endowments, (3) revenues and 
expenses related to financing, (4) resources from the disposal of capital assets and inventory, and (5) investment income 
and expenses. 

In addition to the subtotals currently required in a proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund 
net position, this Statement requires that a subtotal for operating income (loss) and noncapital subsidies be presented 
before reporting other nonoperating revenues and expenses. Subsidies are defined as (1) resources received from another 
party or fund (a) for which the proprietary fund does not provide goods and services to the other party or fund and (b) 
that directly or indirectly keep the proprietary fund’s current or future fees and charges lower than they would be 
otherwise, (2) resources provided to another party or fund (a) for which the other party or fund does not provide goods 
and services to the proprietary fund and (b) that are recoverable through the proprietary fund’s current or future pricing 
policies, and (3) all other transfers. 

Major Component Unit Information: This Statement requires governments to present each major component unit 
separately in the reporting entity’s statement of net position and statement of activities if it does not reduce the 
readability of the statements. If the readability of those statements would be reduced, combining statements of major 
component units should be presented after the fund financial statements. 

Budgetary Comparison Information: This Statement requires governments to present budgetary comparison information 
using a single method of communication—RSI. Governments also are required to present (1) variances between original 
and final budget amounts and (2) variances between final budget and actual amounts. An explanation of significant 
variances is required to be presented in notes to RSI. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025, and all reporting periods 
thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

DR
T

to

TTrevenue Toss) and nonc

FTdefined as (1) resour

FTds and services to the othe

FTfuture fees and charges lower t

FTr which the other party or fund doeFTe through the prop

AFT
AFt req ments 

AFnet position and statement AFose statements would be red

RAFnancial statements. 

RAis Statement requires gov

RAation—RSI. Governments al

RA2) variances between final budRAented in notes to RSI. 

s Statement are effective for fiscal yStatement are effec
pplication is encouraged. pplication is encouraged. 



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Accounting and Other Matters 

June 30, 2024 

11 

Current GASB Projects 

GASB currently has a variety of projects in process. Some of these projects discussed below. 

Classification of Nonfinancial Assets 

The objective of this project would be to reconsider the existing classification of nonfinancial assets and other related sub-
classifications (for example, capital assets or intangible assets) to ensure that (1) assets are classified in a way that provides 
the most relevant financial information and (2) the definitions of the classifications are understandable and appropriate 
to meeting financial reporting objectives. The project also will consider how any classification changes would affect 
financial statement presentation and disclosure of nonfinancial assets. The project will not, however, reexamine 
recognition or measurement of nonfinancial assets. This project is currently in exposure draft re-deliberations period. 

Going Concern Uncertainties and Severe Financial Stress 

The objective of this project is to address issues related to disclosures regarding going concern uncertainties and severe 
financial stress. The project will consider (1) improvements to existing guidance for going concern considerations to 
address diversity in practice and clarify the circumstances under which disclosure is appropriate, (2) developing a 
definition of severe financial stress and criteria for identifying when governments should disclose their exposure to severe 
financial stress, and (3) what information about a government’s exposure to severe financial stress is necessary to disclose. 
This project is currently in the initial deliberations period.  

Implementation Guidance Update – 2025 

The objective of this project is to update implementation guidance for additional issues that come to the attention of the 
staff. This project will result in the issuance of an Implementation Guide when sufficient need exists for new or improved 
guidance and the Board does not object to its issuance. All updates are incorporated into the Codification of Governmental 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards and the Comprehensive Implementation Guide, as appropriate. This project 
is currently in the initial proposals period. 

Infrastructure Assets 

The objective of this project is to address issues related to accounting and financial reporting for infrastructure assets. The 
project would evaluate standards-setting options related to reporting infrastructure assets to make information (1) more 
comparable across governments and more consistent over time, (2) more useful for making decisions and assessing 
government accountability, (3) more relevant to assessments of a government’s economic condition, and (4) better reflect 
the capacity of those assets to provide service and how that capacity may change over time. This project is currently in 
the initial deliberations period. 

DRAFT
nfinancinfinanc al asse

assets are classified iassets are
cations are understandablcations are und

r how any classification changer how any classificat
sets. The project wsets. The project will not, howevill not

urrently in exposure urrent draft re-deliberre-delib

ress ss 

to disclosures regarding going concs regar
vements vements to existing guidance for gg guida

cumstances under which disclosurmstances under which disclo
for identifyintifying when governments shwhen governments sh

out a government’s men exposure to seveexposure to sev
berations period.  erations period.  

date – 2025 date – 2025 

s to update implementation guidao update implementation guidann
ult in the issuance of an Implementassuance of an Implementa

d does not object to its issuance. All u does not object to its 
ncial Reporting Standards and the Cncial Reporting Standards an

e initial proposals period. e initial proposals perio

Assets Assets

roject is to addressroject is to address
andards-settandards-sett

ments aments a



Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
Accounting and Other Matters 

June 30, 2024 

12 

Revenue and Expense Recognition 

The objective of this project is to develop a comprehensive application model for the classification, recognition, and 
measurement of revenues and expenses. The purpose for developing a comprehensive model is (1) to improve the 
information regarding revenues and expenses that users need to make decisions and assess accountability, (2) to provide 
guidance regarding exchange and exchange-like transactions that have not been specifically addressed, (3) to evaluate 
revenue and expense recognition in the context of the conceptual framework, and (4) to address application issues 
identified in practice, based upon the results of the pre-agenda research on revenue for exchange and exchange-like 
transactions. This project is currently in the preliminary views re-deliberations period. 

Subsequent Events 

The objective of this project is to improve the accounting and financial reporting for subsequent events. The project will 
reexamine existing requirements related to subsequent events in Statement No. 56, Codification of Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in the AICPA Statements on Auditing Standards, to address issues related to (1) 
confusion about and challenges associated with applying the existing standards, (2) inconsistency in practice in the 
information provided about subsequent events, and (3) the usefulness of the information provided about subsequent 
events. This project is currently in the initial deliberations period toward an Exposure Draft. 

DRAFT
caca

d (4) to d (4) t
enue for exchenue f

eriod. eriod. 

cial reporting for subseqcial rep uent eventsent eve
s in Statement No. 56, s in Statement No Codificationtion

ents on Auditing Standardsts on Auditing Stan , to addre
g the existing standards, (2) inconsxisting standa

3) the usefulness of the informationess of t
tions period toward an Exposure Drations period toward an Exp



 

Appendix A 
Management Representation Letter 



[Client’s Letterhead] 

ENTER DATE 

Brown, Edwards & Company 
701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700, Suite 700 
Newport News, VA  23606 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Economic 
Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia, which comprise of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, as of June 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, for 
the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material 
respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. 
GAAP). 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information 
that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying 
on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. An omission or 
misstatement that is monetarily small in amount could be considered material as a result of qualitative factors. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of the date of this letter, the following representations 
made to you during your audit. 

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated June 18, 
2024, including our responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

2. The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP and include all 
properly classified funds and other financial information of the primary government and all component units 
required by generally accepted accounting principles to be included in the financial reporting entity. 

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

4. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to 
prevent and detect fraud. 

5. Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are 
reasonable. 

6. Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans, transfers, 
leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties have been 
appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

7. Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, including instances of noncompliance, 
subsequent to the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the 
financial statements. 

8. There are no uncorrected misstatements or omitted disclosures. In addition, you have proposed adjusting 
journal entries that have been posted to the entity’s accounts. We are in agreement with those adjustments. 

9. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

DDRAFTT
o the 

T
e prese

The Un

FTd to matters that ar

FTn or m of acco

FThat the judgment of a reasonable

FTthe omission or nt.

AFTonsidered material

AFTdate of th

RAFut in erms of the audit

RAaration and fair prese

RAferred to above are fairly pre

RAand other financial information oRAccepted accounting principles to b

DRonsibility for the design,

DRhe preparation and fai

DRent, whether due to fraud or e

DRknowledge our responsibility for thD and de Dssumptions we used DionshipsDan



Brown, Edwards & Company 
Page 2 

 

10. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the entity is contingently liable, if any, have been properly 
recorded or disclosed. 

Information Provided 

11. We have provided you with: 

a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters  

b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit. 

c) Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit 
evidence. 

d) Minutes of the meetings or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet 
been prepared. 

12. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements  

13. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

14. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves: 

 Management, 

 Employees who have significant roles in internal control,  

 Service organizations used by the entity, or 

 Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

15. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity’s financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others. 

16. We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or waste or abuse, whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements. 

17. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects 
should be considered when preparing the financial statements. 

18. We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity’s related parties and all the related party relationships 
and transactions of which we are aware. 

Government—specific 

19. There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or 
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices. 

20. We have taken timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud, noncompliance with provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, or abuse that you have reported to us.  

21. We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.  

22. We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies related to the 
audit objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented. 

DRAFTT
he 

T
mined it

Teetings for whic

FTting records and are reflecte

AFTent of the risk that

AFted fraud that affects th

RAF  ernal control, 

RAthe en

RAould have a m effec

RAe of any allegations of fraud oRAted by employees, former employ

DRnstances of noncomplian

DRontracts, or grant agree

DRinancial statements

DRve disclosed to you all k actuDbe considered when prepaDsclosed to you the idDns of which we arD



Brown, Edwards & Company 
Page 3 

 

23. We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our 
planned corrective actions, for the report.  

24. The Authority has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balance or net 
position. 

25. We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts; and legal and contractual 
provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds. 

26. We have appropriately identified, recorded, and disclosed all leases in accordance with GASBS No. 87. 

27. We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of 
fraud and noncompliance with provisions of laws and regulations that we believe have a material effect on 
the financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives, and any other instances 
that warrant the attention of those charged with governance. 

28. We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of 
noncompliance with provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a material effect on 
the determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. 

29. We have identified and disclosed to you all instances that have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of 
abuse that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material to the financial statements or other financial 
data significant to the audit objectives. 

30. There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those 
pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, 
tax or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the 
financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance. 

31. As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the financial statements and related notes as well as 
maintenance of lease schedules. We acknowledge our responsibility as it relates to those nonaudit services, 
including that we assume all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an individual, 
preferably within senior management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the 
adequacy and results of the services performed; accept responsibility for the results of the services; and 
ensured that the entity’s data and records are complete and received sufficient information to oversee the 
services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted responsibility for those financial statements and 
related notes. 

32. The Authority has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such 
assets nor has any asset been pledged as collateral. 

33. The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 

34. The financial statements include all component units, appropriately present majority equity interests in 
legally separate organizations and joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly disclose all other joint 
ventures and other related organizations. 

35. The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, 
as amended, and GASB Statement No. 84, as amended. 

36. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASBS Nos. 34  and 37  for presentation as major are 
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important 
to financial statement users. 

DDRAFTT
dance 

Trred or are That we believe h

FTe audit objectives, and

FTch have occurred or are likely to haFTgreements that we

AFTer financial data

AFave occ

AFtatively the fin

RAFof b t ordinances, law

RAng budgets), provision

RAted debt covenants whos

RAbasis for recording a loss co

RAou assisted with preparation of thfRAchedules. We acknowledge our re

DRall management responsibi

DRin senior managemen

DRnd results of the services p

DRthat the entity’s data and recordsDRes. We have reviewed, approved, Dnotes. Dty has satisfactory tDny asset been pDompliedDt



Brown, Edwards & Company 
Page 4 

 

37. Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted), and 
classifications of fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned) are properly 
classified and, if applicable, approved. 

38. Investments, derivative instruments, and land and other real estate held by endowments are properly 
valued. 

39. Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded. 

40. Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of 
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

41. Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues, general 
revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent fund principal. 

42. Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported. 

43. Special and extraordinary items are appropriately classified and reported, if applicable. 

44. Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk and are 
properly disclosed. 

45. Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if 
applicable, depreciated or amortized. 

46. Capital assets have been evaluated for impairment as a result of significant and unexpected decline in 
service utility. 

47. We have not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting new 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board  Statements (GASBS) that are not yet effective, as discussed in 
the notes to financial statements.  The entity is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting these 
Statements will have on its financial position and the results of its operations when the Statements are 
adopted. 

48. We have appropriately disclosed the entity’s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or 
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted 
net position is available and have determined that net position is properly recognized under the policy. 

49. We are following our established accounting policy regarding which resources (that is, restricted, committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for which more than one resource 
classification is available. That policy determines the fund balance classifications for financial reporting 
purposes. 

50. We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is measured 
and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not 
changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and 
interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI. 

51. Expenditures of federal awards were below the $750,000 threshold in the audit period, and we were not 
required to have an audit in accordance with the Uniform Guidance. 

DRAFTTT
ithin p

Tutions to p

FTappropriately clas

FTd reported, if applicable. 

FTuments are pro ed as 

AFTssets, are pr

AFpairment as a result of sig

RAFvaluating the impact t

RArds Board  Statements (GASBS) tha

RAnts.  The entity is therefo

RAs financial position and the 

DRAdisclosed the entity’s polic

DRn an expense is incurred 

DRavailable and have dete

DRllowing our established accountiDRed, or unassigned) are considered toDation is available. That pDge our responsibDthin prescrDused



Brown, Edwards & Company 
Page 5 

 

We have evaluated subsequent events through the date of this letter, which is the date the financial statements 
were issued or available to be issued. No events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date and 
through the date of this letter that would require further adjustment to or disclosure in the aforementioned 
financial statements. 

______________________________________________ 

Matt Welch, Acting Economic Development Director 

______________________________________________ 

Katie McConnell, Senior Deputy Director 

______________________________________________ 

Lisa Jones, External Accountant, A.G. Reese 

DRAFT
_____ _



 

Appendix B 
Adjusting Journal Entries 



Client: 1600008.000 - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
Engagement: 24 AUD - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
Period Ending: 6/30/2024
Trial Balance: 3215 - TBD CAP Loan Fund
Workpaper: 3212 - Adjusting Journal Entries - CAP

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

4315 / 4316

19900 Allowance for Doubtful Acct 27,421.00
61500 Bad Debt Expense 27,421.00
19200 Note Receivable-CAP 54,842.00

Total 54,842.00 54,842.00

4320

61500 Bad Debt Expense 27,222.00
14700 Accrued Interst Rec 27,222.00

Total 27,222.00 27,222.00

Total Adjusting Journal Entries 82,064.00 82,064.00

Total All Journal Entries 82,064.00 82,064.00

Adjusting Journal Entries
Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 1
To write-off CAP notes.

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 2
To write off accrued interest on loans written off during FY24.

1 of 1

DRAFT
27,22

82,064.00

82,064.00TTTTTTTTTTT



Client: 1600008.000 - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
Engagement: 24 AUD - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia
Period Ending: 6/30/2024
Trial Balance: 3230 - TBD Citywide Revolving Loan Fund
Workpaper: 3214 - Adjusting Journal Entries - CRLP

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

6030

63500 Bank Fees 1.00
39005 Retained Earnings 1.00

Total 1.00 1.00

4315

60100 Grant and Allocation Exp. 50,000.00
61500 Bad Debt Expense 50,000.00
19200 Note Receivable-CWRLF 100,000.00

Total 100,000.00 100,000.00

4315

11500.15000 Allowance for Doubtful Account 667.00
61500 Bad Debt Expense 667.00
19200 Note Receivable-CWRLF 1,334.00

Total 1,334.00 1,334.00

4316

61500 Bad Debt Expense 15,000.00
11500.15000 Allowance for Doubtful Account 15,000.00

Total 15,000.00 15,000.00

4320

61500 Bad Debt Expense 46,510.00
11600 Accrued Interest 46,510.00

Total 46,510.00 46,510.00

Total Adjusting Journal Entries 162,845.00 162,845.00

Total All Journal Entries 162,845.00 162,845.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 5
To write off accrued interest on loans written off during FY24.

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 3
To write-off the Tribble loan.

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 4
To create an allowance for the Nomad Deli note.

Adjusting Journal Entries
Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 1
To adjust beginning net position balance to PY ending balance.

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 2
To write-off two (eWaste & MRF) notes that are not going to be collected. ($50K each).

1 of 1

DRAFT
100,00

667.00
667.00

1,334.001,334.0

43164

15,000.00

15,000

43204320
TTTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTTT



CARE Program Cooperation Agreement 



AYES: NOES: ABSTAIN: 

ADOPTED: REJECTED: STRICKEN: 

INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-229 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to enter 
into the Twenty-Seventh Commercial Area Revitalization Effort Program Cooperation Agreement 
between the City of Richmond, Virginia, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of 
Richmond for the purpose of providing for the operation of the Commercial Area Revitalization 
Effort (“CARE”) Program. 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 

Approved as to form and legality 
by the City Attorney 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 

§ 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond,

be and is hereby authorized to enter into the Twenty-Seventh Commercial Area Revitalization 

Effort Program Cooperation Agreement between the City of Richmond, Virginia, and the 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of providing for the 

operation of the Commercial Area Revitalization Effort (“CARE”) Program. Such agreement shall 



 2 

be approved as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document 

attached to this ordinance. 

 § 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0771

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0771 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

06/26/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Subject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 09/09/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

Admin-2024-0771 - FY25 Twenty-Seventh CARE Coop 

Ord. - AATF, Admin-2024-0771-FY25 CARE 

Cooperative Agreement AATF

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Katie.McConnell@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Matt Welch 1 7/17/20247/15/2024 Approve

1 Sharon Ebert 2 7/18/20247/16/2024 Approve

1 Jeff Gray 3 7/18/20247/19/2024 Approve

1 Lincoln Saunders 4 8/2/20247/24/2024 Approve

1 Cordell Hayes   - FYI 5 7/24/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Mayor Stoney 6 8/7/20248/29/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024

lowerydw
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0771)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0771

   City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R REQUEST

DATE: July 1, 2024 EDITION: 1

TO:  The Honorable Members of City Council

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sharon Ebert, Deputy Chief Administrative Officer

FROM: Matthew Welch, Acting Director, Department of Economic Development

RE: Authorize of the Twenty-seventh CARE Cooperation Agreement with the Economic Development 

Authority of the City of Richmond (EDA) for the purpose of administering the CARE Program.

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE:  To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer to enter into the Twenty-seventh CARE 

Cooperation Agreement with the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond (EDA) for 

the purpose of administering the CARE Program.

BACKGROUND:  The Commercial Area Revitalization Effort (CARE) Program was established in 

1992 by the Department of Economic Development, as a comprehensive program for revitalizing the 

Hull Street commercial corridor between Commerce Road and Cowardin Avenue. The Program has 

since been expanded to twelve areas which include: Jackson Ward, North 25th Street; Brookland Park 

Blvd.; Hull Street; Midlothian Turnpike; Fulton Hill, Lombardy/Chamberlayne, Meadowbridge, North 

Avenue, Shockoe Bottom, Swansboro and Eastview/Whitcomb as CARE commercial corridors. The 

CARE area is best viewed through this searchable map 

<https://www.richmondeda.com/enterprise-zone-and-care-program-map/>. From time-to-time 

changes are made to the CARE Program to include other incentives beyond the loan and rebate 

components, e.g., community development and neighborhood transformation that will stimulate job 

creation and assist in developing mixed-income communities.  In FY 2024, $275,663 in CARE funds 

were awarded to 17 applicants. The private investment associated with these projects was $18.2 

million. 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0771)

The FY 2025 budget included $300,000 in CARE program funding. The Cooperation Agreement 

between the City and the EDA lays out the terms for administering the program. It includes clarifications 

related to mixed-use development and new language related to the upfit of commercial spaces and 

security improvements, and support for events that enhance the commercial environment and generate 

increase foot traffic within CARE areas.  Additionally, in late FY 2024, the City began efforts to 

evaluate the current CARE boundaries. The administration anticipates providing recommendations on 

boundary adjustments and incentive updates in FY 2025. 

STRATEGIC INITATIVES AND OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES: The use of targeted 

incentives to encourage revitalization and job creation and support business attraction and expansion is 

supported by the City’s adopted Strategic Plan for Equitable Economic Development.

FISCAL IMPACT:  The CARE program funds were included in the adopted FY 2025 Budget.

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE:  Upon Adoption.

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE:  September 9, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE:  September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA:  Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE:  Finance and Economic Development Standing 

Committee

AFFECTED AGENCIES:  Department of Economic Development

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: ORD. 2023-213

ATTACHMENTS:  The Twenty-Seventh Commercial Area Revitalization Effort Program 

Cooperation Agreement Between the City of Richmond, Virginia, and the Economic Development 

Authority

STAFF:  Matthew Welch, Acting Director, Department of Economic Development 

Katie McConnell, Deputy Director, Department of Economic Development 

Rick Winston, Programs Administrator, Department of Economic Development 

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 8/29/2024



1  

TWENTY-SEVENTH COMMERCIAL AREA REVITALIZATION 
EFFORT PROGRAM COOPERATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND VIRGINIA AND 
THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
THIS TWENTY-SEVENTH COMMERCIAL AREA REVITALIZATION EFFORT 

 
PROGRAM COOPERATION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made as of 

 
 , 2024, by and between the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a 

municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "City") and the ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a political 

subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "Authority"), 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, certain areas of the City are designated as Commercial Area 

Revitalization Effort ("CARE") areas which are older neighborhood commercial strips in 

need of revitalization and rehabilitation and where the existing physical deterioration 

impairs economic values and tax revenues. Currently, the CARE areas are comprised of 

the following: 

• Belt Boulevard CARE Area - Belt Boulevard generally bounded by the railroad 

tracks on the east on Hull Street Road to the Belt Boulevard Exit Ramp west on 

Hull Street Road and Belt Boulevard south at Hull Street Road to Belt Boulevard 

and Old Midlothian Turnpike on the north and the Belt Boulevard periphery; 

• Brookland Park CARE Area - Brookland Park Boulevard from Montrose Avenue to 

Woodrow Avenue and North Avenue to Essex; 

• Fulton Hill CARE Area - Government Road from Parker Street to Williamsburg 

Road and Williamsburg Road from Waverly Street to the City limits; 



2  

• Hull Street CARE Area - the area of the City generally bounded by 26th Street on 

the west, Mayo Bridge on the east, the north side and the south side of Hull Street 

and the Hull Street periphery; 

• Jackson Ward CARE Area - Historic Jackson Ward bounded by the Richmond- 

Petersburg Turnpike (I-95/64) to the north, Broad Street (both sides of the Street) 

to South Broad including Grace Street from Foushee to 5th, 3rd Street to the east 

and Belvidere to the west, with emphasis on Broad Street from Belvidere to 4th and 

Grace Street from Foushee Street to 5th Street; 

• Richmond Highway CARE Area - Richmond Highway from Bellemeade to 

Walmsley; 

• Lombardy/Chamberlayne CARE Area - Lombardy Street from Brook Road to 

Chamberlayne Avenue, and Chamberlayne Avenue from Mitchell Street to 

Brookland Park Boulevard; 

• Meadowbridge CARE Area - Intersection of Meadowbridge Street and Brookland 

Park Boulevard and periphery; 

• Midlothian CARE Area - Midlothian Turnpike bounded by East Belt Boulevard on 

the east and Chippenham Parkway on the west and periphery; 

• North 25th Street CARE Area - North 25th Street from Main Street to Nine Mile 

Road (the retail commercial areas both east and west of the North 25th Street 

periphery and both sides of Nine Mile Road; 

• North Avenue CARE Area - North Avenue primarily from the 2400 block to Poe 

Street; 

• Shockoe Bottom CARE Area - Dock Street on the South, 15th Street on the West, 

Broad Street on the North and 23rd Street on the East and periphery; 



3  

• Swansboro CARE Area - Clopton Street on the east, 37th Street on the west, the 

south side of Hull Street and the north side of Hull and the periphery; 

• Upper Hull Street CARE Area - Hull Street generally bounded by Warwick on the 

north, Chippenham on the south, east on Hull Street Road, west on Hull Street 

Road and the Upper Hull Street periphery 

WHEREAS, the primary objective of the Commercial Area Revitalization Effort (the 

"CARE Program" or the "Program") is to improve the environment for retail business, 

service or other business, mixed real estate uses in designated CARE areas; to provide 

incentives to property and business owners to improve the physical appearance of their 

property; and to provide special incentives and funding to assist in the transformation 

efforts being undertaken to deconcentrate poverty in the City. To that end, these 

incentives and funding may be provided to undertake selected activities. 

WHEREAS, the City and the Authority have structured a loan and rebate incentive 

program in cooperation with private lenders and property owners to stimulate commercial 

revitalization and the rehabilitation of properties in designated CARE Areas; 

WHEREAS, at the City's request, the Authority has undertaken certain loan and 

rebate activities in the implementation of the CARE Program incentives; 

WHEREAS, the CARE Program operated in FY 24 with the use of previously and 

properly appropriated funds and with revolved funds generated by the Program; 

WHEREAS, the City appropriated to the City’s Department of Economic 

Development $300,000.00 in FY25 for the Program; 

WHEREAS, the City has, from time to time, appropriated funds for incentives and 
 
loans; 



4  

WHEREAS, the City and the Authority agree to work together to jointly implement 

the CARE Program; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the benefits to accrue to the City and its 

citizens from the implementation of the Program, and of the mutual covenants hereinafter 

set forth, the City and the Authority agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. The following words and terms used in this Agreement have the 

following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

A. Agreement shall mean this CARE Program Cooperation Agreement, as 

amended and restated, from time to time. 

B. CARE Area shall mean those areas of the City as described above or as 

modified by the City’s Department of Economic Development and the Authority 

from time to time. 

C. CARE shall mean the incentives described herein which satisfy the conditions 

and requirements of this Agreement. 

D. CARE Loan shall mean a loan that is part of the Loan Program and that is 

made by and between the Authority and a borrower for the purpose of making 

improvements in accordance with this Agreement and the Plan. 

E. CARE Program shall mean the Commercial Area Revitalization Effort 

Program and all activities that the City and the Authority undertake pursuant 

to this Agreement to implement the CARE Program as described in this 

Agreement. 

F. City-wide shall mean the geographic borders of the City of Richmond. 
 

G. Program Fund shall mean that account established in accordance with this 



5  

Agreement and that contains all funds from any source related to the 

Program. 

2. FUNDING. Any expenditures of properly appropriated money, prior to the 

execution of this Cooperation Agreement and pursuant to the CARE program in FY25 are 

ratified hereby. 

3. CARE LOAN PROGRAM. The CARE Loan Program consists of loans made to 

property owners in accordance with this Section 3. The Authority shall administer the 

CARE Loan Program in accordance with the following requirements. 

A. Public/Private Loan Package - The Authority may finance rehabilitation 

projects with or without a private loan component in accordance with 

established underwriting guidelines. 

B. CARE Loan Program loans shall be in an amount not to exceed $50,000 

per project and shall not exceed $100,000 per applicant. Further, outstanding 

CARE Loan Program loan balances are included in the $100,000 maximum. 

C. CARE Loan Program loans shall be supported by an equity component of 

at least ten percent (10%). 

D. CARE Loan Program loans will be fully amortized over a 60 to a 180 month 

period.  The term of the loan may not exceed the useful life of the 

improvements. 

E. CARE loans will bear interest at a rate of four percent (4.0%). 
 

4. CARE COMMERCIAL LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENT LOANS. The Authority may 
 
finance leasehold improvements to properties located in designated CARE areas. Loans 

and rebates are available to tenants of properties within the area who have a valid lease 

acceptable to the Authority. Lease options may be considered in the term of the loan if 



6  

the lease and option terms are acceptable to the Authority and aggregate no less than 

five (5) years. The proceeds may be used to make leasehold improvements to the interior 

and exterior of the property, to the mechanical systems, or to bring the property in 

compliance with local and state building codes. The terms and conditions of the CARE 

Commercial Leasehold Improvement Loans are presented as follows: 

A. Loan Amount: Qualified tenants may receive loans of no more than $10,000 

and no less than $2,500. 

B. Financing Structure: Minimum Tenant contribution equivalent to10% of 

improvements being financed. 

C. CARE Commercial Leasehold Loans will be fully amortized over a 24-month to 

60-month period. The term of the loan may not exceed the useful life of the 

improvements or the remaining term of the lease. 

D. CARE Commercial Leasehold Loans will bear interest at a rate of four percent 

(4%). 

E. CARE Commercial Leasehold Loans may be secured by a deed of trust on the 

residence of the tenant or other security acceptable to the Authority. 

5. LOAN PACKAGE ELIGIBILITY. The Authority agrees that it will make no CARE 

Loan or CARE Commercial Leasehold loan unless it is part of the loan package described 

herein which meets the following criteria: 

A. Proposed improvements shall comply with all City zoning laws. 
 

B. Generally, upon completion of the improvements, the property will comply with 

all applicable local and state laws and regulations. 

C. The City’s Department of Economic Development shall approve the character 
 

of all facade improvements. 



7  

6. AWARD OF LOANS. All loans will be awarded on a competitive basis according 

to the following criteria: 

A. The extent to which the project meets the Authority’s underwriting criteria. 
 

B. The extent of the project's visual impact. 
 

C. The extent to which the project is located in close proximity to other 

rehabilitated properties or to properties that will be funded under the CARE 

Loan Program or CARE Commercial Leasehold Loan Program. 

D. The extent to which any upper floors will be used for residential purposes upon 

completion of the project. 

E. The extent to which the project eliminates blight. 

F. Loans must adhere to prudent lending practices. 

7. AUTHORITY RECORDS. The Authority shall keep a record of all loans including 

the names of borrowers, loan terms and amounts, and nature of improvements funded. 

The City shall monitor the Authority records, and the Chief Administrative Officer and the 

City Attorney, and their designees shall have access to such records. The City Auditor, 

pursuant to City Code Section 2-187, as same may be amended from time to time, shall 

have access to any and all records on demand and without notice. 

8. CARE REBATES. The CARE Rebate Program is a reimbursement grant for 

investments in the exterior or interior improvements of commercial structures located in 

the CARE areas. 

A. CARE Rebates shall be available only to the extent that funding is available. 

B. The legal entity or individual that owns, or leases, pursuant to a written lease 

for more than one year, a commercial property within a CARE area; or the legal 

entity or individual that operates the business at the property, as evidenced by 



8  

a City of Richmond business license, are eligible to apply for the CARE Rebate 

Program. If the applicant is a tenant of the property, its application must include 

a copy of the lease and written approval from the property owner.   

C. CARE Rebates are equal to Fifty Percent (50%) of eligible expenses, unless 

specified elsewhere in Section 8.  

D. An applicant shall not receive CARE rebate assistance that exceeds Twenty- 

Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) on any one building. An applicant shall not 

receive CARE rebate assistance that exceeds Fifty Thousand Dollars 

($50,000.00) on multiple buildings over a 36-month period. 

E. No applicant shall be eligible to receive the maximum allowable rebate amount 

until completion of the renovation or upfit of the commercial space as 

evidenced by issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy or Letter of Zoning 

Compliance.  

F. The City’s Department of Economic Development staff shall review and 

approve rebate requests which shall include providing approved rebate checks 

and maintaining accounting records.  

G. Rebates are available through the CARE Program for fire suppression, interior 

rehabilitation, exterior rehabilitation, upfit or build out of ground floor 

commercial space, and security improvements.  

H. Priority Security Improvements, as defined by the Department of Economic 

Development in the CARE Program Guidelines, are eligible for a 

reimbursement grant equal to One Hundred Percent (100%) of eligible 

expenses, up to the maximum allowable rebate amount. 

I. If a property is mixed-use, rebate requests must be for expenses exclusive to 



9  

the commercial portion of the property, or if the expense is property-wide (i.e., 

the roof), the value of the expense will be prorated by the percentage of the 

property that is commercial space. 

Rebates may be available to neighborhood, civic, and business associations or similar 

entities to fund events and festivals that (i) enhance the commercial environment for 

neighborhood businesses and (ii) generate increased foot traffic into a CARE area to 

attract new customers for neighborhood businesses. Up to $2,500 dollar-for-dollar 

reimbursement may be provided per event, and the organizing entity must submit its 

registration with the State Corporation Commission, written details on how the event 

accomplishes the above objectives to the Authority, and receive preauthorization from the 

Authority’s Executive Director prior to the event. The Organizing entity must also have the 

proper permits with the City and be current on all City taxes. Eligible expenses (minus 

taxes and fees) include event rentals (stages, bathrooms, tenting), security and sanitation, 

and marketing. 

9. INFORMATION SHARING. The Authority agrees to provide the Chief 

Administrative Office or a designee thereof with copies of all correspondence relating to 

its activities to be performed under this Agreement and will keep the Chief Administrative 

Officer or a designee thereof fully and timely informed of all material developments 

relating to the CARE Program. For purposes of this Agreement, the City’s Director of 

Economic Development is the designee of the City’s Chief Administrative Officer. 

10. BUDGET AND AUTHORITY EXPENSES. The budget shall contain existing 

appropriations, any unencumbered amounts within the Program Fund and anticipated 

revenues from activities undertaken for the current Fiscal Year. Funds totaling $300,000 

will be transferred from the budget of the Department of Economic Development to carry 



10  

out the purposes of this Agreement. The Fiscal Year 2025 appropriation may be 

encumbered or transferred to the Authority no sooner than July 1., 2024. The Authority is 

authorized to use an amount not to exceed $24,000.00 to cover the Authority’s direct 

expenses in administering this Agreement. 

11. GENERAL PROJECT FUND. The Authority agrees that funds transferred by the 

City to the Authority from time to time for the Program shall be deposited by the Authority 

in a designated Program Fund to be used only in accordance with this Agreement. The 

Authority agrees to transfer to the Program Fund any funds received from any source as 

a result of this Program, including, but not limited, income and interest earned against the 

Program Fund. 

12. AUTHORITY LIABILITY. It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the 

Authority any responsibility other than what may be required to implement the Plan under 

this Agreement. Accordingly, the Authority does not assume any responsibility or liability 

whatsoever except as specifically stated herein. Should any liability accrue to the 

Authority which is not specifically addressed in this Agreement, the Authority shall not be 

required to expend its funds derived from sources other than the Program Fund to 

discharge such liability. The Authority is hereby authorized to expend such funds from the 

Program Fund as may be necessary to protect the assets of the Authority and to prevent 

the entry of a default judgment against the Authority. If a lawsuit involving the Program is 

filed or expected to be filed against the Authority, the Authority shall immediately notify 

the City Attorney and Chief Administrative Officer. The parties acknowledge that the 

Authority has no general fund revenue and that each Program the Authority undertakes 

is subject to such program's own independent financial resources and limitations. 

13. ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT. The Authority shall require from the 



11  

borrower an appropriate level of environmental inquiry. Whenever the results of a Phase 

I site assessment indicates a need to perform a Phase II site assessment, the Authority 

shall so advise the borrower and City, shall provide the City with a copy of the Phase I 

site assessment and shall receive the City's written approval before requesting a Phase 

II site assessment from the borrower. The City shall be provided a copy of the Phase II 

site assessment results. 

The City and the Authority shall not be responsible for abating and remediating any 

environmental condition or nuisance of any kind which may be created, caused or, to the 

extent exacerbated or contributed to by the Project activities. 

14. ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT. The Authority shall keep records of its financial 

transactions, if any, for the projects described herein in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles. The City and the Authority agree that the Authority may 

engage the services of an independent auditor to conduct an annual audit of the financial 

transactions, if any, undertaken for the projects described herein. Such audit shall comply 

in all respects with generally accepted accounting principles. The City Auditor shall have 

access to the independent auditor's work papers. In addition, the City Auditor or his 

designee may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under this 

Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to assure that the independent external auditor 

and the City Auditor are granted access to all books and records of any party necessary 

to complete such audits, and will require appropriate provisions in furtherance of this 

objective in any contracts required under this Agreement. The Authority shall provide an 

annual audited report on the Program Fund within three months after the end of its fiscal 

year. Failure to provide an annual audited report shall be considered a material breach of 

this Agreement and provide cause for termination of the Agreement. 



12  

15. AUTHORITY CONTRACTS. The Authority may, within the approved budget, 

contract without the City's prior approval for services deemed by the Authority to be 

necessary to undertake and carry out its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

16. NO DISCRIMINATION. The City and the Authority agree not to discriminate, in 

carrying out this Agreement, against any employee or applicant because of race, color, 

religion, national origin, sex, pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, age, 

marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, or military status. 

17. AUTHORITY BOND. The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City a 

blanket corporate fidelity bond surety covering all officers and employees of the Authority 

capable of authorizing disbursements of funds or handling funds received or disbursed 

by the Authority from the City or any other party involved in any activities undertaken 

pursuant to this Agreement. 

18. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and the performance thereof shall be 

governed, interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or provisions, 

whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause the 

application of the laws or any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia. 

19. NOTICES. Any notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be 

sufficient if in writing and delivered personally, by messenger, by recognized overnight 

courier service or sent by first class, registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; 

if to the Authority, to its Chairman at 1500 East Main Street, Suite 400, Richmond, Virginia 

23219 or if to the City, to its Chief Administrative Officer at City Hall, 900 East Broad 

Street, 14th Floor, Richmond, Virginia 23219 with a copy to the City Attorney, 900 East 



13  

Broad Street, Suite 400, Richmond, Virginia 23219. Either party may change its address 

for purposes of notice by giving notice to the other in accordance with this paragraph. 

20. NO ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 

benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto; provided, however, 

that in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties or obligations of 

the parties hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior 

written consent of the other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to give. 

21. NO THIRD PARTY RIGHTS. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Agreement, the City and the Authority hereby agree that: (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this 

Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of 

any individual or entity other than the City and the Authority; (iii) no individual or entity 

shall obtain any right to make any claim against the City or the Authority under the 

provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed 

or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. For 

purposes of this section, the phrase “individual or entity” means any individual or entity, 

including, but not limited to, individuals, tenants, subtenants, contractors, subcontractors, 

vendors, sub-vendors, assignees, licensors and sub-licensors, regardless of whether 

such individual or entity is named in this Agreement. 

22. TERMINATION. Either party may terminate this Agreement with or without cause 

at any time upon reasonable written notice. Upon termination, the Authority shall transfer 

to the City all assets held under this Agreement, including receivables, and shall 

cooperate in transferring any such assets to the City. 

23. SUBJECT-TO-APPROPRIATIONS. All payments and other performances by the 



14  

City and the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, 

Authority Board approval and annual appropriations by the City Council. It is understood 

and agreed among the parties that the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder 

only to the extent of the funds are available or which may hereafter become available for 

the purpose of this Agreement. Under no circumstances shall the City’s or the Authority’s 

total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of funds appropriated by the 

City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this Agreement. 

Witness the following signatures and seals: 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
A municipal corporation of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia, 

 
By:   

J. E. Lincoln Saunders, 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
Date:   

 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 

 
Deputy City Attorney 



15  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, 
A Political Subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia 

 
By:    

John Molster, 
Chairman 

 
Date:   



Enterprise Zone Program Cooperation 
Agreement 



 
AYES:   NOES:   ABSTAIN:  
      

ADOPTED:  REJECTED:  STRICKEN:  
 

  
INTRODUCED: September 9, 2024 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-238 
 
 
 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute The Second Enterprise Zone Cooperation Agreement between the City of Richmond and 
the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of administering 
the Enterprise Zone Program to stabilize and revitalize enterprise zone areas by stimulating private 
investment through financial incentives. 

   
 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 
   

 
Approved as to form and legality 

by the City Attorney 
   

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: SEP 23 2024 AT 6 P.M. 
 
 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 
 
 § 1. That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, 

be and is hereby authorized to execute The Second Enterprise Zone Cooperation Agreement 

between the City of Richmond and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 

for the purpose of administering the Enterprise Zone Program to stabilize and revitalize enterprise 

zone areas by stimulating private investment through financial incentives. Such agreement shall 

be approved as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document 

attached to this ordinance. 



 2 

 § 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
 



Master

City of Richmond 900 East Broad Street

2nd Floor of City Hall

Richmond, VA 23219

www.rva.gov

File Number: Admin-2024-0723

File ID: Type: Status: Admin-2024-0723 Request for Ordinance or 

Resolution

Regular Agenda

1Version: Reference: In Control: City Clerk Waiting 

Room

06/26/2024File Created: Department: Cost: 

Final Action: Subject: 

Title: 

Internal Notes: 

Code Sections: Agenda Date: 07/22/2024

Indexes: Agenda Number: 

Patron(s): Enactment Date: 

WD- Enterprise Zone Cooperation Agreement 

Ordinance - AATF, Second Cooperative Agreement for 

Enterprise Zone AATF

Attachments: Enactment Number: 

Introduction Date: Contact: 

Effective Date: Drafter: Katie.McConnell@rva.gov

Related Files: 

Approval History

Action DateVersion Seq # Due DateActionApprover

1 Matt Welch 1 7/1/20246/27/2024 Approve

1 Sharon Ebert 2 7/1/20246/27/2024 Approve

1 Jeff Gray 3 7/1/20246/28/2024 Approve

1 Lincoln Saunders 4 7/2/20246/28/2024 Approve

1 Cordell Hayes   - FYI 5 6/28/2024 Notified - FYI

1 Mayor Stoney 6 7/2/20247/15/2024 Approve

History of Legislative File     

Action:  Result: Return 

Date:  

Due Date: Sent To:  Date:  Acting Body:  Ver-

sion: 

Page 1City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024

lowerydw
Received



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0723)

Text of Legislative File Admin-2024-0723

   City of Richmond
Intracity Correspondence

O&R REQUEST

DATE: June 18, 2024 EDITION: 1

TO:  The Honorable Members of City Council

THROUGH: The Honorable Levar M. Stoney, Mayor

THROUGH: J.E. Lincoln Saunders, Chief Administrative Officer

THROUGH: Sharon Ebert, Deputy Chief Administrative Officer

FROM: Mathew Welch, Acting Director, Department of Economic Development

RE: Authorization for The Second Cooperation Agreement by and between the City of Richmond and 

the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond to administer the Enterprise Zone (EZ) 

Program

ORD. OR RES. No.

PURPOSE:  To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer to enter into the Second Enterprise Zone 

Program Cooperation Agreement with the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 

(EDA) for the purpose of administering the Enterprise Zone Program.

BACKGROUND:  The Enterprise Zone program is a partnership between the Commonwealth and 

the City of Richmond that encourages job creation and private investment in the City's designated 

Enterprise Zones. The City has two enterprise zones - Zones 19A and 28A. The Commonwealth 

approved both Zones for five-year extensions in December 2022. The City’s Enterprise Zones are best 

viewed through this searchable map 

<https://www.richmondeda.com/enterprise-zone-and-care-program-map/>.

Richmond's participation in the program enables economic development and redevelopment projects 

within the Enterprise Zones to access two state-level incentive programs - the Job Creation Grant 

program and the Real Property Investment Grant (RPIG) program. 

Page 2City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0723)

To participate in the program, the Commonwealth requires Richmond to offer incentives, which it does 

through six local reimbursement grant programs for businesses and property owners that invest and 

create jobs within the Zones. The maximum value of Richmond’s reimbursement grants ranges from 

$1,000 to $10,000, depending on the program. As of June 2024, $265,298 in local Enterprise Zone 

funds were awarded to 58 applicants. The private investment associated with these projects was over 

$28.3 million. 

The FY 2025 budget included $400,000 in enterprise zone program funding. The Cooperation 

Agreement between the City and the EDA lays out the terms for administering the program. The 

Second Cooperation Agreement includes new clarifying language on commercial projects with 

mixed-use components and simplifies reimbursement time restrictions. Additionally, in late FY 2024, the 

City began efforts to evaluate the current Enterprise Zone boundaries and incentives. The administration 

anticipates providing recommendations on boundary adjustments and incentive updates in FY 2025. 

STRATEGIC INITATIVES AND OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES: The Enterprise 

Zone is a joint program between the Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Housing and 

Community Development and the City, with administrative support from the EDA. The use of targeted 

incentives to encourage revitalization and job creation and support business attraction and expansion is 

supported by the Strategic Plan for Equitable Economic Development.

FISCAL IMPACT:  Enterprise Zone program funds were included in the adopted Fiscal Year 2025 

budget. 

DESIRED EFFECTIVE DATE:  Upon Adoption.

REQUESTED INTRODUCTION DATE:  July 22, 2024

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE:  September 23, 2024

REQUESTED AGENDA:  Consent

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL COMMITTEE:  Finance and Economic Development Standing 

Committee (September 19, 2024)

AFFECTED AGENCIES:  Department of Economic Development

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ORD. OR RES.: ORD. 2023-213

ATTACHMENTS:  The Second Enterprise Zone Cooperation Agreement Between the City of 

Richmond, Virginia, and the Economic Development Authority

STAFF:  Mathew Welch, Acting Director Director, Department of Economic Development 

Katie McConnell, Deputy Director, Department of Economic Development 

Page 3City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



Master Continued (Admin-2024-0723)

Rick Winston, Programs Administrator, Department of Economic Development 

Page 4City of Richmond Printed on 7/15/2024



 1 

 
THE SECOND ENTERPRISE ZONE COOPERATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA AND  
THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
  

THIS ENTERPRISE ZONE PROGRAM COOPERATION AGREEMENT (the 

“Agreement”) is made as of _____________, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and between 

the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia (the "City") and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY 

OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

"Authority"),  

RECITALS: 

 

WHEREAS, the Commonwealth of Virginia (the Commonwealth), pursuant to 

Title 59.1 Chapter 49 of the Code of Virginia, authorizes the establishment of local 

Enterprise Zones and authorizes localities to offer incentives to stimulate economic 

development within the Enterprise Zones;  

WHEREAS, as of the Effective Date the City has two Enterprise Zones 

designated by the Commonwealth. Zone 19 (previously referred to as Zone I) and Zone 

28A (previously referred to as Zone III) are, generally speaking, comprised of the 

following areas of the City as further depicted in Exhibit A. 

• Zone 19 comprises 3,611 acres of commercial property south of the James 

River, bounded on the north by the James River, on the east by Interstate 

95 to its intersection with Chippenham Parkway (Route 150), on the south 

by Chippenham Parkway, and on the west by Richmond Highway. 



 2 

• Zone 28A comprises 3,588 acres. The city line between Richmond and 

Henrico County generally bounds the zone to the west, Interstate 64 to the 

north, Interstate 95 to the east, and E. Canal Street to the south. A portion 

of this Enterprise Zone is in Henrico County and is overseen by the County.  

WHEREAS, the City, in accordance with its Enterprise Zone designations, offers 

local incentives that address the economic conditions within the city and that help stimulate 

real property improvements and new job creation.  

WHEREAS, the City has, from time to time, appropriated funds for incentives; 

WHEREAS, the Enterprise Zone Program operated in the City’s Fiscal Year 2024 

with the use of previously and properly appropriated funds; 

WHEREAS, the City appropriated to the City’s Department of Economic 

Development $400,000.00 in Fiscal Year 2025 for the Program; 

WHEREAS, at the City's request, the Authority has undertaken certain grant and 

rebate activities to encourage job creation, private investment, and commercial 

development in the City; 

WHEREAS, the City and the Authority agree to work together to jointly implement 

the Enterprise Zone Program; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the benefits to accrue to the City and its 

citizens from the implementation of the Program, and of the mutual covenants hereinafter 

set forth, the City and the Authority agree as follows: 

 1. DEFINITIONS. The following words and terms used in this Agreement have 

the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

a) Agreement shall mean this Enterprise Zone Program Cooperation Agreement, as 

amended and restated, from time to time. 



 3 

b) Applicant shall mean the commercial entity that is applying for the Enterprise 

Zone Program.  

c) Covered Period shall mean the 12-month period after a New Job has been 

created and occupied in the City. 

d) Enterprise Zones shall mean those areas in the City that are designated as 

Enterprise Zones by the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

e) Enterprise Zone Program or Program shall mean the local incentives described 

herein which satisfy the conditions and requirements of this Agreement. 

f) New Job shall mean a permanent, full-time position with at least 35 hours of work 

each week, that pays at least 1.5 time the minimum wage required by the 

Commonwealth and provides annual leave benefits. 

g) Program Fund shall mean that account established in accordance with this 

Agreement and that contains all funds from any source related to the Enterprise 

Zone Program. 

h) Specialized Equipment shall mean machinery and equipment which is necessary 

for a business to provide its unique services or produce its unique goods. Standard 

office equipment and software are not considered specialized equipment.  

2.  FUNDING. Any expenditures of properly appropriated money, prior to the 

execution of this Cooperation Agreement and pursuant to the Enterprise Zone program 

in FY25 are ratified hereby.  

3.  ENTERPRISE ZONE PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS. Enterprise Zone 

Program incentives shall be available only to the extent that funding is available. 

Enterprise Zone Applicants must meet the following Enterprise Zone Program 



 4 

requirements and meet the individual program requirements in accordance with Sections 

4 – 9.  

A. Applicants must be located in a commercial or industrial property in an 

Enterprise Zone, this includes commercial space located within a mixed-

use property. If the  property involves a change of use, , after construction 

or rehabilitation is complete, the property must include commercial space 

B. Applicants must be current on all taxes, licenses, and fees owed to the City, 

or have a formal payment plan established with the City and be current on 

all payments . 

C. Applicants must submit all required applications and documentation. 

Incomplete applications will not be processed and must be submitted again. 

D. Applications must be signed by the business owner, or the business owner’s 

designee employed within the business. Applications by third parties not 

directly employed by the Applicant will not be accepted;  

E. Applicants must provide invoices and proof of payment documentation; 

F. All work $1,000 and above in value must be carried out by a licensed Class 

A, B, or C Contractor; and 

G. Applicants must submit evidence of payments for all goods and services 

$1,000 and above in value by canceled check, cashier’s check, debit or 

credit card receipts. If Applicant pays cash for work below $1,000 in value, 

the invoice must be signed and notarized by both the Applicant and the 

vendor. Payments over $1,000 in cash will not be accepted. 

4. BROWNFIELDS ENTERPRISE ZONE REBATE. The Brownfields 

Enterprise Zone Rebate provides a reimbursement grant up to $3,500 for costs of Phase 



 5 

I Environmental Site Assessments and up to $7,500 for Phase II Environmental Site 

Assessments. To be eligible: 

A. The Applicant must own or have a binding contract to purchase property 

located in an Enterprise Zone and be undertaking the site assessment as 

part of the purchase or redevelopment of the property.  

B. The site assessment must meet the standards set by the Environmental 

Protection Agency. 

C. The application must be submitted within twelve (12) months of the date of 

the assessment completion.  

D. The Applicant must not have received a previous Brownfields Enterprise 

Zone Rebate grant.  

E. This is a one-time incentive. 

5. BUSINESS RELOCATION REBATE.  The Business Relocation Rebate 

program is a reimbursement grant of up to $10,000 covering 50% of the company cost of 

relocating a company to an Enterprise Zone.  

A. Allowable moving expenditures include costs incurred during the physical 

move of a company, such as moving company fees, van rentals, and 

separate wages paid to employees for assistance with the move. 

B. Costs incurred by the company to relocate employees are ineligible.  

C. Application must be submitted within twelve (12) months of the move-in 

date. 

D. This is a one-time incentive. 



 6 

6. MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT REBATE. The Machinery and Equipment 

Rebate program provides a reimbursement grant equal to 50% of the costs incurred to 

purchase Specialized Equipment.  

A. Specialized Equipment may be new or used but must be newly acquired by 

the Applicant. 

B. A company may qualify for up to $5,000 in a 12-month period. 

C. The application must be submitted within twelve (12) months of the date of 

purchase of the Specialized Equipment. 

7. EMPLOYMENT ASSISTANCE GRANT.  The Employment Assistance 

Grant program provides grants to businesses located within an Enterprise Zone that 

create New Jobs by providing a grant equal to the equivalent to $400 per New Job.  

A. Maximum award is $7,200 over a 24-month period.  

B. An Applicant cannot apply for the Employment Assistance Grant and the 

state level Enterprise Zone Job Creation Grant program administrated by 

the Commonwealth.  

C. Application must be submitted within 12 months of the completion of the 

Covered Period. 

D. The City’s Department of Economic Development will provide a position 

worksheet for the purpose of identifying the number of New Jobs.  

8.  LOAN FEE REBATE. The Loan Fee Rebate program provides a 

reimbursement grant of up to $1,000 for authorized loan fees associated with the 

purchase of real property located in an Enterprise Zone. 



 7 

A. Eligible fees include those associated with origination, loan processing, 

filing fees, administrative fees, guaranties, recording fees, application fees 

and settlement costs. 

B. Ineligible fees include, but are not limited to, survey costs and fees 

associated with legal, accounting, appraisal, brokerage, and other 

professional activities. 

C. Applicant must provide a signed settlement statement itemizing the various 

loan fees. 

D. Applicant must provide a copy of a contract to purchase the property or 

property deed. 

E. Application must be filed within twelve (12) months of the date of loan 

closing. 

F. This is a one-time incentive. 

9.  DEVELOPMENT FEE REBATE. The Development Fee Rebate program 

provides a reimbursement grant of up to $3,000 for permit fees associated with the 

renovation or construction of commercial and industrial facilities located in an 

Enterprise Zone. 

A. A minimum investment of $20,000 during the 12 months prior to application 

is required. If the property is mixed-use and has residential components, 

only investments associated with the rehabilitation and construction of the 

commercial portion of the structure are eligible to meet the minimum 

investment criteria.  

B. Eligible fees include building, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and elevator 

permit fees. 



 8 

C. Ineligible fees include but are not limited to, fees associated with 

administrative handling, surcharges, plan review, state levy fees and taxes. 

D. If the property is mixed-use, permit fees must be associated with only the 

commercial portion of the property. In cases when this is not practicable 

(i.e., a permit is associated with the whole building), the total eligible permit 

fees will be prorated by the percent of the mixed-use property that is 

commercial.  

E. Application must be submitted within twelve (12) months of the issuance of 

the Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Zoning Compliance, whichever 

is applicable. 

F. This is a one-time incentive. 

10. APPLICATION REVIEW AND AWARD DISBURSEMENTS. The City’s 

Department of Economic Development staff shall review Enterprise Zone Program 

applications to determine award amounts based on the criteria set forth in this 

Agreement. Funds will then be distributed through the Authority to the Applicant. 

11. AUTHORITY RECORDS. The Authority shall keep a record of all Enterprise 

Zone Program awardees including the names and award amounts. The City shall 

monitor the Authority records, and the Chief Administrative Officer and the City 

Attorney, and their designees shall have access to such records during normal 

business hours upon reasonable notice.  The City Auditor, pursuant to City Code 

Section 2-187, as same may be amended from time to time, shall have access to any 

and all records on demand and without notice. 

12. INFORMATION SHARING. The Authority agrees to provide the Chief 

Administrative Office or a designee thereof with copies of all correspondence relating 



 9 

to its activities to be performed under this Agreement and will keep the Chief 

Administrative Officer or a designee thereof fully and timely informed of all material 

developments relating to the Program. For purposes of this Agreement, the City’s 

Director of Economic Development is the designee of the City’s Chief Administrative 

Officer. 

13. BUDGET AND AUTHORITY EXPENSES. The budget shall contain 

existing appropriations, any unencumbered amounts within the Program Fund and 

anticipated revenues from activities undertaken for the current Fiscal Year. The Fiscal 

Year 2025 appropriation will be transferred to the Authority no sooner than July 1, 2024. 

The Authority is authorized to use an amount not to exceed $32,000.00 to cover the 

Authority’s direct expenses in administering this Agreement. 

14. GENERAL PROJECT FUND. The Authority agrees that funds transferred 

by the City to the Authority from time to time for the Program shall be deposited by the 

Authority in a designated Program Fund to be used only in accordance with this 

Agreement. The Authority agrees to transfer to the Program Fund any funds received 

from any source as a result of this Program, including, but not limited, income and 

interest earned against the Program Fund. 

15. AUTHORITY LIABILITY. It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon 

the Authority any responsibility other than what may be required to implement the Plan 

under this Agreement. Accordingly, the Authority does not assume any responsibility 

or liability whatsoever except as specifically stated herein. Should any liability accrue 

to the Authority which is not specifically addressed in this Agreement, the Authority 

shall not be required to expend its funds derived from sources other than the Program 

Fund to discharge such liability. The Authority is hereby authorized to expend such 



 10 

funds from the Program Fund as may be necessary to protect the assets of the 

Authority and to prevent the entry of a default judgment against the Authority. If a 

lawsuit involving the Program is filed or expected to be filed against the Authority, the 

Authority shall immediately notify the City Attorney and Chief Administrative Officer. 

The parties acknowledge that the Authority has no general fund revenue and that each 

Program the Authority undertakes is subject to such program's own independent 

financial resources and limitations. 

16. ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT. The Authority shall keep records of its 

financial transactions, if any, for the projects described herein in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles. The City and the Authority agree that the 

Authority may engage the services of an independent auditor to conduct an annual 

audit of the financial transactions, if any, undertaken for the projects described herein. 

Such audit shall comply in all respects with generally accepted accounting principles. 

The City Auditor shall have access to the independent auditor's work papers. In 

addition, the City Auditor or his designee may at any time audit the financial 

transactions undertaken under this Agreement. The Authority shall cooperate to assure 

that the independent external auditor and the City Auditor are granted access to all 

books and records of any party necessary to complete such audits and will require 

appropriate provisions in furtherance of this objective in any contracts required under 

this Agreement.  The Authority shall provide an annual audited report on the Program 

Fund within three months after the end of its fiscal year. Failure to provide an annual 

audited report shall be considered a material breach of this Agreement and provide 

cause for termination of the Agreement. 



 11 

 17.  AUTHORITY CONTRACTS. The Authority may, within the approved 

budget, contract without the City's prior approval for services deemed by the Authority to 

be necessary to undertake and carry out its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

 18.  NO DISCRIMINATION. The City and the Authority agree not to 

discriminate, in carrying out this Agreement, against any employee or applicant because 

of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, pregnancy, childbirth or related medical 

conditions, age, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, or military 

status.  

 12.  AUTHORITY BOND. The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City 

a blanket corporate fidelity bond surety covering all officers and employees of the 

Authority capable of authorizing disbursements of funds or handling funds received or 

disbursed by the Authority from the City or any other party involved in any activities 

undertaken pursuant to this Agreement. 

 13.  GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and the performance thereof shall be 

governed, interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of laws rules or provisions, 

whether of the Commonwealth of Virginia or any other jurisdiction, that would cause the 

application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia. 

 14.  NOTICES. Any notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be 

sufficient if in writing and delivered personally, by messenger, by recognized overnight 

courier service or sent by first class, registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; 

if to the Authority, to its Chairman at 1500 East Main Street, Suite 400,  Richmond, Virginia 

23219 or if to the City, to its Chief Administrative Officer at City Hall, 900 East Broad 



 12 

Street, 14th Floor, Richmond, Virginia 23219 with a copy to the City Attorney, 900 East 

Broad Street, Suite 400, Richmond, Virginia 23219. Either party may change its address 

for purposes of notice by giving notice to the other in accordance with this paragraph. 

 15.  NO ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure 

to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto; provided, 

however, that in no event may this Agreement or any of the rights, benefits, duties or 

obligations of the parties hereto be assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of without 

the prior written consent of the other, which consent neither party shall be obligated to 

give. 

16.  NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Agreement, the City and the Authority hereby agree that: (i) no individual or entity shall 

be considered, deemed or otherwise recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this 

Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to be for the benefit of 

any individual or entity other than the City and the Authority; (iii) no individual or entity 

shall obtain any right to make any claim against the City or the Authority under the 

provisions of this Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed 

or interpreted to confer third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity.  For 

purposes of this section, the phrase “individual or entity” means any individual or entity, 

including, but not limited to, individuals, tenants, subtenants, contractors, subcontractors, 

vendors, sub-vendors, assignees, licensors and sub-licensors, regardless of whether 

such individual or entity is named in this Agreement. 

17.  TERMINATION.  Either party may terminate this Agreement with or without 

cause at any time upon reasonable written notice. Upon termination, the Authority shall 



 13 

transfer to the City all assets held under this Agreement, including receivables, and shall 

cooperate in transferring any such assets to the City. 

18.   SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATIONS.  All payments and other performances 

by the City and the Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, 

Authority Board approval and annual appropriations by the City Council.  It is understood 

and agreed among the parties that the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder 

only to the extent of the funds are available or which may hereafter become available for 

the purpose of this Agreement.  Under no circumstances shall the City’s or the Authority’s 

total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of funds appropriated by the 

City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this Agreement.  

Witness the following signatures and seals: 
 
      CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,  
      A municipal corporation of the Commonwealth  
                of Virginia, 
 
       By: ________________________ 
       J. E. Lincoln Saunders,                   
       Chief Administrative Officer 
 
      Date: ________________________  

 

 

Approved as to Form: 

  
_________________________ 

Deputy City Attorney    
 
 
 
 

           ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
           OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,  
           A Political Subdivision of the Commonwealth of 

  Virginia 
 

       By:       ________________________ 



 14 

                 John S. Molster,  
      Chairman  

 

                       Date:    ______________________ 
 
 
 
  



 15 

 
 
Exhibit A 
 
 
City of Richmond Enterprise Zones (2023)  
 

 
Zone 28A is yellow 
Zone 19 is blue 
 



Temporary Designation of Authority 


	1 - 2024.09.24 - EDA Special Called Meeting Disclosure
	2 - Divider - EDA Board Agenda
	3 - EDA Board Special Meeting Sept. 23 2024 Agenda
	4 - Divider - August Special Called Meeting Minutes
	5 - Board Meeting Minutes Special Called Meeting 8.14.2024
	Economic Development Authority (EDA) of the City of Richmond, Virginia Special Called Board Meeting - VIRTUAL
	Members present:
	John Molster, Chair
	Nupa Agarwal, Vice-Chairperson
	Jer’Mykeal McCoy
	Jéron Crooks
	Others present:
	Sharon Ebert – City of Richmond, Deputy Chief Administrative Officer
	Matthew Welch –  Department of Economic Development
	Merrick Malone –  Department of Housing and Community Development
	Bonnie Ashley- City of Richmond, City Attorney’s Office
	Call to Order:
	Public Comment:
	No public comments were received via email, phone, or otherwise by staff per Ms. McConnell. Mr. Welch read the public disclaimer.
	Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting:
	Adjournment

	6 - Divider - Affordable Housing Performance Grants
	7.1 - Ord. No. 2024-207
	7.2 - Ord. No. 2024-230
	WD - Agmt - New Manchester Flats - AATF
	O&R (2024-0776)  Grant Agmt 1021 E 4th St - MYR

	7.3 - Ord. No. 2024-231
	WD - Agmt - St. Elizabeth Apartments
	O&R (2024-1015) Grant Agmt 1031 Fourqurean Ln - MYR
	Admin-2024-1015 Saint Elizabeth Apartments - Grant Agreement - AATF and signedmbp.pdf
	RECITALS
	Section 1. Preliminary Provisions
	Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations
	. 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline.
	2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.
	2.4 MBE Participation.
	2.5 Affordable Housing.
	2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements
	Section 3. Disbursement of Grant.
	Section 4. General Administration of Grant
	Section 5. Representations of the Recipient
	Section 6. Default.
	Section 7. Recipient Reporting.
	Section 8. Notices.
	Section 9. General Terms and Conditions.
	9.6 Public Disclosure.
	SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW
	CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,
	EXHIBIT A



	7.4 - Ord. No. 2024-232
	WD Ordinance - Bellevue Gardens - AATF
	O&R (2024-1006) Per Grant Bellevue Gardens - MYR
	Admin. 2024-1006 Bellevue Gardens - Grant Agreement - Attachment A AATFmbp.pdf
	RECITALS
	Section 1. Preliminary Provisions
	Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations
	2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline.
	2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.
	2.4 MBE Participation.
	2.5 Affordable Housing.
	2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements
	Section 3. Disbursement of Grant.
	Section 4. General Administration of Grant
	Section 5. Representations of the Recipient
	Section 6. Default.
	Section 7. Recipient Reporting.
	Section 8. Notices.
	Section 9. General Terms and Conditions.
	9.1  Entire Agreement; Amendments; Assignments. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, and subject to the prior written cons...
	9.5 Public Disclosure.
	SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW
	CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,



	7.5 - Ord. No. 2024-233
	WD- Agmt - Performance Grant 1203 Brookland Park Blvd
	O&R (2024-0815)  Grant Agmt 1203 E Brookland Park Blvd - MYR

	7.6 - Ord. No. 2024-234
	WD Ordinance 6951 Carnation St - AATF
	O&R (2024-0997) Grant Agmt 6951 W Carnation St - MYR

	7.7 - Ord. No. 2024-235
	WD - Agmt - 250 E. German School Rd. AATF.pdf
	O&R (2024-1016) 250 E German School Rd - MYR.pdf
	Admin-2024-1016 250 E. German School Road - Grant Agreement- AATF and signedmbp.pdf
	RECITALS
	Section 1. Preliminary Provisions
	Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations
	2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline.
	2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.
	2.4 MBE Participation.
	2.5 Affordable Housing.
	2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements
	Section 3. Disbursement of Grant.
	Section 4. General Administration of Grant
	Section 5. Representations of the Recipient
	Section 6. Default.
	Section 7. Recipient Reporting.
	Section 8. Notices.
	Section 9. General Terms and Conditions.
	9.6 Public Disclosure.
	SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW
	CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,
	EXHIBIT A



	7.8 - Ord. No. 2024-236
	WD Ordinance - Lynhaven Ridge 2510 Lynhaven Ave
	O&R (2024-1005) Grant Agmt 2510 Lynhaven Ave - MYR
	Admin-2024-1005 Lynhaven Ridge Grant Agreement - Attachment A aatf mbp.pdf
	RECITALS
	Section 1. Preliminary Provisions
	Section 2. Recipient’s Obligations
	. 2.2 Completion of Project Construction; Timeline.
	2.3 Continued Maintenance and Operation of Project.
	2.4 MBE Participation.
	2.5 Affordable Housing.
	2.6 Continued Investment and Capital Improvements
	Section 3. Disbursement of Grant.
	Section 4. General Administration of Grant
	Section 5. Representations of the Recipient
	Section 6. Default.
	Section 7. Recipient Reporting.
	Section 8. Notices.
	Section 9. General Terms and Conditions.
	9.6 Public Disclosure.
	SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW
	CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA,
	EXHIBIT A



	8 - Divider - EDA July Financial Report
	9 - EDA July Financial Report
	10 - Divider - EDA August Financial Report
	11 - EDA August Financial Report
	12 - Divider - FY24 Audit
	13.1 - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond DRAFS FS FY24
	13.2 - Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond DRAFS SAS FY24
	14 - Divider - CARE Program Cooperation Agreement
	15 - Ord. No. 2024-229
	[http][UUXV2MFS0DU3PK][][v][WD-Twenty-Seventh CARE Coop Ag] (1)
	O&R (2024-0771) Agmt - Twenty-Seventh

	16 - Divider - Enterprise Zone Program Cooperation Agreement
	17 - Ord. No. 2024-238
	18 - Divider - Temporary Designation of Authority



